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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TUESDAY, January 10, 1967.
(68)

The Standing Committee on Finance, Trade and Economic Affairs met at
11:05 a.m. this day, the Chairman, Mr. Gray, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands),
Clermont, Comtois, Flemming, Gilbert, Gray, Laflamme, Lambert, Lind, McLean
(Charlotte), More (Regina City)—(11)

In attendance: Mr. Joseph Pope, Pope and Company, Toronto; Mr. Denis
Baribeau and Miss M. R. Prentis, research assistants.

The Chairman presented the Eighth Report of the Sub-Committee on
Agenda and Procedure dated December 21, 1966, which is as follows:
Your Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure met at 1:00 p.m. this
day and has agreed to recommend as follows:

(a) That the undermentioned be invited to present their briefs to the

Committee on the dates shown:

January 10—R. G. D. Lafferty, Montreal; Joseph Pope, Toronto;
Terry Howes, Erindale, Ont.

January 12—Frank O’Hearn, Scarborough; Melvin A. Rowat,
Elmvale, Ont.; Harry H. Hallatt, Scarborough.

January 17—Canadian Federation of Agriculture CUNA Inter-
national Inc.

January 19—Mercantile Bank of Canada

(b) That your Sub-Committee consider at a later date the timing of the
hearing for Bill S-25, An Act to incorporate The North West Life
Assurance Company of Canada, which has been referred to the
Committee.

The Chairman reported that it has since been learned that the Mercantile
Bank of Canada will be unable to appear on January 19th, but they have agreed
to appear on January 24th, and he therefore suggested that a motion to approve
the report of the Sub-Committee should include the appropriate amendment
regarding the date of appearance of the Mercantile Bank.

On motion of Mr. Clermont, seconded by Mr. Lambert, the Report of the
Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure was approved, as amended.

The Committee resumed consideration of the banking legislation.

The Chairman introduced the witness, Mr. Pope, who read his brief and was

questioned. In accordance with the resolution passed at the meeting of October
13, 1966, Mr. Pope’s brief is attached as Appendix CC.
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The questioning having been concluded, the Chairman thanked the witness
who was permitted to retire.

At 1:00 p.m. the Committee adjourned until 3:45 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(69)

The Committee resumed at 3:50 p.m. this day, the Chairman, Mr. Gray,
presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Addison, Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The
Islands), Clermont, Comtois, Flemming, Gilbert, Gray, Laflamme, Lambert,
Lind, McLean (Charlotte), More (Regina City)—(12)

In attendance: Mr. R. G. D. Lafferty, Lafferty, Harwood and Company,
Montreal; Mr. Baribeau and Miss Prentis.

The Chairman introduced the witness, Mr. Lafferty, who summarized his
brief and was questioned. In accordance with the resolution passed at the
meeting of October 13, 1966, the brief is attached as Appendix DD.

The questioning continuing, at 5:50 p.m. the Committee adjourned until
8:00 p.m. this day.

EVENING SITTING
(70)

The Committee resumed at 8:10 p.m., the Chairman, Mr. Gray, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands),
Clermont, Comtois, Fulton, Gilbert, Gray, Laflamme, Lambert, Lind, McLean
(Charlotte), More (Regina City), Wahn—(12)

In attendance: The same as at the afternoon sitting and Mr. Terry Howes,
Erindale, Ontario.

Questioning of Mr. Lafferty was continued and concluded. The Chairman
thanked the witness who was then permitted to retire.

Mr. Howes was called and questioned. In accordance with the resolution
passed at the meeting of October 13, 1966, Mr. Howes’ brief is attached as
Appendix EE.

The questioning having been concluded, the Chairman thanked the witness
who was permitted to retire.

At 10:35 p.m. the Committee adjourned until Thursday, January 12, 1967.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.



EVIDENCE
(Recorded by Electronic Apparatus)

TUESDAY, January 10, 1967.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we are now in a position to begin our meeting. It
will be basically for the purpose of taking evidence. Our witness this morning is
Mr. Joseph Pope, proprietor of Pope and Company, which is a member of the
Montreal Stock Exchange, the Investment Dealers Association of Canada, and I
gather also an associate member of the Boston Stock Exchange and the Phila-
delphia-Baltimore-Washington Stock Exchanges. Prior to forming his own firm,
Mr. Pope spent a number of years with one of the chartered banks and with a
major investment firm. Since Mr. Pope’s brief is actually brief, rather than
attempt to have him summarize it, I am going to ask him to read it to us and
then we will enter into our discussion.

Mr. JosEpH PoOPE (Pope & Company, Toronto): Mr. Chairman and hon.
gentlemen, A section of the Bank Act that has received little or no public
discussion and yet is far reaching in its effect is section 157. I refer to the new
draft. This section was first introduced in the revision that took place in the
1930s. On the face of it, the section would appear to have been inserted merely to
forbid an improper use of the word “bank” by unsound institutions wishing to
take advantage of the gullibility of the public. In practice, it has brought about
greater evils in that by forbidding the use of the words “bank”, ‘“banker”; or
“banking” by those who are not incorporated under the terms of the Bank Act, it
has effectively made it impossible for even those foreign banks of the highest
repute to offer their services to the Canadian public.

The point that this memorandum wishes to emphasize is that i1§ i§ not
generally realized that the results of this section 157 have been, unwittingly,
quite disastrous.

Firstly: By using the word “bank” in this manner, Parliament has in effect

changed the normal meaning of the word as commonly used in the English

language; as an unfortunate legal implication is that any institution carrying on

business in Canada and performing banking functions, but not chartered under

the Bank Act, is beyond the control of the federal Parliament. This, of course, is

guite contrary to the thought of those who drafted the British North America
ct.

Secondly: As the international banks are, as a consequence of this section,
forbidden to open branches in either Montreal or Toronto, our public suffers
from a considerable limitation in the banking facilities that are offered to it. This
is not necessarily a criticism of the facilities offered by our own chartered bank's.
As we all know, these rank amongst the soundest in the world. The point is,
though, that while they are excellent in their chosen fields—and by that I refer
to normal commercial banking and savings banking—they are somewhat pre-
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vincial in their approach to international banking. Parliament should not put
itself in the position of depriving the public of the more sophisticated banking
services that are available in foreign financial centres.

Thirdly: Section 157 actually reduces Canada, in matters of international finance,
to the status of a third-rate power. It is no exaggeration to say that, financially
speaking, the influence of the Canadian dollar abroad is practically nil.

Fourthly: The Canadian dollar, because of this section 157, is merely a local
currency rather than an international currency.

Fifthly: Properly speaking, there is no foreign exchange market in Montreal or
Toronto worthy of the name. One grants that the foreign exchange trading
departments of the various chartered banks are quite adept at making quotations
in American dollars, yet the fact remains that any quotation in Canadian dollars
for any other foreign currency is merely a reflection of the New York market.

Sixthly: It is again no exaggeration to say that this section has been responsible
over the years for the loss by our exporters and manufacturers of a great deal of
business. Manufacturers can well have excellent products for sale, but lacking
complete financial advice regarding foreign exchange and foreign credit, they are
unable to compete with those who have more financial expertise at their disposal.

It is sheer emotional chauvinism to believe that foreign banks are anxious to
come into this country to prey on the savings of our widows and orphans. The
finest financial centre in the world is London. In that city there are nearly two
hundred branches of foreign banks. Of course about a dozen of them are our own
Canadian banks. The requirements for the starting of a branch of a foreign bank
in London are quite simple. It is merely required that it be licensed by the
London Board of Trade, and on its letterhead state the country and year of its
incorporation. Contrary to the fears of our chartered banks, a branch of a foreign
bank does not deprive local banks of business, but rather brings new business to
the financial community. Mr. Chairman, I would like at this time to suggest that
my next paragraph on subsection G be removed because it concerns a matter
upon which you have had testimony from far more expert witnesses than myself.
So, if you like I will just take out that paragraph.

The CHAIRMAN: Well you are as much entitled to present your views on this
topic as any other citizen who has indicated a desire to appear before us.

Mr. Pope: Well, I have made a reservation which you have noted.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, we have noted it.

Mr. PopE: You have noted it gentlemen. By the same token, sub-section “G”
of section 75 of Bill C-222 must be considered iniquitous. It is perfectly proper
for Parliament to pass legislation seeing to it that foreign guests behave as good
citizens. It is another matter entirely though to propose legislation aimed at
causing needless harm to a particular well-behaved foreign guest.

The restrictions imposed on ownership of bank shares by the new section 53
are to be deplored. Sub-section 2 of section 53, which limits the shares of a
chartered bank that may be held by one group to 10 per cent merely serves to
perpetuate control by management rather than control by the owners, which is

the more proper thing.
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Much of the newspaper discussion regarding the revision of the Bank Act
has been on the matter of whether or not a limit should exist on the rate of
interest that chartered banks may ask for .in granting loans. Most of the argu-
ments in favour of retention of the rate ceiling tend to be emotional rather than
rational. There are no sound grounds for believing that the chartered banks
would take advantage of this new freedom, were it granted to them, by charging
rates that could be considered improper. At the present time, the limit is quite
unrealistic and produces unhealthy results.

All of which is respectfully submitted,

The CrAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. Pope. Before going on, the committee will
have to deal with a procedural matter. We are now officially constituted. I should
bring to your attention the report of the steering committee of Wednesday,
December 21, as follows: (See Minutes of Proceedings)

I should point out to the Committee that our Clerk, Miss Ballantine, after
looking into this matter appended this note:

All the above have confirmed that they will appear on the dates
mentioned, except the Mercantile Bank of Canada, who will not be able
to appear until January 24th.

I would suggest to the committee that we have a formal motion to approve the
report with the amendment that the Mercantile Bank will appear on the 24th
rather than the 19th. Also, I would suggest hopefully that our Clerk might
inquire if the group of junior trust companies might be available on that date.
Of course I realise this may be a little too soon, but perhaps we may consider
having them on that date if other factors, including the deposit insurance
resolution, seem to make it convenient. I just suggest this from the point of view
of using our time to the best advantage. Could I have a motion of this kind so
that we can proceed properly with any discussion on this report.

(Translation)

Mr. CLERMONT: I so move.

Mr. LAMBERT: I second the motion.
(English)

The CHAIRMAN: Is there any discussion?

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Have we had an answer
from the Mercantile Bank on the J anuary 24th date?

The CHAIRMAN: Oh yes. We originally suggested the 19th. However, some of
the people we would want to hear from were not available on the 19th; they
themselves apparently suggested the 24th, and this fits into our order of business.
I_ would suggest to the Committee that this might therefore be an appropriate
time to hear from this group. Is there any further discussion? If not, are all in
favour of the report as modified?

Some hon. MEMBERS: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

Mr. LamBeRT: I have a question arising out of that. Have you been able to
ascertain when the Minister of Finance will be available?
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The CHAIRMAN: I have not pursued the matter since we adjourned for
Christmas.

Mr. LaMBERT: I want to come back to the original charge, that a lot of the
consideration that we have been given so far is quite academic. The Government
is proposing certain changes and we have had no reasoning by the government.
It has been quite impossible and quite improper to try to get anything from Mr.
Elderkin in connection with, shall we say, the motivation in respect of a number
of these changes, which has made a lot of the discussion with the Canadian
Bankers Association and others quite frustrating and sometimes futile. The
sooner he gets here and puts his case forward the better.

The CHAIRMAN: As you may recall, the approach the committee generally
felt was satisfactory was to hear witnesses who had views to express and then
have the minister with us for a lengthy period so that questioning of the minister
could proceed in the light of the thoughts brought forward by people outside
government circles. Anyway, we appear to be almost done with our witnesses
However, I will pursue that aspect further because I think there is no question
that we are getting to the stage when the Minister of Finance could make a very
useful contribution to our work, and I think we should in any event have the
steering committee meeting early next week to come to some definite decision on
that point.

May I suggest to the committee that it appears to me that Mr. Pope’s brief
falls into four sections: his views on the implications of section 157, up to and
including the end of the second paragraph on page 2; then there are his remarks
on section 75, although, perhaps in fairness to Mr. Pope if he feels that his own
expertise does not extend particularly in that direction, you may not wish to
discuss this paragraph with him in detail; then his views on subsection 2 of
section 53; and finally his views on the interest rate. I would suggest to the
committee that we discuss Mr. Pope’s brief with him in that order, following
which we should have time to raise any other points on which we feel he may
have some contribution to make. The first name I have on my list is Mr.
Laflamme, followed by Dr. McLean and then Mr. Cameron.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Mr. Chairman, I would just like to know if Mr. Pope was
referring to the proposed article 157 in the proposed bill.

(Translation)
Mr. PopE: Yes, it is in Bill C-222, sir. It could be found in all bills since 1933,
as you know.

Mr. LarLAMME: I understand, but I would like to know, from the legal point
of view, what can eventually be the effect which would be so disastrous with
regard to this proposal? What is so wrong about using the word “bank” without
providing a definition of that word?

Mr. PopE: But, sir, that is just what is disastrous.

Mr. LarLaMME: But since there are no legal consequences, what exactly is
the nature of that disaster?

Mr. PopE: I see. I was trying to give some broad explanation of the six
points, so to speak. The first is that the inclusion of that clause 157 in the Bill

-
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does provide a near-definition of the word “bank”. This means that a bank is any
institution incorporated under the Bank Act.

This means that nothing else is banking and this is ridiculous. This means
that, according to the British North America Act, all banking activities fall under
the control of the federal government. But under this clause 157, you limit your
control to chartered banks. Trust companies, all sorts of companies that are
actually banks, and accept deposits from the public and withdrawals of deposllts
and cash cheques on demand, are banks in the true sense of the word, in English
and in French, but a judge or a lawyer could say: “These are not banks”,
referring to this clause 157. So you are removing from your control the gre'afcer
portion of banking operations in the country and you are denying the British
North America Act.

Mr. LAFLAMME: You consider that article 157 as it is drawn up, reduces,
restricts the meaning of the word “bank”?

Mr. PopE: It changes the sense of the word. There is a sense to this word, a
definition to this word in the dictionary:

Mr. LAFLAMME: There is no definition in the Act, even.

Mr. Pope: The words are tricky. Any person who uses the words “banking,
or banking operations” who carries on such operations, but dogs pot ha}ve a
charter is actually against the law. So this means that anyone who is in business,
and doing banking business can say “I am not a banker because I do not come
under the Bank Act, I was incorporated under the chartered loan corporations in
the country—
(English)

Mr. LAFLAMME: —trust and loans Corporations of Ontario.
(Translation)

Mr. PopE: Therefore I am not in the banking business.

Mr. LarnamMe: Well what would be your suggestion?

Mr. PopE: My suggestion would be that we would do away with this clause.
Do you agree with this. This was put in the law in 1930 at a time when all—
(English)

—investment bankers had their tails between their legs because of the de-
pression and the thing has stuck in there ever since. It has had a very evil effect

which people do not realize.

Mr. LaAFLAMME: Thank you very much.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Pope, would you take 157 right out of the
Bank Act?

Mr. PopE: Yes, sir.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): Was that not put in, in the first place, because
they were designated as bankers and issued their own currency?

Mr. Popk: If you are asking me the question, sir, that is nqt my unders'gand-
ing. My understanding, sir, is that the Bank Act has been in existence practically
as long as this country has been in existence. It was enacted shortly after 1867
and this clause was only put in about 1930, sir.
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Mr. McLeEaN (Charlotte): Yes, but was it not put in because they were
designated and set apart as bankers and as such they issued their own currency.

Mr. PorE: By a coincidence, sir, it was about the time this section first went
in that the banks had their note issuing—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): How would you tell a banker from anybody else if
the banks were issuing their currency and the other people were not issuing any
currency? Are you not a banker today because of your relations with the central
bank and other things?

Mr. PopE: Perhaps that is the definition of the word “bank”, that legislation
has forced on us in this country, but it is my submission that banking could be
defined in more simple terms that that. One who accepts deposits or who holds
himself open to accept deposits payable on demand and, if you like, offers a
chequing facility, is a banker.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Would you not come in conflict with the provinces
then? Would the federal government not come in conflict with the provinces?

Mr. Popke: No, sir.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It would not?

Mr. Pore: Not in my opinion, sir. I am not a lawyer but since you have
raised the point, sir, I would suggest that if a provincial government chartered
what they call the trust companies and now these trust companies receive
deposits, fine; it is within the jurisdiction of a provincial government to create
incorporations with set purposes, but the federal government has authority over
banking and if it finds a provincial creature engaged in banking, it may control it
under the B.N.A. Act.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Would it do that down in Quebec?
Mr. PopE: Absolutely.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): You come, thirdly, to the section which actually
reduces Canada in matters of international finance and the influence of the
Canadian dollar abroad is practically nil. Is the American dollar practically nil
abroad at the present time?

Mr. PopE: The American dollar and the pound sterling are the two mediums
of exchange in international transactions.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Why are they?

Mr. PorE: First, because they have acceptance on the part of other coun-
tries; by that I mean that smaller countries are prepared to hold sterling or
United States dollars as part of their official reserve rather than gold or in
addition to gold.

Second, both New York and London offer very professional banking facili-
ties—loan facilities, discount facilities, deposit facilities—which make it a great
convenience to use those currencies. As a consequence, it follows that much
international trading, exporting and importing, is done on prices based on either
pounds sterling or United States dollars.

Now, where this affects us is that we do not buy abroad with Canadian
dollars; we do not sell abroad with Canadian dollars; we tend to quote in the

. N
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currencies of other countries. Why? Because our dollar is not used abroad; it is
not recognized abroad. If there were foreign banks in Montreal or Toronto, a
Brussels’ importer wishing to deal directly with Canada to obtain Canadian
dollars would find it much easier. At present he merely buys American dollars
and has the transaction finalized in New York.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The companies I have been associated with prac-
tically all my life are dealing with 62 countries at the present time. We sell
abroad in Canadian dollars; we also sell abroad in American dollars, and I
cannot see that clause 157 makes any difference to us. The reason that the
American dollar and the pound sterling are reserve currencies is that they were
established by the International Monetary Fund as reserve currencies. One
reason that I think France complains all the time is that the franc is not a reserve
currency. In my early days London was the settling point, not New York; but as
a result of two wars it came to New York, which will remain a settling point. It
is only because they have now got their dollar in trouble that they have
guidelines. I do not think the American dollar is any better than the Canadian
dollar at the present time, when it comes to dealings outside.

Mr. PoPk: It was not suggested it was, sir.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It has really become a domestic dollar. I do not see
how clause 157 is going to affect the dollar.

Mr. PorE: I suggested this as a secondary effect. It is an insidious little thing.
It does not say that foreign banks may not open foreign branches. It says nobody
may use the word “bank”. Fine, so the Bank of Brussels cannot open a branch in
Montreal because it runs afoul of this clause which deals with it.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): How can the Bank of Brussels open a branch in
Montreal and be controlled by the central bank?

Mr. PorE: Any guest in this country may be controlled. Parliament is
Supreme, sir.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Then we would have to pass different legislation
to make provision for it. We would have to change our central banking system.

Mr. PopE: I am a simple person, sir. I do not see that if the Bank of Brussels
or a bank of such repute chose to open a branch in Montreal, to pick the
French-speaking half of the axis, that it would be essential that it came under
the Bank of Canada’s supervision.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Do not some foreign banks now have what could
be referred to as banks in this country? Do they not own trust companies which
take deposits and give chequing privileges. Are these not fully owned by a
foreign bank?

Mr. Popre: I cannot think of a trust company, offhand, other than the
Subsidiary of the Mercantile Bank; but you are quite correct, sir, in that two
Swiss banks with the highest reputation have opened up offices in Montreal and
have chosen to name themselves, very carefully, by avoiding the use of the word
“bank”. But they limit themselves as to what they actually can do.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It is really a fact that international money has no
Sovereignty and in our Bank Act we are really trying to keep our own sover-
€ignty. International money owes no patriotism to anybody.
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Mr. PopE: No, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions on clause 157?
I would now like to recognize Mr. Cameron, followed by Mr. Lambert and
Mr. Clermont.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Pope, I have been
wondering why you think our problems will be solved by deleting that aspect of
clause 157 which confines the use of the word “bank” to the chartered banks in
Canada. At the present time, as I am sure you must know if you have been
following the proceedings of this Committee, the Committee has been quite
concerned with the operations of near-banks.

Mr. PopPE: Quite.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Do you not think that the
best way to solve the problem would be to retain the use of the word “bank’ but
also to have a definition of the word “banking”, which we do not have?

Mr. PopE: Are you asking me a question, sir?
Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes.

Mr. PopE: I must emphasize that I am not a lawyer, sir, but in answer to
your question my feeling is that if Parliament ever chose to try to define
“banking”, a word that has defied the ability of many jurists to define—im-
mediately it froze the meaning of the word by legislation the courts would run
into a great deal of trouble. I have been told this by lawyers and I think I am
right in the various opinions I have read. Again, I understand from lawyers that
the current definition of “banking” is one composed by a jurist, I believe, on the
Judicial Committee of the Privy Council in Great Britain, who said in effect that
a “banker” is “one who holds himself open to the accepting of deposits and
allows a chequing service.” “Allows a chequing service” is an addition which
perhaps was put on later. As soon as you incorporate such a phrase in legislation
and say that from now on this is banking, immediately, ingenious people will
find ways of getting around that and doing something which does not quite
follow the definition and are, therefore, outside the intent.

By not defining it and merely bearing in mind that the British North
America Act already gives you all control over banking, you do not have to
define it. Let the judge worry about that if a court case ever comes up.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Pope, why is a judge better able to deal with this than
the elected representatives of the Canadian people?

Mr. PopE: I did not say that, sir. I am trying to preserve your jurisdiction. I
suggested that as soon as you define it, you merely carve a piece out of it and
leave fringy areas as you have now. You have a sad situation now that the
provincially incorporated trust companies and the provincially incorporated
finance companies are considered—I say they are not—to be outside your juris-
diction because of an interpretation of this clause 157. I say that under the
B.N.A. Act they belong to you.

The CHAIRMAN: Can you direct us to any decisions where clause 157 has
been used to narrow the federal jurisdiction over banking?

Mr. PoPE: Precisely, sir. It is common ground today that the provincially
incorporated—
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The CHAIRMAN: Just a minute. I asked if you could direct us to any decisions
of any courts in Canada based on clause 1577

Mr. PopE: No, sir.
The CHAIRMAN: You were saying what might happen.

Mr. PopE: No, sir. I am saying that it is the opinion of Her Majesty’s federal
government and all Her Majesty’s provincial governments that a provincially
incorporated trust company does not fall within your jurisdiction even when it
e€ngages in banking. This is absurd.

The CHAIRMAN: I did not know that the doors were closed that fully on the
other possibility.

Mr. CaAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Pope I am sure you
will agree that it is necessary to have the institutions which are now termed
“banks” under the control of the federal government and in their special 'rela-
tionship to the central bank to the reserve system. Do you agree that this is the
case?

Mr. PopE: Yes, but I would put it in a slightly different way. I agree that in
a country with a central bank, the large commercial banks should be forced to
keep reserves with the central bank.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): S_o that the central bank
may have some control of the total money supply at any time?

Mr. PopE: Precisely.

Mr. CameroN(Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Do you not think that if
you removed this restriction on the use of the word “bank”, we shall hgve a
rather confused picture in Canada in the eyes of the public, at least, who will not
be able to distinguish between the institutions that have to maintau} reserves
with the central bank and other institutions which have no such obligation at
all?

Mr. PopE: I am a great believer in liberty, sir. I believe that somebody
having money to deposit in a place of safekeeping should be guided by a good
Teputation. There is a bank in this country which is celebrating 1.ts 150th
anniversary about the same time as we are celebrating our 100th anniversary.
This bank has a good reputation, and the public should know about it. That
Would be a good bank to use. If a financial institution was incorporated two years
480 and it did not publish a balance sheet, it would be suspect. Indeed, there are
normal rules of prudence by which a person guides hlmself. in h1§ financial
affairs. In other words, I might answer by asking another 'que;stlon: Is it the r9le
of Parliament to so surround the area of finance with limitations a_tnd difficulties
that you render the normal workings of honest business difficult in an effort to
Stop a thief? A thief is going to find a way of stealing no matter what you do, sir.

Mr. CaMmERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I nfus.t confess I do not see
that you are going to gain anything by removing this restriction on the use of .the
Wword “bank”. As I say, I think you will just add confusion. Rather,.I would think
that we should be directing our attention to making the assertion of federal
Authority which you have suggested should be made.
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Mr. Pore: I am suggesting that an unfortunate side product of this section is
that by implication it very severely limits the authority which Parliament has
under the constitution.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): But that restriction would
be removed if there were a definition of what constitutes a bank.

Mr. PopE: Admittedly, sir, I think this is a dangerous game to play. I think it
would result in difficulties in the courts eventually if one tried to define banking.
Yes, I really do, sir. In other words, the situation is ideal. The British North
America Act allots banking to your responsibility, the responsibility of the
federal government. Fine. That is sufficient definition, ‘“banking”. That gives you
the whole thing.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes, but if you do not
know what banking is, how do you do this?

Mr. PorE: First of all there is the common sense of the legislators. When
they talk about banking they know pretty well what they mean. If the matter
goes to the courts, as it has in England, I suggest that leaving it tenuous in this
way gives you more scope for proper legislation, more scope for control and
more scope for stepping in and saying that this is a bad situation. In banking we
will take steps to correct it which, practically speaking, you do not now because
so many people have the idea that you only control through the Inspector
General the seven or eight banks that we refer to in this country as chartered
banks. The practical result of this wretched section is that you only consider
yourself responsible for the seven or eight chartered banks and not all the other
bankers. Now, I have broken the law because I used the word “bankers” to
describe other people.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): No. you have not broken
the law, but they would if they used it.

I will leave that point just now. I am interested in your suggestion that the
use of the word “bank” which has, as you point out, the effect of preventing
foreign banking institutions from establishing themselves in Canada, is neces-
sarily a bad thing. I would like to have from you a little more specific informa-
tion about the more sophisticated banking services to which you refer. I must.
admit I am inclined to agree with Dr. McLean that apparently Canadian busi-
nesses can do business throughout the rest of the world and I really must point.
out to you again what Dr. McLean pointed out to you, that the position of sterl-
ing and the American dollar is as the result of the decision of the International
Monetary Fund, a decision taken because of the economic position of those two
countries. It does not matter what we do; we could alter our legislation here
as much as we liked and the Canadian dollar would not assume that position
vis-a-vis the International Monetary Fund. You stress the fact that we do not
buy or sell with Canadian dollars and that foreign currencies are not current.
in Canada, but this is true of every country. The definition of a currency is that.
it is the only currency that circulates within a political entity.

Mr. PopE: I was making reference to the practice in continental financial
centres where cross markets in foreign exchange are made in every European
currency. They are not in Canada.
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The CHAIRMAN: Are you suggesting that a Canadian bank will not give you
a quotation on the Danish krone in Canadian dollars if you asked them for it?

Mr. PopE: They will give it to you, but they do not make the marl.iet
themselves; they get it from New York and multiply the New York quotation
against—

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): It is not very long ago
‘glat I bought Egyptian currency without the slightest difficulty right here in

ttawa.

Mr. Pope: Granted, sir, and perhaps you think I am being very technical,
but from my experience I know how they make their quotation. The quotations
are obtained by telephoning New York and asking for the rate on Egyptian
pounds for that particular day, and they are advised it is such and such. They
then multiply that by the Canadian-U.S. dollar rate and then give you a rate.
They look at you with a professional eye as if they were experts in Egyptian
pounds. They are not; they did not know the rate until they telephoned New
York and got the rate.

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Is this not because the
American dollar—and sterling—now to a lesser extent is the yardstick by which
all other currencies are measured?

Mr. Pope: Not in this field of foreign exchange, sir. In Brussels, Paris,
_Zurich and Geneva there is a proper foreign exchange market working, but not
In Montreal or Toronto.

The CHAIRMAN: How do you define a proper foreign exchange market?

Mr. PorE: Where the representative of the bank in the trading department
will make a market on his own capital and he has a principal in more than just
one currency. In Canada a foreign exchange trader, an employee of the bank, on
a trading desk will make a market in U.S. dollars as a principal and on his own
risk. He is doing this as an expert and will not get into trouble, he knows what
he is doing, he knows the right rate. If you ask him to quote Belgian francs in
Canadian dollars or Swiss francs in Canadian dollars he cannot do it. In Switz-
erland they can.

_ The CHAIRMAN: What do you mean he cannot do it? You just told us he will
8lve us a quotation.

Mr. Popk: He cannot do it without asking someone else to give him a rate.

Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, if an American pank had a branch in
Montreal or Toronto, would they not also call their office in New York and ask
for a quotation, or do they do their work in Montreal or Toronto?

Mr. Popg: If an American bank had a branch in Montreal today and there
Was no colony of foreign bank branches in Montreal or Toronto, the answer to
your question would be yes. I am suggesting that if there was a colony of foreign
ban}?S operating in Canada that you would have a primary market in Canada for
foreign exchange which you do not have.

The CHAIRMAN: What is the benefit beyond what we have now?

Mr. Pork: I will give you an example. It might surprise you to know that
When we sell wheat to Russia, all the business—by law, as I understand it—has
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to be done through a Canadian grain dealer or grain merchant, commodity
merchant. The Wheat Board will only deal with these dealers and the Russian
buyer sitting in the Chateau Laurier has to buy the wheat from a dealer. The
dealer is responsible for buying the wheat from the Wheat Board, finding a train
to take it to a port, finding a ship to take it to Russia, and financing over the nine
months or until such time as the Russians pay.

I think there are something like 20 to 40 grain merchants in Winnipeg, three
of whom are branches of large New York houses. Generally speaking all the
business is done, not by the Canadian grain merchants but by the New York
grain merchants who maintain three branches in Winnipeg. Why? Because they
have better financial facilities open to them. Two years ago, when a large
contract came up, the grain merchants in Winnipeg were aware that the last time
they had asked their banks to offer them U.S. dollars for nine months the rate
was 5% or 5} per cent or something like that, and they went to the banks and told
them that they missed the business the last time because the rate which was
quoted was too high and they would like to know what the rate was going to be
this time. The Canadian banks sharpened their pencils and quoted to all the
grain merchants in Winnipeg that at the rate of 4% per cent they would lend
American dollars. Every Winnipeg grain dealer toddled up to the Chateau
Laurier, knocked on the door of the wheat buying commission and quoted a rate
laying down wheat in Vladivostok, or what have you. Then the Russian merely
laughed at them and said, “Fine. That all-in price of yours is based on an interest
rate over 9 months of 43 per cent. Are you not aware that the government of
Russia commands a rate in international markets over 9 months of 4% per cent?
On your way, little boy”.

The New York people, having access through their head offices to the more
sophisticated international loan market, if you like, quoted their rates based on a
loan rate of 4} per cent against U.S. dollars and did all the business and our
Canadian people did none, because—and I hate to be so blunt—our Canadian
banks are not sophisticated in foreign exchange, are not sophisticated in foreign
loan rates and are not sophisticated in Euro dollars, and these other things. The
wheat deal is a complicated transaction and it goes through a Warsaw bank. The
Canadian banks, I suggest in all humility, lack the sophistication to understand
these things, to appreciate the risks involved in trying to quote the proper rate.
In this case I cited they were out % of one per cent and the result was that not a
Canadian grain merchant did any business. It was all done by three large New
York houses.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Are you suggesting that if
American banks had been established in Canada that the Canadian banks would
have gotten the business?

Mr. Pope: I am suggesting that if there was a pool of foreign banks
operating branches in the financial axis of Montreal and Toronto that Canadian
businessmen would have more facilities, if you like, available to them to enable
them to compete on more favourable terms in the international market.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Now, would the same
thing apply to transactions with other parts of the non-Communist world?

Mr. PopE: Oh heavens, yes, that is really what I am thinking of more than
anything else.
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Mr. CaAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): You mentioned 'ghe
Russian deal. It is a closed economy which is insulated from the financial
markets of the world in that way.

Mr. PopE: They were offering to pay in American dollars and they wanted to
borrow American dollars for nine months.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes, but they had their
own set rate on it?

Mr. Pope: They were perfectly well aware of their credit standing, the
standing of the Moscow Narodniy bank in Warsaw. They were very well aware
of the credit standing of the bank, they knew very well that U.S. dqllars were
available in Europe for that bank at 44 per cent and they were pot going to pay
4% per cent. I suggest that any bank that quoted 4% per cent did not know the
market.

One can get very technical and complicated on this thing, but. another
example is there was once a Vancouver exporter who received a ‘gentat}ve order
from Tokyo on steel products but he was asked to accept——be_heve it or not
—Siamese account sterling. Naturally he had never heard of Siamese account
sterling and so he went to his banker. The banker he approachefi was the
manager of a large branch of a large chartered bank in Vancouver. Th{s manager
had never heard of Siamese account sterling and directed the inquiry up the
chain. The inquiry eventually reached the Bank of England through the
Canadian branch in London that is why it is there, after all, to .lopk after
problems like this—of the chartered bank. The Bank of England, sophlstlcatgd as
they are, knew very well that the Vancouver businessman could 'do business
against Siamese account sterling but they did not particular}y want it to happen
that way. They knew that legally, properly and ethically it cmﬁld be done, so
they gave an ambiguous answer and the answer they gave was, _We would nc,):c
approve the transfer of sterling from Siamese account to Cangdxan accounts”.
End of answer. The customer in Vancouver was told the transaqtlon _could not be
done, while that very day it was being done time and time again. Fifty per cent
of the world’s trade in those days was being done through bilateral sterling, of
which Siamese account was merely one example. The business was Jost because
he was given an ignorant answer. This goes on the whole time. One could
multiply and multiply this sort of thing.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Is not your whole argu-
ment really based on, to put it bluntly, the incompetence of the Canadian
anking system? ;

Mr. PopE: Very well, sir, I will go along with that. We are incompetent in
Sophisticated foreign transactions. I would agree.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I have a question. You say that
London was a great international?

Mr. PopE: Absolutely, sir; I have great respect for that market.

Mr. McLian (Charlotte): Well, why did they have to come to the Un iﬁg
States to get $1 billion or so not long ago in order to keep them from devaiu
sterling?

Mr. Popk: I believe one should draw a distinction, sir, between knowledge

and expertise and one’s wealth and the size of one’s profit.
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Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It was purely banking. They had so much sterling
out that they could not redeem it. It was a banking situation.

Mr. PorE: It was governmental.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Well, it is more or less governmental, but here is
London, the great financial centre of the world, and they have to go to New York
to get $1 billion in order to keep sterling afloat. I do not think there is any harm
in a Canadian bank going down there to get a little information.

The CHAIRMAN: Dr. McLean, while your question is definitely related to the
topic of discussion, it does bring in some broader elements of international
financial problems. Do you have further questions, Mr. Cameron? I now recog-
nize Mr. Lambert, followed by Mr. Clermont.

Mr. LAMBERT: Mr. Chairman, my first observation is that while I agree that
the act should call for a definition of banking, I do not quite share the fears of
Mr. Pope that by defining banking today you will freeze it forever and that
therefore the definition of banking could not evolve with the market. There have
been attempts such as the case of the Attorney General for Canada. versus the
Attorney General for Alberta to the Privy Council to freeze the definition of
banking back to 1867. The Privy Council, if I may say so, properly rejected that
argument by the province of Alberta.

I must confess that I have some difficulty in following the arguments that
you have made that clause 157, which is merely to restrict the use of the name
“bank” to people who are incorporated or chartered, has had all of these
consequences. I regret, Mr. Pope, that I find a certain non sequitur. I do not think
that under any possibility could we legislate into being a proper money market,

Mr. PoPE: A proper money market?

Mr. LAMBERT: A proper money market.

Mr. Pore: In foreign exchange, sir?

Mr. LAMBERT: Yes, that we could legislate into existence.
Mr. PopPE: No, no.

Mr. LAMBERT: This is something that neither—

Mr. PopPE: I am suggesting it has been stifled.

Mr. LamBerT: Well, I am not too sure, because I think one could operate
under the name of Credit Suisse, comptoir d’escompte, or what have you. Man’s
ingenuity in devising names has not been limited. If they wanted to they could
operate in Montreal or Toronto, but it may be that the conditions of commerce
are not such as to warrant the Belgians, say, establishing an agency. The British
did come in with Bareclay’s.

Mr. PopE: That was a chartered bank, sir.

Mr. LAMBERT: Yes, I know, but they came in and they sold it. I am not too
sure that by the passing of legislation you could create a proper money market,
because then every banana republic could will into existence a money market by
the mere passage of legislation. I agree with you that it is unfortunate that we
may not have the appropriate money market, and perhaps the lack of expertise
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has resulted in the loss of some transactions, but I am not yet persuaded, sir, that
the existence of section 157 has been at the root of that.

Mzr. PorE: I see what you mean.

% Mr. LAMBERT: While one may say, well, the use of “bank”, “banking” or
‘banker”—

Mr. PopE: Barclay’s Bank, a bank of the highest reputation, may not open a
branch in Montreal or Toronto. That is a direct result of section 157. That is my
point there, sir. I would love to see Barclay’s bank—

Mr. LAMBERT: Unless it gets a certificate under the Bank Act.
Mr. PopE: It has to be incorporated as a fully owned subsidiary.

Mr. LamBERT: All right, it can, and this is what we have a right to insist
upon if they are going to use those names. It would not prevent Barclay’s bank
from operating in Montreal through some merchant banker’s name, or something
of that nature, but I do agree that the lack of definition of “banking” has allowed
a lot of, shall we say, “squatter’s rights” operation. That is all I can call a lot of
the claims of provincial authorities today, that they are pure “squatter’s rights”
claims with regard to the operations of trust companies and near banks, and they
assert the right to regulate them because they had the right to engender them.

Mr. Porg: But I suggest section 157 is a quasi definition, sir. It is a sort of
negative definition. He who is not incorporated under this act is not a banker. It
is a double negative. Therefore, only he who is incorporated under this act can
engage in the business of banking. That is the unfortunate implication. Take this
out and then your house returns to order.

Mr. LaMBERT: I disagree with you. I would like to see that section beefed up
to give us a definition of banking. If one will look at some of the judicial
ﬁiecisions over the years there are some excellent suggestions by some of the
judges as to what could be a very fluid definition of banking, and it is un-
fortuate that this has not been picked up. I hope we can make some sug-
gestions a little later on.

That is all I am going to say insofar as that is concerned. While I will agree
Wwith some of the things that you have said initially, I regret that some of the
Subsequent paragraphs, as to the non-existence of a money market, are a bit of a
non sequitur as far as I am concerned.

(Translation)

_ Mr. CLerMonT: Mr. Chairman, with regard to Clause 157, Mr. Lambert has
Just said—and I share his opinion in that connection—that if foreign bank.s are
}’101: established either in Toronto or Montreal, it is because they did not think it
in their interest to come and ask the Federal Canadian Parliament for a charter.

Mr. Pope: But do not forget, Sir, that it is not easy to get a charter in
Canada. The experience of last year has shown us this. Now, I am offering you,
as an instance, a better instance, the way things are done in London. There, tl.lere
are 200 branches of foreign banks, everybody is happy, things are done in a
gentlemanly way and nobody tries to steal anybody else’s business. The grf-:at
English banks are not dissatisfied because there are a great number of. ff)rexgn
banks. They are happy because it is better for business. The situation as it is now

25468—-23
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makes it very difficult for a foreign bank to establish itself in Canada. And that
is a problem. As you have just suggested, it is not because they do not have the
wish to do so. I think it is very hard for them.

Mr. CLERMONT: You say it is very difficult to apply and obtain a charter
from the Canadian Parliament. I think that last year we had an instance to the
contrary, because Parliament approved two banking charters.

Mr. PopE: Two or one?
Mr. CLERMONT: Two.
Mr. PopE: Yes, but I thought that was three years ago.

Mr. CLERMONT: Did the Bank of British Columbia not get its certificate from
Treasury? Parliament did grant permission to two groups to carry on banking
operations in Canada. In the United States, the agencies of foreign banks are
established mostly in New York and in San Francisco.

Mr. PoPE: Those are not branches, they are agencies. Canadian banks do not
have the right to accept deposits from New York State residents.

Mr. CLERMONT: But there are branches of foreign banks in the State of New
York.

Mr. PorE: I do not know of any.
Mr. CLERMONT: According to the report prepared by a professor there are.
Mr. Popre: These were agencies, Sir.

Mr. CLERMONT: No, these were branches, Sir. An agency established in New
York cannot accept deposits from New York State residents.

Mr. PopE: Yes.

Mr. CLERMONT: It can accept deposits from other people, from other resi-
dents than those of New York State. I am saying that in the State of New York
there are foreign banks that have branches.

Mr. PopE: I do not know of any.

The CHAIRMAN: They were accorded State charters. That is, foreign banks
are there only as agencies.

Mr. CLERMONT: I have two cases where the Canadian industry has lost
business on account of lack of information furnished by Canadian banks in
connection with exchange. Are the two instances you mentioned, Sir, a matter of
personal experience or things that were reported to you?

Mr. PopPE: A matter of personal experience.

Mr. CLERMONT: Because you mentioned that, among others, our grain
brokers landed at the Chateau Laurier and said: “It is very regrettable, you are
good boys—

: Mr. PopE: I was in contact with both sides. I was trying to find cheaper
money than 4% myself as an agent. And that is why I know what I am talking
about in that case. I offered money at 4§ per cent in Winnipeg.

Mr. CLERMONT: Are you familiar with the other cases besides the two you
mentioned? Because these were very important transactions.
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Mr. PopE: In the case of Winnipeg and the wheat exports, I myself offered to
the wheat dealers in Winnipeg money at 4§. I offered a better rate than the
banks did, because I can get money at 4% per cent. I did not want to say that a}t
the outset but to show how I was aware of the situation, I was able to obtain
this money at 4§, whereas the Canadian banks would have insisted on 4% per
cent.

Mr. CLERMONT: So you say—

The CuAIRMAN: But this did not prevent you from offering American
money ?

Mr. PopE: No, Sir.

The CHaRMAN: How did Clause 157 prevent foreign banks from doing
business in the same way here as you did?

(English)

Mr. PopE: The point, Mr. Chairman, is that as a lone wolf money operator I
Was able to offer money to Winnipeg grain dealers at a rate of *one—e1gfhth of one
Per cent cheaper than their own banks were offering it to them. But this rate, SIT,
Was not competitive. In other words, I was not even able to be competitive
myself, and my suggestion is that if we had a nucleus of perhaps half a dozen
foreign banks operating in here the market would be the right market and the
rates would be the proper rates.

The CHAIRMAN: I was just going to say my point—and I believe Mr.
Clermont laid the groundwork for this—was that if you, as a private entity, were
able to do this in spite of section 157, I find it difficult to see what would prevent
& group of these foreign banks from operating in Canada at the present time as
entities—not calling themselves banks—in spite of section 157, ar}d doing what
you are doing in an even more favourable way because of their greater re-
Sources,

Mr. PopE: The proof of the pudding is that T did not succeed.

The CraRMAN: N 0, but my point is that apparently section 157 woull‘fd no;
have Prevented the foreign banks from doing the same thing as yours%v hafcll
Making a better rate because of their greater resources and know-hqxg. ztihe
am trying to say, sir, is that you yourself seem to have offered as gv; ence =
fact that section 157 is not creating the evil that you cl.alm. This is from yo
OWn personal experience, you have just told us about it.

(T"'a'nslation) ek

Mr. CrerRMoNT: Instead of striking out clause 157—Mr. Pope, WO%gt it no itf
Preferaple, according to your judgment, for Parliament to adopt an BEra
ting the establishment of agencies with some restrictions. : '

Mr. Pope: This would be a great improvement on the snua'uondaesS IPEI;Z:
Stands. I think I would prefer to see branches rather than aﬁ;ap :
agencies would be a great improvement, however. Now we have nothing. 5

Mr. CLERMONT: You mentioned at certain times the Lgd(;)rz) rm?xfsl:egsta;f
foreign banks in Great Britain distributed throughout England or j
lished in London? :

Mr. PopE: There are no branches outside of London as far as I know.
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Mr. CLERMONT: Are they interested in obtaining deposits from the public, or
just in currency and foreign exchange transactions?

Mr. Pope: I think that they are free to receive deposits from anyone in
London.

Mr. CLERMONT: Is it the intention of these foreign banks to go in for deposits
or are they only concerned with foreign exchange?

Mr. Popk: I do not understand your question, Sir.

There are perhaps some 200 foreign branches in London. They are there for
the business of their countries. For instance, the Bank of Montreal, to give you
an instance, because I was an employee of the Bank of Montreal; the Bank of
Montreal has two branches in London. They have one in the centre of London for
Canadian tourists; who are clients of the Bank of Montreal they do all their
business there; they buy sterling and so forth, and there is another branch, in the
financial City, for the big financial operations, between Canada and Great
Britain. It is essential for the Bank of Montreal—to have branches in London.
The Bank of Montreal, the Royal Bank, the Bank of Nova Scotia would be very
embarrassed if the laws of Great Britain prevented their having branches in
London. Everyone wants to have a bank there. The point is that the great
English banks are not dissatisfied with their situation because all these foreign
banks bring business for everybody. I have the impression, some people have the
feeling that Canadian banks fear competition.

Mr. CLERMONT: But, Mr. Pope, to date there are two banks with foreign
capital who have asked the Canadian Parliament for a charter—the Mercantile
Bank and the Barclay’s Bank. I do not think Barclay’s Bank established many
branches throughout the country. Now they are merged with another Canadian
bank.

Mr. PorE: But they selected the difficult road. Because the Act did not
allow branches, they opened chartered banks. But once they had chartered
banks, they became Canadian banks. Now they can do what other banks can
do. Barclay’s Bank opened four or five branches; the Mercantile Bank opened
some six or seven.

Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, I revert to the first question I asked Mr.
Pope. I think, personally, that if foreign banks did not judge it feasible to ask
the Canadian Government for a charter, it was because it was not in their
interests or in the interests of their countries to come and settle in Canada.

Mr. PopE: You are asking a question?
Mr. CLERMONT: Yes.

Mr. PopE: That is not my opinion, Sir. My opinion is rather that to open
a bank—there are things a bank has to do and the various proceedings are so
difficult for a foreign bank to open in Canada and get a charter from Parliament
that they just do not bother to do so.

Mr. CLERMONT: But you mention London. You do not mention the United
States. It is not easy for a Canadian bank to set up branches in the United States.

(8
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Mr. PopE: I do not approve of the American system. I am just giving you
the London instance as an example which is the primary example of how to do
banking business.

Mr. CLERMONT: But you admitted in answering a question from Dr. McLean
(Charlotte) that the world market is presently in New York.

Mr. PopE: No I did not say that, Sir. The American are not the bankers. The
Londoners are. The fact that the sterling is as weak as it is now, and that they
had to borrow a billion in New York, in their weakened state, does not change
matters. It is on account of their expertise that the market remains in London,
and not in New York, and just for that.

(English)

The CHAIRMAN: Do we have further questions? Mr. Gilbert? We are dealing
with section 157 and Mr. Pope’s views about its effects.

Mr. GILBERT: Mr. Pope, I understand that you want to strike out section 157,
and at the same time you do not want to define banking.

Mr. PopE: That is right, sir.

s Mr. GILBERT: Is it desirable that the federal government exercise jurisdic-
tion over finance companies and near banks, and so forth?

Mr. PopE: That is a loaded question, sir. My point is this, sir, that under the
constitution you, the federal parliament, has jurisdiction over banking; that
cannot be taken away from you. It is part of my presentation that this section be
taken out completely, and as far as that part of the question concerning near
banks is concerned that in as much as banking comes under your jurisdiction
then, ipso facto, that responsibility is yours.

Mr. GILBERT: Let us get a direct example with regard to finance companies.
Let us take the case of Prudential Finance.

Mr. PopE: Yes, sir.

Mr. GILBERT: They have a collapse and the Minister of Finance says, “it is
not within my jurisdiction, it is provincial jurisdiction”.

Mr. Pope: May I ask the question whether he did or not?

Mr. GILBERT: He did.

Mr. Pore: He did?

Mr. GILBERT: Yes, he did. He said it was provincially incorporated and the
only responsibility we had was with regard to federal—

Mr. PopE: That is my point, sir. The unfortunate implication of section 15'7. is
that a minister can get up in the House of Commons and say, «prudential
Flnance”—~which we all know is engaged in banking—*“does not come under my
Jurisdiction”.

Some hon. MEMBERS: No, no.

Mr. PopE: The unfortunate implication is that the Minister of Finance can
get up in the House of Commons and say, “This is a provincially incorporated
company; it does not fall within our jurisdiction”. But Prudential Finance was
e€ngaged in the business of banking.
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Mr. GILBERT: Well, was it? That is the question. The question is was
Prudential Finance in the business of banking?

Mr. Pore: Prudential Finance was doing most of its financing through thé
sale of notes. If that was all that it did that would take it out of banking, but I
believe they also accepted demand deposits, sir.

Mr, GILBERT: No, not to our knowledge.

Mr. PorE: Not to your knowledge?

‘Some hon. MEMBERS: No.

Mr. Pore: Well then, I am wrong and I withdraw on Prudential.

Mr. GILBERT: And I do not think they provided chequeing facilities either.

Mr. PorE: No, they did not provide chequeing facilities but I did believe that
they took some deposits.

Mr. GILBERT: All I am saying to you is that in the absence of a definition
you have these practical problems like Prudential Finance, where the federal
government does not assert its jurisdiction.

Mr. PopE: If I may make the suggestion, Sir, it depends a great deal on the
personality of the responsible member of the cabinet. A strong man would say,
“Everything is banking. It is all mine. I do not care what you say, I am acting.
Let the courts fight me if they wish”. A weak man will take less responsibility
and limit the vista of his own responsibility. This, I suggest, is a psychological
problem, sir.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): May I ask a supplemen-
tary question?

The CHAIRMAN: Certainly.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would you not agree that
if a minister were prepared to do this—which I submit would be rather rash of
him—would he not have to have some argumentation on which to base his action
and would that argumentation not, in the final analysis, have to be based on a
definition of banking?

Mr. PorE: In the final analysis, yes, sir. The minister to justify himself
would merely say, “This is banking. I will chop your head off if you are a bad
banker”.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): He would have to have
some basis for his decision, surely.

The CHAIRMAN: What Mr. Cameron is trying to say, supported by Mr. More
and Mr. Gilbert, is that the Minister of Finance cannot act like the first chancel-
lors in Britain when they started the equity system and they defined equity as
being the length of the lord chancellor’s foot. We have evolved since then and the
minister’s views have to be based on the law, either as declared by parliament in
legislation or on a decision by the courts.

Mr. PorE: I think the courts would have some decisions pretty quickly.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): There is also the other
point, Mr. Pope; how would he exercise his authority?
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" Mr. PopE: This is wide open, sir, to parliament. Parliament has the responsi-
bility over matters of banking. Therefore it is up to parliament to set up
whatever boards or control commissions, or what have you, to supervise these
matters. Parliament is supreme in these matters.

Mr. GILBERT: Do you think the same would apply to Caisse Populaire and
credit unions?

- Mr. Popg: Caisse Populaires are definitely banks, there is no question about
it.

Mr. GILBERT: And the same with regard to credit unions?

Mr. PopE: Credit unions in my mind are the same thing as Caisse Populaires.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Well then, if the Minister
of 'Fl_nance were to exert his authority, I presume it would have to be based on
existing legislation, would it not?

; .Mr. PopE: Well, you are asking me to imagine a situation in which the
minister would exercise certain authority in a case where he thought something
was beginning to be rotten in the state of Denmark.

\ Mr. CaAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): No, not necessarily rotten
in the state of Denmark, but where it might become rotten.

_ Mr. Pore: Where it might become rotten. Fair enough. Now, at the present
time, sir, the only organization that has been set up to my knowledge is that of
the Inspector General of Banks and I believe a certain little legal section in the
Treasury. They are the only two that I know of, but an ingenius minister could
expand those very quickly. If he did not want to expand them, parliament could
make him do so; parliament is supreme.

The CHATRMAN: Did you ever hear about the difficulties in getting anything
approved by Treasury Board? You say an ingenius minister_could expand. I
Presume you mean the establishment; hiring people and opening offices. There
are some ministers who would like to expand their establishments who would

give you quite an argument about that.

Mr. Popg: Well, if T were the Minister of
Smell that was brewing in one of our cities, I wou
general and have him look into it.

(Translation)

_ Mr. CLerMoNT: On what would the Minister of Financ
1nt§rfere in the operations of a company which had a provincia
heis a strong-willed minister, or a dictator?

Finance and I did not like a little
1d telephone my inspector

e base himself to
1 charter? Even if

Mr. Popk: I never said dictator.
Mr. CLERMONT: You said. .. and the gesture you made. . .

Mr. Pope: Any provincial government has a right to crgate inco1.~porated
Companies, If these creatures carry on banking operations, their operations fall
under the jurisdiction of the Federal Parliament, while being the creatures

under the provincial government.
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(English)

The CHAIRMAN: I think what the Committee is trying to get at is this: you
are merely suggesting to the Committee that section 157 be swept away, without
simultaneously placing in legislation not only a definition of banking but au-
thority for an administrative apparatus to supervise and investigate generally
the other institutions you define as banking. You have not called for that and I
would think, sir, that even if one was willing to accept your interpretation of the
evil effect of section 157, it would be difficult to see—and if I may summarize
what the Committee, I think, is trying to get at—how the situation would be
improved with respect to supervision over what you define as banking without
adding other clauses to the law to give a minister authority to do something. To
take a practical example, if the Inspector General of Banking had turned up at
the door of Prudential Finance six months ago and the manager of Prudential
Finance said to him, “Would you kindly show me under what authority you want
to look at my books, what legislative authority do you have to look at my
books?” what answer would the Inspector General have been able to give?

Mr. Pope: I am not a lawyer, sir, nor am I a Member of Parliament. I am
pointing out a problem that I suggest is the result of clause 157. I am, perhaps,
pointing out something that you gentlemen are becoming aware of, which is that
there are things going on that really should be more under your supervision
than they have been. I did not want to say it but you force me to say it. I have
been trying all morning to avoid making such a remark.

The CHAIRMAN: We do not mind that, because many of us have been
thinking along those lines for some time.

Mr. PorE: Yes; that is why I dared to say it. But there are other countries in
the world that have met the same problem, sir. I am not a lawyer, but either
Parliament passes a statute setting up a board of administration, or a board of
supervision, on matters of banking, or the legal advisers decide that the present
legislation is sufficient; that the B.N.A. Act is sufficient authority for the
Treasury Board or the Minister of Finance to set up his own commission.

Mr. LaFLAMME: How can we do that without having a definition of what are
matters of banking.

Mr. PorE: I suggest, my dear sir, that for the time being one assumes that
the commonsense interpretation of “banker” is “taker of deposits payable on
demand.”

The CHAIRMAN: What is wrong with writing that into the law.

Mr. PopE: I am not a lawyer, and I insist that I am not a lawyer, but I am
afraid, as I have been advised by lawyers, that if one did that one would run into
trouble. I am relying on my legal opinions.

The CHAIRMAN: As a lawyer I should point out that one should always be
conscious of the advice of lawyers, given off the cuff.

Mr. PopE: You asked me to draw the picture. I am afraid that as soon as you
circumscribe banking, as this wretched clause does in a double negative, you will
again have fringe operators saying, “I am outside your legislation. Leave me
alone”. It is silly to define it if you have that.
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Mr. LAFLAMME: Mr. Chairman, it is on that question that I have a supple-
mentary to ask.

Mr. GILeerT: I think Mr. Lambert may have asked you this question. anu
still want to have the provincial governments retam jurisdiction with regard to
incorporation of these financial institutions. Why?

Mr. Popg: No; I did not say that, and I gave no opinion on that, but I v&flll
now give this opinion, that if the federal parliament pointed out to .the pr9v1nc1a1
parliament that it had no business whatsoever incorporating banking ch1ld.ren, I
would say that you would be in the right. I would say that you would be in the
right, and therefore, the Royal Trust and the Montreal Trust Vyoul_d pass'01_1t of
existence tomorrow morning, if you ever took that step. The point is that it is an
interesting little door that we open there. It could bfz argued pos'51bl}.' that a
provincial parliament has no authority for incorporating the banking infant—
creating the banking child; but it could be argued that they could create any-
thing.

The CHATRMAN: I should just interject that I dou]qt very m}lch that if g cgurt
ruled that the provincial parliament did not have this a.uthorlty.theu Prevmu;
creations would suddenly go out of existence. Since th%s is a public hearing, gnI
these remarks are being recorded both for our own minutes and by the press,ld
think we should cast come doubt on your suggestion that these entities wou
suddenly go out of existence.

Mr. Pope: I would be happy to withdraw the remark and point out that it
was said very much in the spirit of jest.

Mr. LarLamMMe: May I ask Mr. Pope another question? Do you accept the
Principle that the central bank must control credit?

Mr. PorE: Absolutely.

Mr. LAFLAMME: You do; and while doing so, if we remove thc;{ Fleﬁr;)tlsoiﬁeg;
Clause 157 for your purpose, to allow some other banks to do b;m 1;n}gww S35
here in Canada without being under the control of the Central bank,
this principle apply? e e

Mr. PopE: There are two ways, sir. First of all, any foreign bank openin
branch in Montreal or Toronto co?ﬂd be required to keep a certain Sprercegfaget 1;3:
its deposits with the central bank. This is no Problem at all ecor; y,ould
deposits of a few foreign banks having branches in Montreal or Toroln ‘(:hwt o
be so small in relation to the deposits of the banking system as a whole tha =
Bank of Canada’s influence would hardly be affected; the loss of unlfluengetvzﬁu .
be miniscule because of that. It would be a simple matter to requn};e tha e lfesir
banks keep on deposit with the Bank of Canada the same percenbixge o i
deposits as the chartered banks are required to do. This is no problem, SIr.

The CHATRMAN: I will accept a supplementary question from Mr. Lambert.

Mr. LaMBerT: If you were to allow foreign banks to come In (z;nd ?gerlr‘:stlef‘
the purposes of a money market and if you were to allow thet ! 1(%\;(}31 ? tpthey )
Private bankers, would you not agree that it would 'be e.sserillzéf e A
11:1.nder the supervision of the superintendent of banking In a ‘
lons?

Mr. Popk: I think I would agree with that.



2220 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS January 10,1967

Mr. LAMBERT: Private bankers, as well.
Mr. Popre: I think I would agree with that, yes, sir.

Mr. LAMBERT: Although perhaps not in the same degree as the chartered
banks operating on the branch basis today.

Mr. Pope: I think I would agree with that. I would love to see a return to
private banking. I think it is sadly lacking here.

Mr. LAMBERT: Thank you.
The CHAIRMAN: Do we have any further questions? Yes, Mr. More?

Mr. More (Regina City): Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Mr. Pope about
money markets. As I understood it, he did not appreciate the American restric-
tion and system in regard to foreign banks, yet this has not stopped New York
from becoming a money market.

Mr. PopE: In an imperfect way, sir. They have possibly as many agencies in
New York as there are banks in London. It has not stopped New York from
becoming a money market, as you say quite correctly, sir; but I emphasize very,
very strongly my feeling that New York is not by any means a complete money
market in the sense that London is. They have an imperfect system, sir.

I have high standards.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I have just one question. The
Russians have always had a bank in London, under both the Czar and the
communists, have they not?

Mr. PorEg: I have a feeling that the present bank—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): They also lend money to England. I suppose they
take deposits; they lend money there. Why did this Russian deal that went
through the United States not go through their own bank in London?

Mr. PorE: It did not go through the United States, sir; it went through a
Polish bank in Warsaw.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Why a Polish bank, when they have their own
bank in London?
Mr. PoprE: That would be the agency—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Why, if London is the big financial centre and
they have a bank there and have had ever since the time of the Czars?

Mr. PopPE: I am not saying the money did not come from London, sir. I am
merely saying that the credit that was offered to the people selling the wheat
was the credit of a government-sponsored bank in Warsaw. That is the technique
they used. The money was raised either in New York, London or Zurich.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): What did the Russians pay with?

Mr. PoPE: American dollars.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I understand they paid with 500 million in gold.
Mr. PopE: They sold gold to buy dollars, and with the dollars—

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): American dollars?

Mr. PoPE: American dollars; I am sorry.

{7‘



January 10,1967 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS 2221

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): And they ended up in New York.
Mz. PopE: The deal was done against American dollars.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lind?

Mr. Linp: Returning to Mr. Pope’s opinion on the authori_ty of the feqleral
Minister of Finance, has he the right under the present legislation to investigate
and regulate a provincially-incorporated company?

Mr. PoprE: As I say, that is a legal question sir; I do not really feel qualified
to answer it.

Mr. Linp: Well, you made the statement a little while ago ?;hat ’f:,he Minister
of Finance could have stepped in and controlled the Prudential Finance Cor-
boration.

An hon. MEMBER: He withdrew that statement.
Mr. Linp: Pardon?
An hon. MEMBER: He withdrew that statement.

The CHAIRMAN: I think, in fairness, we should not try 'anrd inp.pose upon_Mr.
Pope an obligation to deal with questions he does not consider himself qualified
to answer.

Mr. Popg: I have been suggesting during my remarks, sir, that all matters of
banking fall under the control of the federal parliament. You asked me Whgther
or not the Minister of Finance had the power to do sqch-and-such_ a thing. I
cannot answer, because I do not know what power parliament has given to the
Minister of Finance. That is why I am not able to answer your question.

Mr. Linp: Then how do you come to the conclusion that the Prudential
Finance company is in any way a bank? They do not take deposits; they do not
issue cheques, or have checking accounts.

Mr. PorE: They do not have checking accounts, no. Their main SOllCl'tatlon 9f
funds was through the sale of notes, which would take them out of banking. I did
understand—and I have been corrected by various honourable and 1earne.d
members of this Committee—that they also took deposits. I am told that that is
not the case. Therefore, I think we can conclude, that being the case, that they
were not in the business of banking. Therefore, they would not have fallen under
federal Parliament supervision.

Mr. Linp: Whose jurisdiction did they fall under?

s Mr. Popk: The attorney general, or anybody who is responsible for catching
eves.

Mr. Linp: Well, now, would you explain that answer a little?

Mr. PopE: Yes, sir. We are in a difficult area. 1t is naturally always the desire
of legislators to make it difficult for people to be taken advantage of, or for
People to suffer hardship. In other words, it is always the desire of the legislator
to protect the public. Because of this desire, the Jegislators tried to pass laws
making it impossible for certain crimes to be committed. I suggest, ger.l‘Flemen,
When it comes to theft, that you can pass all the laws you like, but you will never
stop a thief from being genius enough to steal from another citizen.
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An hon. MEMBER: Is it worth trying!

Mr. PopE: It is a balance very hard to strike. Unfortunately, much of the
legislation aimed at harnessing the efforts of thieves makes it very difficult for
honest men to do good business.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you suggesting, for example, that our present legisla-
tion, imposing on the chartered banks the obligation to be supervised by the
inspector general of banking, makes it difficult for them, as honest businessmen,
to do business?

Mr. Pork: No. I believe that the supervision is very benign and paternalistic;
it is not oppressive in the slightest.

Mr. Linp: To follow up this question of thieving—and I am not sure that it
was thieving, or what it was—you leave the impression that it is purely the
responsibility of the attorney general of Ontario to look into this and lay charges
if there was thieving. Is that right?

Mr. PoprE: That is my personal opinion in this particular case, yes, sir.
Mr. Linp: Then it has nothing to do with the federal Minister of Finance.
Mr. PoprE: That is my opinion of this moment, yes, sir.

Mr. Linp: Thank you very much.

The CHAIRMAN: Now may I ask something just briefly before we proceed
further?

You have made some very interesting and, I think, quite helpful points with
respect to your analysis of the present operations of the foreign exchange market
in Canada, and of the operations of Canadian banks. At the same time we all
notice advertisements by our Canadian banks showing all the foreign branches
they maintain, the foreign agencies, their sources of information in international
trade, and so on. In comparison with a lot of banks in the United States and
Great Britain we seem to be equally active with respect to opening offices abroad
and so on. How is this consistent with your suggestion about our Canadian banks
being provincial in the international field?

Mr. PorE: They are certainly very much less provincial than the small banks
in the United States, who are “the end” so far as that is concerned. Under the
American system where you are not allowed the branch-banking system you
have the ultimate in provincialism and lack of proper understanding of banking.
The United States is “the end” so far as that is concerned.

The system in Canada, as you point out, is superior to that of the United
States, but in my opinion it still leaves much to be desired. A lot of the things
you describe are merely advertised as propaganda for public relations.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you mean that they do not have the branches they are
advertising?

Mr. PopE: They have the branches they are advertising, sir, but the implica-
tion is that they are experts in foreign matters. They are not. They fail our
Canadian businessmen—and that I hold strongly.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, because of your own background that is a very
helpful and useful suggestion.

m
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ot I have one further point which has already been raised at least in part. You
Yl agree, will you not, that 'the removal of this clause will not automatically
i to the creation of the foreign exchange markets and so on which you feel are
esirable.
Mr. Popk: I feel, sir, that it removes one obstacle, at least.
e 'I(‘ihe_CHAIRI\{LAN: The ren}ova.:l of clause 157 will not alter the fact that
forea a is a nation of 20 million, and neither Montreal or Toronto are, in the
i seeable future, unfortunately, the equivalents of New York and London in
e world’s financial markets.
o Mr. POI?E: I am hoping that perhaps we might become the equivalent of
" ssels. which has three British banks, two Amercian banks, four French banks,
wo Italian banks and one Japanese bank—a total of 12. These figures are four
Z}?ars old, and there might be 15 or 20 by now. But if Brussels, which is half the
;1ze of Montreal, can have 12 foreign branches serving it, I do not see why we
should be deprived of even one.
o T}}e CHAIRMAN: That is a useful suggestion, but as many members of the
ommittee have attempted to point out to you, some of them find it difficult to
;ee hpw clause 157 by itself has either prevented this situation from arising, or
ow its removal will necessarily bring the branches here.

Let us now move on to the next clause.

h I do not think, in fairness to our witness, that we will invite questions on
:V at he has had to say about subclause (g) of clause 75, in view of his very
easonable and fair reservation with respect to his own background in this area.

53 .I will invite questions on his views with respect to subclause (2) of clause
10 in the course of which he criticizes the proposal of the government limiting to
per cent the shares which may be held by others in a chartered bank.
(TTanslation)

Mr. Laflamme, do you have a question?

i Mr. Larrasmve: On this clause 53, T would like to know the mai
¥ you object to the limiting of personal control on a bank.

# Mr. Popg: First it removes a certain freedom from the individua
ay now buy up to 11 per cent in Canadian bankshares.
(English)

sl The CHAIRMAN: Also, every person has the right, if he is poor,
eep under a bridge and be arrested for vagrancy.

Mr. PopE: The point is that you are depriving a citizen of hi

n reasons

1. No citizen

not to have to

s normal liberty.

(Translation)

1o That is in principle. Generally speaking, t
Cnger. the shareholder control in the bank
anadian banks are controlled not by the owners but by management.

t Mr. LarLamMEe: We are going to hear a pbrief this afternoon which is going
0 contradict that point and insist on the point that we should prevent a group

of individuals from dominating—

he true result is that there is no
but management control. All
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Mr. PopE: Take the current instance of the Bank of Canada which has just
been incorporated, I think that 30 per cent of its shares belong to a group. Now
the idea of this bank, is that this is only fair since it is this group which has
worked and raised the money required—

Mr. LarLaMME: But let us speak of the present situation.

Mr. PopPE: —say 50 per cent at the present time.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Is it not so, that approximately three Canadian banks
chartered banks control an important portion of business generally.

Mr. Pope: This is certainly true that three Canadian banks handle the
greater portion of the Canadian depositors.

Mr. LarLaMME: In this particular circumstance, is it not necessary to
establish limitations on individual or corporate participation in the banking
business?

Mr. PopE: I think you refer to something that is not so.

Mr. LAFLAMME: But it is so.

Mr. PorE: In three banks you speak of, no one controls 10 per cent.

Mr. LarLaAMME: They control a great deal more.

Mr. Pore: No, sir, no one has a controlling 10 per cent in the Bank of
Montreal, the Royal Bank, the Bank of Commerce, or the Bank of Nova Scotia.
No one controls them as far as I know.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Let us not speak of individuals, let us speak of interest
groups. For instance, I have seen a phrase here.

Mr. PorE: I think I know what you are talking of, Sir. I think this article
states that in too many cases, the administrators are the same in all banks.

(English) )

Mr. LAFLAMME: Just a minute; it was stated here by someone else, that, as
is well known, three of the Canadian chartered banks control 70 per cent of the
assets of the Canadian chartered banking system.

Mr. PopE: That is right.

Mr. LaFLAMME: Do you accept that?

Mr. PopE: That is true.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Yes, it is true; but do you accept that as a good thing?

Mr. PopeE: I have nothing against large size, sir. There three banks are
admirable banks. They do their work very, very well.

Mr. LAFLAMME: I agree with that.

Mr. PopE: They are banks that are good, honest banks. They render good
service. The fact that they control 70 per cent of the deposits of the Canadian
chartered banks is not to me, an evil in itself, sir.

If we are talking about control, I do not know who controls these banks. I

have tried to find out. The conclusion I have been forced to come to is that the
shareholders do not exercise their control in the case of these three banks and,

§

(f(
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therefore, by default, the control falls back on the management itself. The
employee becomes the owner, and that is ridiculous.

Mr. LarLamMeE: Do you say that the shareholders do not control at all?

Mr. PopE: I do, sir. They do not exercise their control in the case of these
three banks.

Mr. Larnavme: But do you not think that a clause which would limit the
bossibility of controlling any bank is not a good one, in those circumstances?

Mr. PopE: I am trying to keep my thoughts straight. In the case of the three
banks, nobody controls them at all, to my knowledge. The shareholders do not
€xercise their control.

In the case of the three smallest banks one group controls practically all the
shares. That is the situation today.

I may be missing your point, sir. In the case of the three largest banks
nobody controls them. In effect, the only control is exercised by the management
from the general manager down.

Mr, LarLavme: That is all, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. McLEaN(Charlotte) : Mr. Pope, you seem to be distuljbed that manage-
ment has control of the banks. I think it is a good thing that it has control. I do
not know why you take—

Mr. PopE: There is a certain amount of inbreeding going on.

Mr. McCLEAN (Charlotte): You say that this 10 per cent should be raised
to perhaps 25 per cent, or something like that, for the ind1V{d1{1a1 owner. The
large banks have millions of shares. If a bank is worth $6 billion and a man
Owns 25 per cent of the shares, he has the actual control of that bank. If you
get 25 per cent control of a large company you can actually direct it and
control it,

Mr. PopE: That is right, sir.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I think the 10 per cent is a good th.ing. We do not
want anybody controlling $6, $8, $10 or $15 billion. We want that in the hands of
he management. Management is responsible to the stockholders apd Whe.n they
p_resgnt a good balance sheet the stockholders are quite happy with their con-
tinuing on and paying normal dividends, and so on.

~ I do not see that taking it out of the hands of manag
things. I think it would hurt things.
Many large American companies are controlled by an ind
25 per cent of the ownership.
Mr. PorE: Quite.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Then a man, or a group O%.
cent of the shares in one bank would control $6 or $7 billion. I do not
Is a good thing. I do not see how you can think it is a good thing.

Mr. Pope: You do not think it is a good thing for one man to
much?

- }ll\/fr. McLEAN (Charlotte): No; I do not think any group should
uch.
25468—3

ement would help
ividual who has
of people, who has 25 per
think that
control so

control that
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Mr. Porg: Actually, the management group does control it all.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): If they had control of the three banks they would
practically control the country. I think it is better in the hands of management.

The CHAIRMAN: In order words, you are suggesting to us that it would not
be in the public interest if it were possible for one individual, of for a group of
associated individuals, to share ownership, and to own, possibly, at the same
time, two, or three, or even one, of our major chartered banks?

Mr. Pore: You would have to be very rich to acquire such a holding of
shares.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It is possible.

Mr. PorE: It is a possibility, yes, sir.

You are arguing, gentlemen, if I might make the suggestion, the possibility
of evils if this happened in the three largest banks and, therefore, that it is right
to restrict ownership to 10 per cent in those banks. But look at the incon-
venience and hardship you put on the proprietors of shares of small banks. The
Bank of Western Canada is I think, 60 per cent controlled by the British In-
ternational Finance Company. They are being forced, under this legislation, to
divest themselves of 40 per cent of those shares over the next 10 years. For
what purpose? They are a tiny little bank.

(Translation)

Mr. CLERMONT: A supplementary question. When the provisional directors
presented their application to the Board they were informed of this restriction
and they accepted.

Mr. PorE: I agree, but I think nevertheless it makes things unnecessarily
difficult for them. They are small banks.

(English)
The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this proposal? Mr.
Clermont?

(Translation)

Mr. CLERMONT: The present Act has no limitations on percentage I believe,
and if I understand you think that it is the management or directors that are
running things now?

Mr. Popt; No, not in the large banks. Not the administrators, nor the
directors, but the employees. The General Manager the assistant General Man-
ager and all the people that come under him, not the directors. In most cases
the directors are the children of the general managers.

Mr. CLERMONT: But what change would Bill C-222 make in regard to the
10 per cent?

Mr. Pore: Nothing would change at all, nothing would be changed. I am
against it on principle only.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yesterday I was looking over the list of the directors of the
Bank of Montreal. I only know two or three of them, but your reflection that
they are children...
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Mr. PopE: They do not direct the Bank of Montreal. They are given facts and
they say yes or no. It is the general manager and the president who controls
the Bank of Montreal.

Mr. CLERMONT: What difference would the limitation bring?

Mr. PopE: They do not exert their control in the bank as ownership I assure
you.

Mr. CLERMONT: I see the difference between the limitation of 10 per cent
and no limitations as the Act really says right now. You object to the 10 per
cent limitation.

Mr. PopE: I object on principle. I think it is a restriction on the individual’s
liberty.

Mr. CLERMONT: Do you not fear to a great extent the abuse that would come
{IE)%I'? an associated group that would hold 25 to 40 percent? Or 50 per cent Or

Mr. : not afraid of that. I do not see that th.is would
happen. \ggpfén%;tagiyéhirs:;es about all sorts of possibilities about things that
never happen. : k

. : resent Act now stands, we have the case o
banknfrwlﬁgﬁRx(z:iied].s gtc;irtchei ?rom Parliament. It was controlled by Nether-
lands interest. Now it is American-controlled to the extent of 100 percent. That

is a case in point.

Mr. Popk: Is it as bad as all that? -

Mr. CLERMONT: Some people consider that this is not in the interest of
Canada.

Mr. Pope: They have deposits of 225 million dollars, that is not a very
great amount. :

The CHAlRMAN: Have we any other questions on the suggestxons_ of Mxt'
Pope? Then we can go over to his next point in regard to the rz?.ti of 1tr‘1’teres h
Do we have any questions on his ideas with regard to the rate of interest:

Mr. Pope: You mean the suggested system? - ‘

Mr. CLErMONT: Mr. Pope, if Bill C-222 were adopted as it 1s pxﬁsently,
Would you have any comments to make with regard to the rate of interes e

Mr. PopE: Ninety-one do you say? I think it is clause 91(3) establishing a
g t system. I am

i i improvement on the present s : v

for c{m:gizfe ftll'];:dc‘:r,rtl).u 11\/‘11:y ?ir:c::lall oginion is that Clause 91, as it is now drawn
Up is just a compromise.

Mr. CLERMoNT: You would prefer that the ceilin
there would be no ceiling?

Mr. PopE: Yes.

, = 26 it situation when
Mr. CrerMonT: But would this be practical in the presen

there is a lack of shortage of money, not only in Canada but throughout th(::

world? - ‘

25468—33

g be removed at once that
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Mr. Pore: Nevertheless one must not forget that the great chartered banks
know their duties to the public.

Mr. CLERMONT: I admit this, Mr. Pope, but they told us they were in
business to make a profit, Here there are no limitations. They are good citizens
but profit is very interesting.

Mr. PopE: That is my opinion, sir, I am not afraid of any injustice in this
respect.

Mr. CLERMONT: But do you think, sir, that Clause 91 in your opinion is an
improvement.

Mr. Popk: Certainly.

(English)
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Gilbert, have you a question?
Mr. GILBERT: Do you think we should define the word “interest”?

Mr. Pope: I do not understand the question. To me, the meaning of the
word “interest” is so evident that I do not understand your question, sir.

Mr. GILBERT: A great deal of our discussion has been on this question of
interest and the definition of what constitutes interest.
Mr. PopE: Really? I was not aware of this, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: Without taking too much time, in other words, Mr. Gilbert
is referring to the fact that borrowers face various charges in addition to what is
commonly referred to as interest.

Mr. PopE: I see. In other words, you are suggesting that because a law could
be passed regarding interest, then a clever lender can say, “fine; I am charging
you a bonus.”

I would merely make the comment that it would take a very ingenious
legislator to get around all the possibilities.

I have no real comment to make, sir. I still do not duite understand your
question.

Mr. GILBERT: In the present Act we have the 6 per cent ceiling.

Mr. PopE: In the Bank Act, yes.

Mr. GILBERT: Consumer loans are at 11 per cent, which includes—

Mr. PopPE: In the banking system?

Mr. GILBERT: In the banking system; if you go to the bank and you ask for a
personal loan...

Mr. PopE: A personal loan is at 11 per cent, in spite of the 6 per cent ceiling;
that is right; because of a different interpretation.

' Mr. GILBERT: That is right.
Mr. PorE: Because of legal advice that the banks have received.
Mr. GILBERT: I am asking you: Should we have a clear definition on that?

Mr. PopE: I think you are referring to the section of the Bank Act which
refers to 6 per cent interest and 6 per cent discount, and I suggest it is not
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E‘if;il}‘:ha definition of “interest”, but a definition of how to apply the discount. I
“diseo 31’2’ the whole loophole that counsel for the banks found was in the word
ok unt”, In other words, to take the simple example of borrowing $100 for
backygfgb repayable at the end of 12 mopths: Under simple interest you pay
bionn at tbe end of the year, plus $6 interest, or $106. Under discount, one
prt Svre ?tlo-n 1s'that you sign a note for $100 and if it is discounted at 6 per cent
bt ould receive $94. Then you pay back $100 at the end of the year, and
ectively, for the sake of argument, you have paid 6% per cent.

54 h'll;ltlelloophole is unde.r a }oan repayable in instalments where a $100 note of
$3.95 ac;ne.nt.s of $8.34 is signed, and instead of deducting simple interest of
inas.‘tal and giving the customer $96.75, they take off $6 from a loan repayable in
HOY bmfents and he st11_1 pays back 12 times $8.34, if it is for $100; but instead of
oy eing 6 per cent interest, or 6 per cent discount, it is actually 11 percent
ble interest.
o i1:ersonally I fgel that this is a faulty interpretation of the Act. I think the
P properly written, and I personally feel, although I am not a lawyer, that
o ay the banks are counselled is faulty, and that the Treasury Board should
e said that under the act they were breaking the law. This is my opinion.
thin I tdc_) not think it requires a good definition. You have it. It is all profit. The
Yearg TIPS up on the distinction between a note payable in full at the end of the
and one paid in 12 monthly instalments. This is where the 6 per cent jumps
up to 11 per cent.
5 '£h§ CHAIRMAN: We appear to have no further questions of Mr. Pope, and
eing the case, unless members have any further detailed questions which
ave not been—
Mr. CLeRMONT: Mr. Chairman, to support the remarks I made earlier

T : ;
Cefrird-mg foreign banks operating branches in the United States, I refer the
mittee to an article in the National Banking Review of September 1966 at

the bottom of page 2:
Between 1961 and 1965, 15 foreign banks op

The CHATRMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. Clermont.
o it -thin}: we should thank Mr. Pope for giving us the opportunity of hearing
oy e of his very stimulating views on the matters before us, particularly with
ti01113901; to the operation or non-operation of foreign exchange in the interna-
al field, as it pertains to our own banking system.

- I declare this meeting recessed until 3.45 p.m. at which
m Lafferty, Harwood & Company.

ened 23 branches in New York.

time we will hear

AFTERNOON SITTING

The CHATRMAN: I think we are in a position to resume our meeting.

e QU Witness this afternoon is Mr. R G. D. Lafferty of the firm of Lafferty,
the P(l)l(‘)d & COI}‘lpany. The firm is a member of the Montreal Stoc;k I:“.xchar}ge and
Witn iladelphia Stock Exchange. I think this introduction will mdgntlf}_f our
sub ess with respect to the area in which he deals and I would invite him to

mit his brief, ,
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I did not have a chance to tell him this before we began but, of course,
rather than present the brief verbatim, if it is lengthy I would ask him to
attempt to summarize his major points for us, following which we will have a
period of questioning and discussion, first on the points he has presented to us
through his brief and finally, if time permits, any other points the members wish
to raise. Mr. Lafferty, please.

Mr. R. D. G. LarrerTY (Lafferty, Harwood & Co.): Thank you very much,
Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman and gentlemen of the Committee, we have prepared our brief
in the belief that the wealth of this nation is being progressively dissipated by a
banking system that exploits rather than creates. This condition results from a
highly concentrated monolithic structure with interlocking interests which em-
ploys restrictive practices and prevents new initiative and enterprise from
challenging the dominant position. These restrictive influences extend into in-
dustry, to interlocking interests, to cartelized trusts similar to George Weston,
Argus Corporation, Power Corporation and certain large influential pension
plans. The dominant position of Canadian banks in the financial community
restricts the healthy growth and development of Canadian capital markets.

It is our understanding that in the United States the banks were forbidden
from engaging in corporate underwritings many years ago because of the undue
influence it gave the banks to those needing money and those financial institu-
tions which are necessarily dependent on a flow of new investments. The major
part of this underwriting operation in Canada takes place without competition or
syndicate bidding participation. It was only open to those members of what
might be termed “the financial ring”. This atmosphere, in turn, breeds in the
stock exchanges an environment which is more like Tammany Hall than that of a
well administered free enterprise exchange market.

At the same time, the provincial governments cannot exercise their juris-
diction to properly legislate security regulations when the banks play such a
major role in the community and are protected by federal legislation. As a result
of this combined power, the financial press and those acting as investment
research analysts cannot express an independent view, if this reflects on the
system, without fear of economic reprisal. As a result, the consumer and investor
is deprived of an alternate viewpoint, and through this deprivation is exploited.
The management of the chartered banks in Canada have continuously failed to
Tespect the rights of the shareholder in their financial reporting and have in
many instances deliberately misrepresented the position under the guise that
they were acting in the best interests of the public. The banks have assiduously
maintained a protective barrier of hidden reserves in which adjustments can be
made only on an annual basis and as a means to prevent the shareholders and
the market place from judging the comparative competence of their manage-
ment and operations. They have conducted themselves in total disregard of their
fiduciary responsibilities that are inherent to their occupation. They are a law
unto themselves in the marketplace, immune from the normal principles of
‘anti-trust and anti-combine legislation.

As taxpayers we are now spending millions of dollars to educate young
Canadians in a business environment where initiative, energy, enterprise and
intellectual honesty are penalized because they challenge the dominant struc-
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%11‘898- It is no wonder that Canadian business “management” is SO sterilized that
.S. corporations, disciplined by legislation which requires them to serve the
éonsun.ler, can walk into the Canadian market and run circles around most

anadian enterprises operating on their own home ground. It is not superior
:eChn‘JlOgy as such: it is planning based on initiative and enterprise, qualities
that have been driven out of the Canadian corporate life by the dominant
i::cteSI‘ESts who seek conformity and competition by the agreed division of mar-

b The submission of our brief and our appearance pefore this Committee is
ased solely on a desire to contribute to a way of life that is intellectually honest
32?_ not permeated by the pervasive influence of collusion to exploit and intimi-
ation.
Would you like us to go through the proposals we make, Mr. Chairman, or
are they proof in themselves?

be The CHAIRMAN: Well, they are in the prief and, as you know,
en—

the brief has

Mr. LamserT: Mr. Chairman, may I put a question? Which one of the

representations are we to study, the brief that was appended to the memoran-
%u'm or this completely unrelated document, it appears to me which is now
eing presented by the witness?

The point is this. Usually these summaries
are a summary of what is in the brief. Mr. Lafferty has made other observations

;Nhich are not related and, to say the least, they are challenging and I would like
o be able to go back and refer to the wording thereof, but we have not got them.

The CHAIRMAN: I think in fairness to Mr. Lafferty, it appears to me at least

that what he was putting forward was a summary of the general discussion that
‘;akes up the major part of his original brief, which has been resubmitted,
ogether with his further addendum, and I gather it led up to the specific
Proposals beginning on page 27 of the original brief, and also the further specific
Proposals in his subsequent document. Now, it is true that this method of
DPresentation creates for me, as Chairman, some problem of suggesting to the
Committee the most orderly way of considering the matter. As I say, pe?haps i1
IIJ}aced a different interpretation on MT. Lafferty’s words than you did, Mr.

ambert, but I thought he was attempting to summarize his rather detailed aqd
dgsgy argued discussion which took up, as I say, the first 26 pages or SO of his
original brief.

196 Mr. CrerMonT: Mr. Chairman, I read this document dated September 6,

b 8 at noontime and I did not notice the same thing as that which the witness

. as bringing up. I noticed there was some relation but it seemed to me there was
vast difference.

ol Mr. Larrerry: Perhaps I should explain th
B.lglnal brief was presented on the first submission
ill No. 102, and there was a date by which the submission had to be presented.

¥e submitted our brief as of that date. Subsequently a new bill was intrqduced.
he option was then up to us whether we wished to pull our original brief and
ement to the first

submit a second brief, or whether we would submit 2 suppl

that are presented beforehand

e briefs, Mr. Chairman. The
of the bill, which I think was



2232 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS January 10,1967

brief, and the document dated September, 1966, was the supplement to the first
brief. The basic theme is discussed in the original brief.

Mr. LAMBERT: That is fine. I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, but your powers of
correlation must be much greater than mine, because I find a great deal of
difficulty in correlating the summary that we have now heard with the closely
argued purposes of the original briefs. I would like to direct the discussion, if we
could, to what is before us.

The CHAIRMAN: In the brief.

Mr. LAMBERT: Yes, rather than the summary.

The CHAIRMAN: I quite agree.

Mr. LAMBERT: We have not got the summary before us.

The CHAIRMAN: I quite agree, and this has been our practice until now. I
think it could be taken that the documents which we are going to discuss and on
which we are going to question Mr. Lafferty are those which have been filed with
us pursuant to our rules. I think, therefore, what we have to decide now is the
best way to proceed, and it seems to me—and I throw this out for considera-
tion—that we might first deal with each of the specific recommendations at the
tail end of the original brief, move on from those to the specific recommendations
in the addendum that has been submitted, and we can bring in any questions we
may have on the general discussion as they appear to relate to each specific
proposal. If that does not seem to fit, then we can keep any further questions we
have as to the general discussion in the original brief, and so on, for the time that
remains after we deal with the recommendations. I say this because I presume
that what Mr. Lafferty is interested in doing in appearing before us as an
interested and involved citizen is making specific recommendations with respect
to possible legislative changes.

Now, mind you, this is a rather complex matter to attempt to divide up in
some orderly fashion. If there are some other suggestions as to how to tackle this,
I certainly would be happy to hear about them. Do I have any other suggestions
how we might go about this?

Mr. CLERMONT: Are these two briefs the same?
The CHAIRMAN: Not completely, no.

Mr. CLERMONT: I thought when we started out that the briefs were supposed
to be the same, the one that was—

The CHAIRMAN: In fairness to Mr. Lafferty, he prepared a brief with recom-
mendations based on the original bill. T presume—although I have not asked him
about this—that after considering the new bill he felt that the proposals in his
original brief still applied and he resubmitted it together with some additional
views which seem to apply more directly to the new bill. This has happened on
several occasions in the past. I think that some of the academic witnesses who
appeared before us before Christmas did the same thing.

There is a difference in numbering which we will have to deal with, but I
think the best thing we can do to get right down to the discussion and question-
ing of Mr. Lafferty on the views he wants to put forward is to decide, perhaps
arbitrarily, on some method of approach. My own suggestion to the Committee,
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unless the Cgmmittee wants to do it differently, is to deal with the specific
recommendations in turn, beginning with the ones that he submitted last year
and moving on from there to his additional ones.

Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, will the addition that Mr. Lafferty has
supplied to his 1965 brief be a résumeé?

; The CuamrMAN: I did not get that impression, Mr. Clermont. Again, in
fairness to Mr. Lafferty, I think it can be said that his additional brief is related
to the general philosophy put forward in his first brief. The points of specific
recommendations in the addendum are with respect to points not dealt with
specifically in the original brief. Have I grasped the concept correctly?

. Mr. LA‘}FFERTY: This is outlined in the first page of the second brief, explain-
ing that this was a supplement to the first.

The CHAIRMAN: If any of the points seem to overlap in the opinion of any of
the n_TLG—‘mbers, I would like the members to draw that to my attention. If not, as I
say, in the absence of some further suggestion from the Committee, I suggest
that we proceed along the lines I have outlined and invite questions firstly to the
Proposal on page 27, wherein it refers to section 19, which is now section 18. I
think that is an orderly way to proceed. Mr. Lafferty sets out the proposal and
then gives the purpose, as he sees i, behind this proposal, and I invite the
members to place any questions they have on this specific proposal.

Mr. LAMBERT: Why do you make your first proposal?

osophic treatise behind this whole presenta-
of the growth or
do have interlock-

" Mr. LAFFERTY: There is a phil p
dlonal brief. The banks have contributed to a suppression
development of free enterprise economy in Canada, and as we
ing interests in Canada—you may not believe this, Mr. Lambert.

Mr. Lampert: I certainly disagree with you entirely there.

Mr. Larrerry: This is your privilege. It is equally my privilege to o
otherwise.

Mr. LAMBERT: Quite right.
N. Mr. LAFFERTY: This is the purpos i

rship, you have a transgression of a fiduciary capacity.

Mr. LAMBERT: Even between, say, an insurance comp

Mr. LAFFERTY: Sure you do.

Mr. LamBErT: Or an investment dealer?

Mr. LarrerTy: And a bank? Sure you do. Or a banker acting s & dligsetos, o

another corporation. He is using information available to him from his position
tomers, service and other corporate

In the bank which is derived from other cus
structures.

Mr. LamsgerT: Well, it is your view. That is all I can say for it.

i3 The CuamrmaN: Do we have further questions on this specific proposal? Mr.
aflamme?

er to the proposed Bill No.

Oug Mr. LarLavMe: I suggest that when you ref_ :
=222 you see some proposed articles which deal with your first suggestion that

there should be a restriction?

e. Where you have an interlocking direc-

any and a bank?
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Mr. LAFFERTY: That is correct, yes.

Mr. LarLaMME: Do you really think that the proposed legislation gives some
relief?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It gives some relief but not complete relief.
Mr. LarLAMME: What would complete relief be?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No banker nor any officer of a bank would be authorized or
could accept an appointment as a director of any outside corporation, whether
resident or non-resident.

The CHAIRMAN: At the moment we are dealing with financial institutions.
You have another heading with regard to the other types of corporations. For the
moment, let us get your views on whether or not you feel what is in the present
proposed act receives your approval with respect to the eligibility of bank
directors to serve on boards of other financial institutions.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I believe there should be complete separation. There is a
confliction between institutions and interests from a competitive viewpoint.

Mr. LarLAMME: You state that the proposed law does not go far enough.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is not complete. It recognizes part of the principle. To
recognize part of the principle is compromise, rather than the real principle.

Mr. LarLAMME: In itself, what is wrong with being, let us say, a director of
a bank and also being a director of a trust company, which does not in any sense
control the bank?

Mr. LAFFERTY: You are accepting deposits at both banks; you are serving
different customers; you are using your knowledge of one either for the advan-
tage or disadvantage of the other. The whole theme of our submission was that
we lacked competitive enterprise in Canada because we have an interlocking
relationship of accommodation on the cartelization of markets, and it we were
going to compete on a free enterprise basis with the United States economy and
world economies we must similarly go into the same type of structures.

Mr. LAFLAMME: May I refer to page 2 of the supplement to the brief you
have given us. In the last paragraph you say:

Nearly every investment dealer is dependent on a bank for financial
accommodation in order to carry his bond inventory.

Is there anything wrong with this?

: Mr. LAFFERTY; Not at all, as long as this is not used as a point of coercion
over the investment dealer. But you can carry this a little further. Once you
come to this question of the whole underwriting business and the fact that the
dealer is dependent on the bank for accommodation, if he does not acquiesce or
conform to the convenience of the bank, then he is subject to what I should
term economic reprisals, and he has no alternative choice as long as there is an
association amongst the banks and the banks are not functioning on a competi-
tive basis.
The CHAIRMAN: Have you finished, Mr. Laflamme?

; Mr. LAMBERT: As a supplementary question, is it not a fair proposition,
though, that if you borrow money from a bank the bank should perhaps have the

|
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;‘éﬁ?ttto SUperVi.se your operations with other people’s money which they have
do 0 you, of if an investment dealer gets a half million dollar line of credit
es hg then get carte blanche to do as he sees §it? Is this the general principle of
operating business?
haVeL:cI}I;. L{\FFERTY: No. I.f it were then, conversely, the depositor in a bank would
iy e }flght to supervise the management of those assets. A bank has a right to
ake a line of credit but not to supervise its use. It has a right to ask the pur-
gﬁie and to ensure that the agreement which was undertaken is fully worked

Withlv'f}r{ LAMBEl?T: But the depositor h.:as the righif to do that. If he is not satisfied

bank e qpe_ratlons of the bank he withdraws his money, the same way that a

nk, if 1t_ is not satisfied with the operations of an investment dealer, it

withdraws its line of credit.

s é\I.r. LAFFERTY: Fine, as long as the bank gives a reasonably sound reason
oing so, but if it does it just for vexatious purposes—

& M_r. LAMBERT: You used the term “vexatious”. Those are pretty wide-
a eeping terms, I think, Mr. Lafferty. I think we must have proof that this is
ir:’nl_?- Yop have used some rather wide-sweeping terms this afternoon, obviously
In sincerity, based upon your judgment and your knowledge of financial affairs
in Montreal, but we would like to see a little proof of that.

s. I do not have the right to either
do I have the right to subpoena any
ssion of viewpoint. I have been

Suber' LAFFERTY: The position is thi
o oena thg records of any bank, nor
— nesses. M_me is merely an individual’s expre
plIDOSed to circumstances under which this takes place. A recent example took
I ace on the west coast, where a line of credit had been granted to extend until

uly of next year. It was called in August when money was extremely tight.
Where.was no reason for it being called, it was a legitimate loan, it was a natural

0od industry, lumber, properly secured and the people had been in business 16

gIEars, This was called. Now, the motives of the bank were never disclosed. This
S the way this occurs. This had the effect of throwing 200 people out of
petitor behind the scenes who was

?rfIPIOYment. Now, whether there was a com
kl;llen'dly with the bank and who sought to force him out of business, I do not
ow, but they could not go to any other bank and get alternative accommoda~-

tion. This takes place.

shid t1\_/Ir. LAMBERT: Yes, but we have seen the

i ime again when there is a general operatio

<5 er sources, too. Surely to goodness an impro
every credit restriction.

i l\élr. LarrerTY: No, I do not suggest there is,
Bt anking system. There has been a great deal of :
ank, but they have done a great deal more up here to contribute to free
entreprise and proper banking than we have ever had before. You have the
C ercantile Bank and they give a line of credit and you get it in writing. Most
anadian banks will not give it in writing nor by word of mouth. They may
Want to change their position, and they either change the manager or they
CBhange their tune and they produce nothing in writing; whereas the Mercantile
ank will produce something in writing; a year’s term loan, five years, basis of

restriction of credit operate time
n. There is a general operation in
per motive cannot be attributed

but I suggest you look into the
criticism of the Mercantile
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repayment, terms, how it should be handled, their right to see the books, their
right to see the operation of the company to whom the loan is being made. Then
you have a document, you have an agreement between the borrower and the
lender, but this is not so in most of the Canadian system.

Mr. LamBerT: Well, Mr. Lafferty, from personal experience I can cite you
an example where the bank you cite right now as a paragon of virtue in this
regard pulled the rug right out from under an operation and put it into bank-
ruptey, entailing bankruptcies all along the line.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am not talking about one bank or another. All I am sug-
gesting is that the legislators should provide principles whereby I, as a citizen or
consumer, has a right to an alternate choice or I am protected against this.

Mr. LAMBERT: If you read the American financial press you will see that
they have a great deal of tight money down there. I have not seen any difference
between the United States and Canada when it comes to that. You are saying
that the independent banking system in the United States is preferable to the
Canadian branch banking system because apparently it is more competitive. I
think at the present time its only distinction is that it is more competitive in
being tight. I disagree with Mr. Lafferty there.

The CHAIRMAN: The next name I have is Mr. Cameron, followed by Mr.
McLean, Mr. Flemming and Mr. Clermont.

Right now, as I said, we are trying to keep our questioning to Mr. Lafferty’s
proposal that no one should be a director of a bank if he is already a director of
another financial institution. Perhaps we might deal with the point as to in what
areas the proposals of the present law do not meet his suggestions. Someone may
want to do this at some point.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Lafferty, I think the
purpose of your recommendation is to prevent or, perhaps, undo what you feel is
an undue concentration of financial power at the present time. The question in
my mind is would your suggestion or, as a matter of fact, the'proposals in the bill
before us really have this effect? Will we not be doing something legislatively
and imagining that we are setting up the safequards you speak of and really not
be accomplishing something?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think you would be contributing. I do not think you would
achieve the ultimate purpose, no. This present legislation has evolved over many
years. It is an adaptation of a system from the other side, but wide preventa-
tives that might help contribute to a gradual competitive environment—

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Do you really think that
the existence of bank directors on boards of other banking institutions is a
necessary tool for exercising this monopolistic power? Would it not be done
without that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It would be more difficult.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): You think it would be
more difficult?

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is no question about it. You would not have somebody
else’s statement of financial figures available to you which you could bargain
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off to somebody else who had a quid pro quo in a mutual area and the ad-
vantage you wanted was somebody else’s, who was a competitor of yours. It
gives you bargaining power.

_Mr. CAMERON (N anaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Then in what way do you
consider the proposed amendment to the Bank Act falls short of this?

Mr. LarrerTy: It does it completely all the way. It recognizes the principle
but it does not go all the way.

 Mr. CameRoN (N anaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): It eliminates interlocking
directorates in banks and trust companies and loan companies.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It reduces, I think, to a proportion of one being on the other.
Mr. CAMERON (N anaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes.

Mr. Mogrg: I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if Mr. Lafferty could use the micro-
phone? We cannot hear him when he speaks in that direction.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am sorry. It is my fault.
The CHATRMAN: If you would just pull the microphone a little closer.
Mr. CAMERON ( Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I think your objective is

possibly quite desirable but I am just wondering whether it is practical.

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is nothing impractical about it. It is a simple stroke of
the pen.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan—The Islands): Yes, I know, but we might

be deceiving ourselves in thinking that we have a safeguard, that we have done
something, and actually find that we have not.
. Mr. LarrFerTy: There is no advantage to the present relation§hip other than
it provides a channel of communication. Each should stand on their own f_eet and
deYelpp their own institutions and their own operations pased on internal
principles rather than imitating, copying or borrowing from eagh other or
exchanging with each other. Then you have a competitive environment of
initiative and ideas. You then have a creative process.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yet in other fields we find
collb}slon, shall we say, taking place, do we not, without the existence of inter-
locking directorates?

_Mr. LarFerTY: This is because we do not have strong enough anti-trust and
anti-combine legislation in Canada.

- M}‘- CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): We have the Combines
nvestigation Act, which is rather—

. Mr. LarrerTY: It is not strong enough. It did not prevent Canadian Brew-
eries from putting all the breweries together.

. Mr. CameroN (N anaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): No. I do not know whg’ch-
er it can do so. It is very dubious, mind you, whether we are really accomplish-
ng much by doing this.
th Mr. Larrerty: 1 think it has been the principle of the United States’ system

at one has achieved a freedom to the consumer of avoiding this collusion an

this cartelization, and therefore you provide a range of choice to the consumer.
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I think if you related this to the U.S. economy you would find it has more
vitality than ours. It provides a foundation for new initiative, stimulation and
free enterprise, which are principles of competition by new ideas.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Those are all the ques-
tions I have now. I was just making a point, Mr. Lafferty. I am more interested
in your second proposal with regard to directors of other corporations.

The CHAIRMAN: I now want to recognize Mr. McLean, followed by Mr:
Flemming, Mr. Clermont and Mr. Lind.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): You do not believe that a director of a bank
should be a director of an insurance company?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I do not. In the brief, I think, there is one example cited
where there are four bank directors sitting on an insurance board which controls
a trust company, or a large position in the trust company.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): I believe you gave us to understand that you
think the banking system in the United States in preferable to ours.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, I think it is.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): Do you remember something which took place a
little over 30 years ago when every bank in the United States was closed? Do
you remember that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not remember it but I am aware of it.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It is a fact, is it not?
Mr. LAFrFERTY: Certainly, I am aware of it.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): Now, they have interlocking directors in the
United States in the banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is legislation in this area.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Do they not have interlocking directors? I have
read the list of directors and they say they are directors of th1s and directors of
that.

Mr. LAFFERTY: They are directors but not of two financial institutions.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Well, I do not know about financial institutions.
Maybe they are not directors of two banks but they certainly have interlocking
directors in the United States.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes. You will find the president of General Motors on the
board of some bank.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Yes. Now, you favour the Mercantile Bank coming
in here?
Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I do not favour. This was not the word I used.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I took from the brief that you favoured some-
thing like that, foreign banks coming in here.
Mr. LAFFERTY: This comes later in the brief. I see your point there.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte) Yes, If they have interlocking directors there and
the bank comes in here, it is owned in the United States.
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Mr. FLEMMING: Speaking about the American system, for instance, which is
a multiplicity of small banks rather than our system of larger banks, is it not
true that in many instances they own their trust companies holus-holus?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I do not think so. I think that in the majority of the
states the banks can undertake trust activities which we cannot do up here.

Mr. FLEMMING: Do they have federal regulations governing their activities
in this respect or is it entirely state, or is it both?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, banks can function in the capacity of trust accounts.

The CHAIRMAN: It was my understanding, Mr. Flemming, that there are no
regulations in the United States specifically banning the interlocking directorates
of financial institutions even to the extent that the government is proposing in
this bill. What is your comment on that, Mr. Lafferty?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I understand there is, Mr. Chairman. It may vary from one |

state to another. I looked it up when we prepared the original brief and found a
reference on how it was established, but surely someone from the Department of
Finance could check that.

Mr. FLEMMING: I can see an objection to a man being a director of a bank
and being a director of other business activities. I think I could follow that all
right, but I fail to see—certainly to the same extent that you do, Mr. Laffer-
ty,—the great objection to the same man being a director of two banks.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Because then they decide to work in one direction together to
achieve certain results.

The CHAIRMAN: Of course, we should remember that the proposed legisla-
tion which we are really considering would prevent interlocking directorates of
banks and trust companies, and also with respect to banks and other com-
panies beyond a certain proportion. I gather, Mr. Lafferty, that you propose this
be extended to any financial institution, as you define it in your brief?

Mr. LAarrFeRTY: I defined the financial institutions, yes.

(Translation)
Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, I refer to page 27 of the brief, and I quote:

(English)
“In banking and finance two masters cannot be reliably served at the
same time. There are conflicting interests involved. The shareholder has
the right of undivided interest from the directors of his bank”.

(Translation)

Although I read in reference to Bill C-222, Section 19, that the directors are
elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. Would you make
comments in that regard? If shareholders have the right to choose their direc-

tors—

(English)
Is the translation not coming through, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. LAFFERTY: I had the wrong plug on, pardon me.

Oy
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Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Laffert i i
g A y, according to page 97 of your brief the share-
holders should have the right to ’choose their directors.

Mr. LAFFERTY: In principle.
Mr. CLERMONT: Do they have that right?
Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes.

he mMrI; CLERMOI\‘TT: And they know if they nominate and appoint so and so that
ight be president of Alcan or the CPR or another finance company?

st HNIIerz;,nIAAF;EFFRTY: Yes, they have the right; but, in practice, they do not have
- s of judgment, firstly, because the reports which are presented to them
s a(:mplete and do not state accurately what the bank’s affairs have been
manage e p'flst year; therefore, they cannot make any judgment about the
e thi nment {tself. Secondly, they are not usually given any prior background
Biorcilhs ewhdlrector, on the man you are now proposing as a nominee for the
ey or the next year. In principle, they have the right to dissent, but in
ctice they have very little power.
& t}}fréCLll:RMONT: Yesterday, or the day before, I referred to the annual report
e faln of Montreal. I looked at the list of directors. I doubt very much if
y of the shareholders will not know the gentlemen who were nominated.

pictlffr' LarrErTY: They will know them by name and they will see their

s e§ in the papers I guess, yes. They do not know about their business
rests, or what their background is.

knove/[r. CLERMONT: They might not know all their connections, but they will

indust:;me of them because these are people known in financial circles and in

Mr. LaFFERTY: They are known figures in financial circles, but the financial

circles are not all the shareholders.

Mr. CLerMoNT: Mr. Chai i

2 3 jrman, at page 1 of his

Whoever prepared it, says:

For many years the view has be
bankers and other prominent persons
system in the world. We suggest that, before the Committee accepts this
view, they obtain the opinion of authoritative people in the Federal

i Reserve System of the United States and other prominent bankers—

the s0 on. According to this brief the American banking system is the best in

Engl‘_l?VﬁStern _World, although this morning another witness claimed that the
sh banking system was the best in the world.

Mr. LarreRTY: Then you have a division of viewpoints.
to this Committee con=

brief, Mr. Lafferty, or

en publicly expressed by Canadian
that Canada has the finest banking

Mr. C : , : .
cos r. CLERMONT: Have you any information to give
ing these remarks?

mitti\’ér. L"‘FFEWFYI.The thought here, Mr. Clermont, was that, before the Com-~-
1egisla3c' or the legislators, made any judgment, perhaps the yvhole, over-all
with thlo% would come into better perspective if they familiarized themselves
to haVee S system. The contention was supported that the U.S. system tended

254ss_a4 more efficient operation, because if you look at the product1v1ty of the
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United States in relation to its gross national product and other matters you find
it is a more efficient economy than the Canadian economy. Now, there must be
some basic reasoning on why that is.

Mr. CLERMONT: But do you not think that our Canadian banking system has
some merit, too? One of our Canadian banks, I understand, is the fourth largest
in North America, and one or two more are within the twenty-five biggest in
North America.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is a misconception that size is necessarily efficiency. The
largest size of government is not necessarily the most efficient government.

Mr. CLERMONT: That is your opinion.
Mr. LAFFERTY: This is my opinion.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you not think, Mr. Lafferty, that asking the opinion of
United States bankers and members of the federal reserve system is what is
known in legal circles as self-serving evidence?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It may well be called that, if you ask me, but I do not know. I
think that you would be broadening the understanding of what the differences
between the two systems were, and what the merits of the various aspects were.

(Translation)

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions, Mr. Clermont, in this regard?
(English)

Mr. CLERMONT: No, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lind?

Mr. Linp: What I would like to say regarding the interlocking directorates
has reference to the statement at the bottom of page 2 which says: '

The one exception is that the service accorded to a customer is graduated,
depending on his importance to the bank in the over-all scheme of things.
Friends of the bank, that is to say friends of the hierarchy, receive special
accommodation, special rates and special favours.

What proof have you that this practice exists? I would assume that you are
referring here to directors receiving special accommodation from banks, and

special rates.

Mr. LArrFERTY: I have no proof. As I said before, I have no right to subpoena
either witnesses or evidence. I think those who live in the financial community
are reasonably aware that this is so.

The CHAIRMAN: On what do you base your comment? Did you just dream it
one night?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No; as I say, those who live in the financial community are
aware of these things.

The CHAIRMAN: Could you tell us a little more about this? It would be very
useful to us to have more information on the basis. ‘

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, I mentioned in my original, opening notes these large,
cartelized trusts, such as Argus Corporation, and other companies. These do not
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come out of the normal scheme of things. This is through the assistance of
I’arlous banking institutions. I do not know whether you gentlemen have ever
ooked at the balance sheet or annual statement of Argus Corporation, at the
extent to which it dominates Canadian corporate life and industty, and the
extent of the equity capital and how small it is, and how much of Canadian
savings are in the debt, and the basis of capitalization tor the benefit of those
Wh? operate the corporation. I do not know how far you have gone in ‘this
legislation; but this has been a major factor in the corporate and financial life of
this country.

The CHAIRMAN: But, Mr. Lafferty, you are leaving inferences of malfeas-
ance, or evil intent, or evil conduct, in your brief. Perhaps I have drawn that
inference and it may be that others have, as well. I think that it would be very
useful for the Committee to have some indication of the basis on which you make
this type of comment.

Mr. LarrerTy: All I can relate it to, Mr. Chairman, is that these are views
that I hold after some exposure to the financial community. I am not in a position

that T can undertake to prosecute my views. I have not the staff to do it, nor have

I the right, or the access, or the authority to get the information I would need to
ithout some conviction or belief that

do so. I would not express the views Wi ; _
it took place. You may not believe my views; that is your choice.

1 The CHAIRMAN: Well, I am not saying whether I believe them or not at this
oint. ; it ' a

Mr. LarrerTY: It is your function to investigate whether they have validity,

or not, using the powers and the authority that you have to do so. :

The CuATRMAN: But, look here, it is @ basic principle of Canadian justice

that he who asserts must prove; that is how you start off—

Mr. LarFerTY: I have expressed a viewpoint; I cannot ‘prove 1
say, having access to the books and calling witnesses. - { i

The CHAIRMAN: But what concerns me is that I gather from your brief that
you are doing more than expressing views. You are stating things as facts and T
got the impression, from a study of your brief, that when you did appear here
Yyou would be able to back them up with facts and figures. I was looking forward
to the opportunity of getting the facts behind these assertions which I took to be

more than expressions of opinion, but as statements which could be supported.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No; they are based, I think, on a reasqnable knowledge of
What takes place.
The CHarRMAN: Well, give us the benefit of this knowledge. .

_ Mr. LarrFerTy: I cannot do this without implicating.people. I do not have the
right to implicate them. The whole theme of the brief is that the system creates
these conditions—that is, the nature of the 1egislation. ,

ed to us as part of our

The CratrMaN: Well, of course, this brief is present !
Proceedings, and it is available to be read by all sorts of people. I think those
who are interested in the subject should have the benefit of knowing on what

You base these statements.

Mr. LarrerTy: I have just expl
2546843

t without, as T

ained it to the extent that I'can.
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Mr. Linp: Mr. Chairman, may I continue with my questioning?
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. Linp: In your statement you say that customers are graded, depending
on their importance to the bank in the over-all scheme of things. Are you saying
that there are different levels of loans, or loans made to certain people at various
beneficial interest rates?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Sure.

Mr. Linp: From perhaps, 44, as we heard about this morning—which was
quite an eye-opener—up to 6 per cent?

Mr. LAFFERTY: The more important a customer is, or the more influence he
may have with the bank, the more favoured treatment he is likely to receive.

Mr. Linp: I understand that you are in the bond business; is that right?
Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I am not; I am a financial analyst.

Mr. Linp: Without giving names, can you point out to us any of
these—various rates of interest and where they would apply? Is there an
over-all position where, say, taking it in the broad sense, the government of
Canada would borrow at the cheapest rate, the province of Ontario may be the
second, or the province of Quebec, or vice-versa, then a municipality, and then
an institution like Argus Corporation—which you mentioned has a very
preferential rate—and could you give us the various rates.

Is this due to interlocking directorates? This is what I am going to try to tie
down. .

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not know whether this would perhaps explain it any
more clearly. I, in my original notes, introduced this question of underwriting.
Underwriting, as you know, is the financing of capital for a corporation.

Take one of the major corporations, such as Bell Telephone. Its underwrit-
ing is not on a competitive bases. One of the major banks, with one of the major
dealers, agrees with the company what price the company will pay for the
money. This is not on a competitive syndicate or competitive-bidding basis. In
this particular issue the original price paid to the chartered bank, or the banking
member, was $98; it went to the banking group member at a price of $98.25;
then it went from that group to the selling group members at $98.65; it went to
the casual dealers and sub-agents at $99.15. it went to retail and exempt
institutions at $99.40. The total cost to the corporation was $1.40.

A similar underwriting of A.T. & T. in the United States on August 1; 5%;
$250 million; the underwriting discount was 78 cents.

Mr. Linp: How much?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It was 78 cents.

Mr. Linp: Seventy-eight cents, and this was $1.40.

Mr. LAFFERTY: In this particular thing there was no syndicate bidding; there
was no competition; it was an agreed division. All I am suggesting is that life
would be much healthier in the financial market if these were, in principle, on a
competitive basis. This is dealing with principles rather than dealing in other
people’s affairs and things of this nature, which certainly is not in my area.
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ai Mr. More (Regina City): You say this is because there are interlocking
irectors between Bell Telephone and the bank?

Mr. LArrFerTY: Well, obviously; why does the Bell Telephone go to any one
group? Why do they not say, “fine; we will accept syndicates from every group.
Come_m, form a syndicate and make a bid. We want $30 million cash. Come in
and bid in the marketplace, and what you can find, invest in it, or find where you
can place those bonds.”

The CuHAIRMAN: Are the interlocking directorates in this case between Bell
Telephone, their banking connection and the underwriter?

'Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes; but not to the underwriter. The underwriter is an
affiliate underwriting the bank concerned.

The CHAmRMAN: What did you say? The underwriter is what?
Mr. LArrFerTY: Is the affiliate underwriter of the bank concerned.

The CHAIRMAN: What do you mean by “affiliate”?

Mr. LarrerTY: If you leaf through the brief you will find t.ha't the three
Canadian banks which control 70 per cent of the assets dovetail into the three
major trust companies. There are also three major underwriters who interrelate
to the trust companies and the branch.

The CHATRMAN: The branch interrelate

: s? You mean they have interrelated
directors. ;

Mr. LAFFERTY: No; they have business relationships.
The CHATRMAN: Business relationships?

Mr. LAFFERTY: They normally are centred in the same buildings, and they
normally work as partners in their financial activities.

~ Mr. More (Regina City): What is the extent of the interloqking director-
ship between Bell and the bank concerned? You must have studied it to make
the assertion.

Mr. LarrerTy: To a sufficient extent, sir.
mit orderly

The CHAIRMAN: Actually this is a separate proposal, and to perm
considenabion of this matter: L think, we should, atfue moment, stick to the
Proposal to ban interlocking directorates of financial institutions, in which I
think we can include underwriters to some extent. However, 1f' we are going
to talk about banks and other types of business enterprises I think we should
80 on to the specific proposal in that connection.

Do you have a further question, Mr. More? I am sorry, Mr. Lind. Perhaps

You were not finished. _
Mr. Linp: This is perhaps a further question that Mr. Lafferty has brought
170 per cent of the assets of our

%z’ dealing with the three banks which contro
nking system. He makes this statement on page 3-

Is this due to interlocking directorates, too?

. Mr. LarrgrTy: I would say it has, over the years,
e accumulations have resulted from this type of interloc

resulted from this, yes.
king relationship, yes.
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Mr. CamEeRrON ( Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Interlocking directorates
with what type of enterprise other than banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Corporate enterprises.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes; I mean manufactur-
ing; not necessarily other financial institutions.
"~ Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh, no; manufacturing, transportation.

Mr. Linp: Then how much do you consider that our monetary system is
controlled by the whole banking system, the chartered banks—the eight
chartered banks, now the ten chartered banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: The monetary system is controlled by the central banking
system.

Mr. LiND: Yes I realize that.

An hon. MEMBER: You mean the total deposits?

Mr. Linp: The total deposits in the ten chartered banks.

Mr. LAFFERTY I am sorry; I do not follow the reasoning behind that.

Mr. LIND To control our monetary system, or the total, you would have to
control deposits.

Mr. LAFrFERTY: Deposits would be in one bank or the other, would they not?

Mr. Linp: Not necessarily; they could be in trust companies, loan companies,
caisse populaires or credit unions.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes; but in most cases that would flow back into the banking
system.

Mr. Linp: Is it your opinion that due to these interlocking directorates, they
control more than 70 per cent of the monetary system.

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is a contribution that has occurred over a period of
many years. Their contribution as directors of various corporations has enabled
these particular three banks to establish the strong position they have.

Mr. Linp: You are just referring to the three banks versus the other five
banks; they control the 70 per cent of the deposits within the banking system. 1
am referring here to the third paragraph on page three of your brief where you
say that three Canadian chartered banks control 70 per cent of the assets of the
Canadian chartered banking system.

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is a factual statement.
The CHAIRMAN: We have had this information. before.

Mr. Linp: How much do these three chartered banks control of the total
assets of our banking system, including the near-banks and loan companies.
Have you any idea on that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Of the combined assets of the entire banking system—that
is, the chartered banking system—they control 70 per cent.

The CHAIRMAN: I think that earlier it was suggested that if you take the
other financial institutions, the trust and loan companies, the caisse populaires
and so on, it comes down to 50 per cent; if you include general pension funds,
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life i : . :

hai;nsllllrance companies, general insurance companies and so on, the banks
e alleged that they get down to 93 per cent. We may want to look into that
again further. iaarra

On Do you have further questions, Mr. Lind? Are there ahy further questions
on proposal number one?

Othei\/[éil aGIIfBER_T: _Mr.'Lafferty, your restriction is with regard to directors of
fafiad 0nc1a1 institutions. If you look at the composition of directors of banks
A :5131’ u would find that thgy are mostly representatives of business. It has
e ggested to the Committee that there be government—appointment of

ors from other groups, such as the trade unions, co-operatives and consum-

er fogs : ;
associations, to make it more representative. What do you think of that idea.

the el\xlffé LA?‘FE{RTS{: I think it is accepted in principle ‘tha't the bank, or whatever
” electrprlse is, is owned by the shgreholders. In principle, they have the right
interie whomever they wish as directors. The Government has no right to
P f:;—‘ in the operation of the enterprise. 1 suppose what you mean is legisla-
Bt tat the others can make representations to the shareholders by suggest-
N at could b_e done for those banks, or what could be done for those

olders; but it is beyond the prerogative of the governmept to intervene

directly and place or appoint its own directors on these institutions. = "~

s Mr. CAl_vaoN (N anaimo-Cowichan—The Islands): Has the government

r done this since we have had the Bank Act?
Mr. LAFFERTY: Not to my knowledge.

the Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands
operations of the banking business.

is goMr. LAFFERTY: They have intervened in the reg
verned by the legislation which you people pass.
Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan—The Islands): Is there not also a certain

amount of intervention, or possible intervention by the Inspector General with

T

egard to the categories of loans.
Mr. Laprerry: Sure; I think this is just within' the—

te Mr_- CAMERON ( Nanai'mo—COwichan—The Islands): There is government in-
Tvention in the operation.

infl Mr. LAFFERTY: There is government influence,
uence right through our lives.

ands): Yes, but intervention, 1

s Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan—The Isl

): They have intervened in

lation of the panks, but this

yes. There is government

Mr. LarrerTY: All right, government intervention. I do not think the In-
hould increase

?fsecl;‘gr. General could actually stipulate whether or not 2 bank s

legis] Sl:ﬁlon in one industry or decrease its position 11t another, unless he has

thinkahmn to back him up. Whether he has any authority, .I do not know. I do pot

right e has, within the Bank Act. He might make no misuse, OF his persuasion
be sufficient, but would the banks comply?

thiat l\l/fr- CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan—The Islands): We have had evidence
e does something more than just make his position known. He calls the

b )
ank’s attention to any imbalance.
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Mr. LAFFERTY: But I do not think he has the authority to do that under the
Bank Act, has he?

The CHAIRMAN: I think that probably arises out of his responsibility to
prevent the banks from going into a position of insolvency.

Mr. AppisoN: The point of this is that if the large trade unions take pgsitions
as large shareholders of Canadian banks then certainly they will be entitled to
representation on the board, if they can hold enough shares.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Would you not say that the other shareholders should vote
them into that position?

Mr. AppisoN: That is right. But they have a legitimate avenue to have
people on the board.

Mr, GILBERT: Is the composition of the present boards of directors of banks
representative of the shareholders?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, not in terms of majority.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps we could move on to Mr. Lafferty’s second
proposal, a very interesting one, also on page 27.

Do you have any questions or comments on that one?

No shareholder shall serve as a director if he is also a member of the
House of Commons or the Senate in Ottawa, or an elected member of a
Provincial legislature.

Mr. Lafferty goes on, under the heading “Purpose,” to explain why he makes this
proposal.

Mr. CLERMONT: This does not concern Mr. Lafferty at all, but I will take the
occasion to mention that I understand that a Mr. Gaston Clermont was, or is, a
director of the National Bank. If that is the case, it is not Mr. Gaston Clermont,
member for Labelle.

The CHAIRMAN: Because of your knowledgeable questions it would not have
seemed— :

Mr. CLERMONT: I think this is the proper place in this brief to mention it,
because I have been asked: “Are you a director of a bank?” I would have been
very surprised to find out that I was a director!

The CHAIRMAN: So you want to place this on the record.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes; then the record is straight.

The CHAIRMAN: Any further questions on this second proposal.

Mr. LAMBERT: Why would you disable, or disqualify, a member of a provin-
cial legislature, since provincial governments have no control over a federal
bank? Why disqualify a member of a legislature, who is not a cabinet minis-
ter—on even if he is—who has no control over them? I can see it, if you are a
member of the cabinet of the government of Canada, but why should a member
of parliament be a second class citizen in his investments.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is not a question of being a second class citizen in his
investments. It is just a question of whether you should have a politically
influenced leader in that institution—whether it is desirable or not for the
remainder of the shareholders.
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Mr. LAMBERT: Would this disentitle him to be a director of a major
commercial organization that has, shall we say, a very wide influence in the
country?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes: in one case you are, as an elected representative, serv_ing
a constituency and the people you are elected to represent. When you are acting
as a director of a bank you are no longer serving those specific interests, and I
would say that there would probably be a conflict is what your interests were.

Mr. LAMBERT: But would there be any greater conflict than if a member of
barliament were a director of Imperial Oil?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think it would be undesirable. I do not think a member of
parliament should be connected with any Canadian corporation

Mr. LAMBERT: Even his own business?
Mr. LAFFERTY: A private corporation is fine.

Mr. LAMBERT: He may be the controlling officer of a public corporation that
he organized himself. Do you think this is wrong?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, I do.
Mr. LAMBERT: Oh, Mr. Lafferty; no matter what the times?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am known as a purist in this business, and I think it is
better to keep things in their areas.

Mr. LAMBERT: You mean that you would accept the concept that a person
could be a director of a private corporation with assets of a billion dollars, but
gould not be a director of a public corporation with assets of fifty thousand

ollars.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not think that is a realistic question because other than
General Motors I do not think that we have private corporations in Canada with
assets of a billion dollars.

~ Mr. LaMBeRT: I know; but you have already told us that you are dealing
With this in principle.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, in principle. Now the question arises whether a private
Corporation when it reaches a certain size where it has an influence on the
€conomy, should be a public corporation and exposed to public examination and
Public scrutiny.

Mr. LAMBERT: I think that is another very valid point.

Mr. LAFFERTY: But if it is a small private corporation, within the constitggn-
Cy of an elected member, and he happenes to move from his business position
and decide to run on a political platform, and is elected, I do not think we have
reached the stage yet where he should have to divest himself completely of all
his financial interests.

The CHAIRMAN: Of course, it is one of our rules now that where legislation
applies specifically to something a member is interested in, other than of general
application to the community at large, he must declare his interest and not vote.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think that is sound.
The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this proposal?
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I am wondering to what extent—this was also suggested by Mr. Lambert
—you think a private member—and I stress “private”’—of the House of Com-
mons is really in a position to misuse his position if he happened to be a member
of the board of directors of a chartered bank.

Mr. LAFFERTY: He is in a position to obtain information, either directly or
indirectly, which I think is an abuse of his position.

The CHAIRMAN: What type of information are you referring to?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Either intended government policy, intended legislation, or
from various government departments, through his position of influence within
the legislature itself.

The CHAIRMAN: You seem to place the position of a private member of
parliament above that—

Mr, LAMBERT: You are suggesting a lot more than a government back-
bencher—

Mr. LAFLAMME: You are over-stating the power of the back-bencher.

The CHAIRMAN: If there are no further questions on this interesting propo-
sal, let us go on to the next one at the top of page 28.

I will read it:

No officer of a Canadian Chartered Bank shall serve as a director of any
corporation, whether resident or non-resident in Canada, so long as he is
an officer of the bank.

Any questions on this proposal?

Mr. LAMBERT: Do you mean that an officer of a Canadian chartered bank
could not be a director of a corporation such as RoyNat, as it now exists?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Perhaps you would turn to page 6 of the brief where we
outline the directorates that an officer of one bank holds. It is my contention that
if he is serving the bank and is paid a salary by the shareholders his function
should be to look after their interests. It is my contention that he cannot apply
himself to the interests to these shareholders if he is involved in so many other
affairs.

w

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, on pages 6 and 7 you list business firms such
as The Ogilvie Flour Mills Co. Ltd., Canadian Pacific Railway Co., but then you
go on and you refer to such institutions as the Montreal Boys’ Association; the
Seigniory Club Community Association Ltd.; the Canadian Council, Interna-
tional Chamber of Commerce; the Canada Council; the National Industrial
Conference Board; The Royal Empire Society; Canadian General Council, The
Boy Scouts of Canada; Member of Metropolitan Board of Directors Y.M.C.A.
(Montreal) ; Canadian Cancer Society; Rehabilitation Institute of Montreal; The
Red Cross Society; Health League of Canada; and so on.

Are you suggesting that an officer of a chartered bank should not be able to
undertake service in charitable or community organizations?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I am not; I am suggesting that it should be related to
Boards of Directors.
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The CHAIRMAN: But you have listed all these.
Mr. LAFFERTY: Merely to show the range of activities.

The CHAIRMAN: You i i
off z are nqt suggesting that there is anything wron with an
cer of a chartered bank serving on the board of the boy scouts, are yogu?

I\II- LAFFERTY' NO I am y ¥
. ] nOt MI’. G‘ra o but I Suggest that he can
‘ % pat ’ nOt reall dO
Sollable Jo'b on all theSe actlv].ties. In the Context Of thiS particular area I

think ; :
hink it talks in terms of the pursuit of power rather than the—

o ;I‘he CI:IAIRMAN: Are you suggesting that to be a member of the board of the
couts is to help create a power structure in Canada?

presilgér‘nLAgiimY: Np; I will put it this way, that my complaint is that if the
=y ha‘d‘d'o is pgrtlcular banl; had at@ended to the affairs of the bank itself
i 1v%rced himself from his o’;her interests, then they would not have had
g a U.S. managment consulting firm to tell them how to run their bank.
They have had one of the largest U.S. managing firms in that bank for 2 years

telling them how to reorganize it.

oo (l:g;‘n LAMBERT: Well., Mr. Chairman, if you are the chief executive officer of
% gel pany, _anld ‘ghat ig all, you can still call in a management consultant firm
e da'? outside view, so that you get away from, shall we say, inbreeding, or
Phenlc G}:)lgklng. I fail to see the relationship of your thinking here, Mr. Lafferty.
Bt Church_we have got people who are prepared to serve the community and
ServiIZIr' More (Regina City): Do the people who take advantage of your
Rk es to look after their companies also engage in community work. Is that

y you exist?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not understand.
An hon. MEMBER: Could you say that again a little slower.

M Mr. MoRre (Regina City): Do people that take advantage of your services in
ur firm—

the 1\(/ilr. LarrerTy: They take advantage of our ser
y do not take advantage of it.

oy Mr. MoRe (Regina City): Would not the same hol
sulting service come in?

g l\l/h‘t LAFFERTY: This is true; but my own view is
ize y:ugrntal Ort>eration correctly, it is not necessary
structures. Presumabl is i i
shareholders. y this is the function O

OrgaEgZdC_HAIRMAN: With respec.t to community org-anizavtions, including those
fove. oot in corporate form, which is quite common—TI gather all those that 1
dedisio st referred to are organized in corporate form—is not the matter of

n of the board of the directors and the shareholders whether it is appro-

pri
ate for an officer or an official of a bank to be on these boards?

i Mr. LarrerTy: 1 doubt that it goes t0 the decision of the board or of the
areholders.

vice for a purpose, and if not,

d true of the bank having a

that if you are running your
to have them in to reorgan-
£ management for the
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} Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I think, in this respect, they get a
high officer of the bank because they are looking for contributions for the boy
scouts.

An hon. MEMBER: Yes.

Mr. LAMBERT: I do not agree at all. It so happens that some men who occupy
senior positions—I would say a good proportion—have not a lively and intelli-
gent interest in the particular movements; in the same way that many leading
members in the business community of the city are the most active men on
boards of benevolent and charitable organizations because they like to do that
kind of work. It is not because somebody thinks they have an easy, open wallet.

The CHAIRMAN: In other words, Mr. Lafferty, you are not suggesting that an
official of a bank has any less responsibility to the community than an official of,
say, a retail store?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh, no.

Mr. More (Regina City): Mr. Chairman, I think his whole case has been
weakened. I think the reason that he put all these in was to make a full page,
which would rather astound us. The purpose of it is obvious. He wanted, to sell a
point. I think it is ridiculous to list some of these and to argue the point of view
that he is putting forward.

The CHAIRMAN: The next proposal is with regard to proxies. Are there any
questions on that one?

An hon. MEMBER: Mr. Chairman, we have not finished with this.
The CHAIRMAN: Oh, I am sorry; I thought—

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): First of all, I happen to
agree with your suggestion that we should not have bank directors, or bank
officers, on the boards of other corporations. What I am interested in finding out,
Mr. Lafferty, is if your objection to it is the one you have just stated, that they
cannot do two jobs, and that they are, in fact, moonlighting on the bank
shareholders if they do this other job. Is that your objection, or is it that their
joint position would enable them to secure preferred treatment for the other
corporations of which they are directors?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think it is a combination of the two. I think that the two are
both equally appli®able.

The CHAIRMAN: I think, in fairness to Mr. Lafferty, we should separate the
concept you have just put forward, Mr. Cameron, with reference to commercial
and business organizations, from—

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Oh, yes; although on the
point that Mr. More raised just now, I would point out there has been a growing
criticism of the influence of important members of the business community on
the curricula of universities, for instance; that they have an undue influence on
our educational system due to their position on the boards of governors and
senates of universities. I think, for that reason—and the boy scouts may come
into this—that this type of non commercial appointment may be equally objec-
tionable.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is brought up in this brief that it restricts certain
philosophies.



Ja
nuary 10,1967 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS 2253

Mr. LAMBERT: You are not suggesting that they are intellectually senile—

Mr. LAFFERTY: No; ind j e
: : No; indeed, they are not; b ‘ ‘
their own point of view. . fhias < e s T

Othe;rihi CHAIRMAN: Would you suggest, Mr. Cameron, that representatives of
nterest groups be forbidden to sit on university boards?

theyl\gﬁ) CISMERON (Nanaimo—COwichan—The Islands): I am not suggesting that
Hax L (1){ be f'orblddfan to_s1t on them, but I am suggesting that Mr. Lafferty
aPDointpmmt which brings in some of these other non-commercial types of
iy ;r;,ts such as bank dlrectors—_—‘pecause we are dealing with banks
i, d because of the banks’ key position in the economy. I think there may
me validity in that point of view.
Samelvclzgt AppisoN: Would you say that a trade union official would fall into the
egory?

5 cerlrlaz-nCAMERON (N anaimo-Cowich_an—The Islands): I would frankly view with

Mo amqunt of d(‘)‘ubt a trade union official’s being on the board of governors

S versity. I think it would give a certain limited point of view to an
ion that should not have a limited, special-interest point of view.

Mr. Apprson: Thank you.
thinl;rhe CHAIRMAN: I think we are on the verge of straying a bit far afield. I
fOrwavrie should stick to the specific point. It can be seen why Mr. Lafferty puts
i rd this argument that an officer of a Canadian chartered bank should not

e as a director of any corporation.

S-omel\gn CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, I do not think we are out of our field when
e ne—Mr. Lafferty, or the people who prepared the brief—says, at the
tom of page 10:
As a result, it means that the learning institutions of Canada are
required to teach at a level of mediocrity in business administration,
=, finance and economic affairs.
0 not think we are out of this field.
The CHAIRMAN: No; I am just referring to all

ot :
bu}ie: interest groups. We could get into a very use

usions to representatives of
ful discussion in that area,

Mr. CLERMONT: This is a very strong statement, M. Chairman.

" The CHATRMAN: Yes; that is right. I am not saying that is out of order. Iam
of tirmg to the point, on which we seemed to be about to enter into discussion,
e usefulness of having representatives of all sorts of economic interest

8roups on university boards.

Mr. Camerox (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I would suggest, Mr.

Chaj i
ar?;clﬁman’ that you should not have allowed Mr- Addison to ask a question of
er member of the Committee.
The Cra : ow; bu :
take the blar;RelYIAN. I know; but these exchanges are alway

I Ir Came‘ron haS ﬁ i i i A%
lyou I] 2 2 nlshed hlS queStIOnS I Ould b
¢ . Clermont.

s very stimulating. I

e willing to recognize
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Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I just wanted to make it
clear that there are the two aspects that you have in mind?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Correct.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would you extend your
prohibition to bank directors, or are you confining it entirely to executive
officers?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Executive officers.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Just executive officers;
you do not have the same objection to an ordinary director of the bank?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Clermont, you were referring to page 10.

Mr., CLERMONT: Yes; page 10 or page 8. According to what you say at the
bottom of page 8, small companies are swallowed up by the action of the banks,
and our learning institutions are not teaching the proper business administration
because they are afraid of losing their endowments. Is this only your personal
impression, or have you proof of—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Perhaps I should read those two paragraphs:

It means that a system is created that is wide open to abuse and
exploitation by a few strong individuals. By forming small cliques serving
on different bank boards, those at the apex of the pyramids are in a
position to acquire and exchange information that would not otherwise be
available. This is the nucleus of men who dominate the Canadian capital
markets, and who by the creation of investment trusts are further able to
exercise their power throughout Canadian corporate life. There are many

historical examples of good medium and small companies that had real
growth prospects which have been swallowed up. They had no alternative
because they had no protection from price cartelization. Good and grow-
ing management must then surrender to the dictates of larger interests or
be lost. Industry becomes concentrated, immobile and resistant to tech-
nological and marketing changes. The consumer ultimately suffers and
more efficient U.S. industry invades the Canadian market place, and a
serious imbalance in our trade figures result.

Mr. CLERMONT: I have read your brief, Mr. Lafferty, but—

Mr. LAFFERTY: In this particular case there is public evidence to refute it. If
you want me to take you over the history of the Argus corporation, you will find
it. It is all there. The brewing industry in that particular— :

Mr. CLERMONT: I hope it is better than the 3 letters you have attached to
your second brief one signed “Treasurer, A National Canadian Corporation”, and
the other two, without a name, just signed “A Lawyer”. I hope it is better proof
than those three letters.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I notice that Mr. Lafferty has
mentioned the Canadian brewery several times, and I do not think they are very
successful.

.
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Mr. LAFFERTY: No; but ultimately it leads to a bad and delinquent industry;
there is no question; all concentration of industry does, because it lacks a
Competitive market. Cartelization leads to inefficiencies. That is why we are
major consumers—

: Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte) : You would say that could be applied to the fishing
Industry, too, I suppose?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Even sardines swim in schools.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Clermont, do you have further questions or comments
On the reference to educational institutions?

Mr. CLERMONT: No, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr, More?

Mr. MorE (Regina City): Not at the moment.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps I can quickly ask a question about this. I am
referring, Mr. Lafferty, to page 10—and I thank Mr. .Clermont for again
bringing it to our attention—referring to this concentration:

As a result, it means that the learning institu.tions of C;apada are
required to teach at a level of mediocrity in business administration,
finance and economic affairs.

Could you give us some specific examples in these disciplines of somebody
Tequiring an educational institution to teach at a lower level than some other
Institution, let us say, in another country?

Mr. LArrFERTY: I would suggest that if you had a faculty in one ot .the
University which taught the principles of free enterprise he would ultimately
find life very difficult there.

The CHATRMAN: No. You have made a suggestion now, but in your brief you

ave made a flat statement.

Mr. LAFFERTY: e

As a result, it means that the learning institutions of C-apada are

required to teach at a level of mediocrity in business administration,
finance and economic affairs.

A very large number of Canadians who require an economic understanding
and background go to either Harvard, or a school in Chlcago, or one of thfa other
Schools in Boston. The only present business administration schqol I think we

ave, which has achieved any standing in the market place, is Western in

ondon, ‘
The CHAIRMAN: Now, is this not part of the ordiqrary ebb ar;d flow of
lear ning for people who go to other institutions, and countries to study?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No.

The CHAIRMAN: If somebody goes from HarYard to the London School of
ECOnomics does that mean that Harvard is mediocre? ; \

Mr. LAFFERTY: It wWould suggest, if there was a trend in that direction, that
One was accepted as having a teaching staff inferior to the other. Wg are exposed
to Students who come out of local universities in Montreal, an_d their knowledge
Ot the market place when they come out is a pretty low denominator.
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The CHAIRMAN: Let me return now. You have made a flat statement:
—it means that the learning institutions of Canada are required to teach
at a level—

Required by whom, first of all?

Mr. LAFFERTY: If you had members of a faculty who taught—

The CHAIRMAN: No, no; excuse me, sir. You have made a flat statement:
—it means that the learning institutions of Canada are required to teach
at a level of mediocrity—

Required by whom?
Mr. LAFFERTY: By the whole context of the overall structure of the domi-
nant interest.
4 The CHAIRMAN: Give some names.
Mr. LAFFERTY: Which end?
The CHAIRMAN: Who is giving the orders?

Mr. LAFFERTY: We have the bank as the dominant interest in the scheme,
which you may accept or may not accept. You may have the major banks
represented on these boards of governors of these universities. If I happened
to be a faculty member and I taught that the banking system was a dominant
system in the faculty, I do not think that I would hold my employment very
long.

The CHAIRMAN: Can you give me some evidence of this? Do you have
anything that has been written—a written directive? Can you show us a written
directive?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No.

The CHAIRMAN: You cannot. Can you direct us to a professor who will be
willing; or able, to come to us and testify, that he is required to teach such-and-
such in these fields?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think if you went and looked you would find one.
The CHAIRMAN: No. Can you help us?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I ao not have the powers to do this.

The CHAIRMAN: Then, on what do you base this statement?

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is a viewpoint, expressed, within the context of the
whole thing.

The CHAIRMAN: This is only a viewpoint. I see.

How do you explain the fact that a number of the academics who have
testified before us have been quite critical of the banking system?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I did not see their evidence.

The CHAIRMAN: You did not see their evidence. As far as I am aware they
are still working.

Mr. LAFFERTY: May I say that up to the present time all we have received by
mail are the transeripts up to number 28.
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The CHAIRMAN: Well, I would take that up with the Printing Bureau.

Mr. LarrFerTY: This is why we have not seen the academic field. But as you
know, in the world of economics there are two schools. There is the claSS}cal
orthodox school in the marketplace and there is the school of the new economics.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. LAFFERTY: The new economics rebel very strongly in the academic field,
both in the United States and here, and those who are orthodox in the market-
Place are not in entire harmony with them.

The CHAIRMAN: You think that is part of a plot?
Mr. LAFFERTY: No.

Mr. Linp: Mr. Chairman, is Mr. Lafferty suggesting, when he mentioned
the School of Business Administration at the University of Western Ontario, that
they do not teach anything about the inner workings of the banking systems
because they are biased or afraid to do so?

Mr. LaFrFERTY: I did not suggest that Western University did not teach th@s;
I suggested that in Canada the only one that had become .recog_'nlzed for its
competence in the marketplace so far is the one of Western University.

Mr. Linp: Well is this not one of the evolutions of education, that it
Progresses?

3 Mr. LAFFERTY: It has been a lot slower here than it has been south of the
ine,
3 Mr. Linp: It has more case histories and it knows more gbout the financial
institutions of our country. I do not think they refuse to teach it.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I have not suggested that they refuse to teach it.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you suggesting, for example, that Queen’s is not a
Competent faculty is this field?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I am not suggesting they are not competent.

The CHAIRMAN: Mediocre?

_ Mr. LarrerTY: No, I do not think one could make a judgrnent in those terms

Without making a comparison with all those that are available.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you not done this in your statement?

Mr. LAFFERTY: We have suggested that the conditions exist that have
Created this kind of set of conditions.

The CHAIRMAN: Then you must be including Queen’s.

Mr. Larrerty: I am including all universities. I suggest that you take
students from these various faculties. Your function is to investigate; it is no;
Mine, My function is to express a dissenting viewpoint. As I expressed be.fose, r
do not have the powers, the staff or the financial means to do the kind o
€Xamination and produce the evidence you seek. It is your function.

The CHAIRMAN: We carry out our investigations by listening to witnesses
Who make statements.

Mr. LAFFERTY: If I may suggest, this is not the way to do it.
254685
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The CHAIRMAN: You are a witness and you are making a statement.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Sir, if I was in research and I was to accept anything that
was told to me, I would certainly want to investigate to see if there was any
validity in that which was expressed to me.

The CHAIRMAN: After listening to you, I can agree with that.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I have a supplementary
question for Mr. Lafferty. You refer to yourself as a financial analyst. I wonder if
you could give an ignorant person like myself an idea of the sort of work you
undertake. It might then give us some idea of your connection with the financial
world and your ability or insight into the operations of the financial world of
banking. I do not quite know what functions your firm performs.

Mr. LAFFERTY: We are basically in what we term the investment research
field. Our function is to be able to interrelate. We accept as a basic premise that
all economic conditions are created by political decisions, whether it be the
monetary field, fiscal field, taxation, or whether it be import-export. Therefore,
we relate the influence of political decisions in the economic field. To go further,
we interrelate the consequences of these decisions in the economic field to the
individual companies, which are represented by stocks and shares listed on the
various exchanges because they are public companies. It is our function to advise
people whether an investment is a favourable position or an unfavourable
position in relation to these over-all set of conditions. We are therefore, very
extensively absorbed, shall I say, in the international monetary field, the local
domestic field, corporate life and financial aspects of the community. In our
particular instance we sell professional appeal. The work which we do is consid-
ered very professional, very sophisticated and, in part, past and beyond the reach
of most of the public. We do not seem to sell to laymen. Because we service
somewhere in the area of 100 financial institutions, we have a reasonable
exposure to growth and understanding. We have survived in this marketplace on
what we have been able to do so I assume that we serve a useful purpose.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I was not suggesting that
you were not. I hope you realize that it was from ignorance that I asked the
question. Would it be right to say that you are in some regard an investment
consultant? »

Mr. LAFFERTY: We act in the field of investment consultants as well. We
have a firm in the investment counsel field. What you gentlemen perhaps do not
realize is that if you have collusion and conformity in the marketplace, the
person who is primarily exploited is the investor. He cannot judge this. If your
function is to protect the investor, then you cannot conform to the rest of the
marketplace if it is not moving correctly on some principle. If it is moving in the
direction of collusion or seeking to achieve certain things, price levels or stipula-
tions, then you have to make up your mind whether your function is to serve the
consumer or join that group of conformity who are seeking to either preserve,
protect or pursue their own ends and objectives. Our function is to serve the
consumer, who is the investor.

Mr. LArLAMME: Mr. Lafferty, would I be right in saying that the main
purpose of your brief is to put forth the thought that you would like to see more
competition among financial institutions?
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Capitl\adlr'mLAiFER?Y: I do not know to wh_at extent you gentlemen are aware of the
B & i?l}' ets in Cangda, bu.t the capital markets in Canada are sick. We have
Allianceelcles f)f sﬂuatmps W.mdfall, Atlantic Acceptance, Prudential Fmgnce,
fal redit, ;L.aurentxde Finance. These are symptoms of a set of conditions;
the © e r}ot acc1glents of occurrence. They are symptoms of a condition whereby
anadian capital markets will be dependent now on borrowing from others.

Mr. LarLaMME: At page 10 you state:
It is a system of graces and favour
he can get, and in many instances mus
he receives.
vagag is behind that? Do you having anything to say regarc}ing anything that is
s ug. Graces apd favours mean the banana republic and if you have anything
ell us regarding this system, please do so.
haveMr. LAFFERTY: Once you have a cartelized structure, the consumer dqes not
e a freed_om of selection and, therefore, he must make a deal in which he
eks to participate, to restrict his freedom of choice.

p Mr. LarLaMME: What do you suggest to avoid this system of grace
avours?

s where the consumer is given what
t prostitute himself for that which

s and

Mr. LAFFERTY: This comes back to the underwriting matter that I discussed
ﬁrevm}lsly. As long as you have non-competitive underwriting in this country, a
ecessity for that which is underwritten, and others are dependent on that
gll:OdUCt and they have no freedom or range of choice, then you have this
oblem, the same as you have in any cartelization.
F The CHAIRMAN: Then you are also calling for changes in the seculfity. laws?
or example, you would propose a change t0 require competitive bidding on
underwriting?
b Mr. LarrerTY: As I have pointed out, in the United States a bank is not
r;’rmlfcted to underwrite corporate areas. This was broken up many years ago,
ofSUItmg in the same set of conditions that is felt now in Canada. The influence
e banks is such in the financial community that they dominate it and they no
nger have free capital markets.
B thMr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman,
n'tmk that our capital markets are sick in Canad
$501 ed States, why are United States companies going oV
0 to $800 million.
Mr. LAFFERTY: Because are more borrowers than funds available.
- Mr. McLeaw (Charlotte): Why is Douglas running around frying to get
ances at the present time?
Mr. LarrerTy: If he did not have credit problems,

have any giffculty.
Uni Mr. McLean (Charlotte): I know, but if they have these markets in the
nited States and are so superior down there, why does Douglas have to run all

o ;
Ver the place looking for someone to bail him out? \
Mr. LarrerTy: Because there is a higher rate of risk than those lenders in.

the Stat
€S are >
254655, prepared to undertake

I have a few questions. You seem
ada. If they are not sick in the
er to Europe to borrow

I am sure he would not
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Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): You suggested that you are in the international
field.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I said we were exposed to it.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): If you are in international finance, can you tell me
why $35 American in 1945, when the international monetary fund was estab-
lished—I am sure you are familiar with it—was equal to an ounce of gold?

The CHAIRMAN: Well Dr. McLean—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Just a moment; he said he was in the international
field.

The CHAIRMAN: I realize that, and I am not saying this is not a useful area.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I would like to get this answer.

The CHAIRMAN: I will permit the witness to answer, but I thought that we
were in the general area of discussing Mr. Lafferty’s proposal that an officer of a
Canadian chartered bank should not serve as a director of the corporation. We
strayed a bit from the specific point because it related to some comment that he
made in the general discussion prior to this brief.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): He told Mr. Cameron that he was in the interna-
tional monetary field.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I did not say that sir; I said that we were exposed to the
international monetary field.

The CHAIRMAN: If you care to make a brief comment on this, Mr. Lafferty,
you may do so; if not, I think we should consider whether we have any further
questions on the very useful proposal to ban officers of banks from being
directors of corporations, and then move on to the next group of proposals about
proxies and so on.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Lafferty, you spoke of
the precedant set by the Bell Telephone Company, its financing by the vehicle
among the banks and an affiliated or an associated concern., How do you think
that the prohibition of joint directorships would prevent a similar arrangement
being made which presumably would be to the advantage of those who made the
arrangement?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think perhaps we did not have an interrelating board on the
Bell Telephone. The Bell Telephone board fulfilled an obligation that they should
go into the marketplace and take competitive business.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): But if they could find a
bank which would be prepared to do this for them, I have no doubt that they
would be able to do it without too much difficulty. If they have already found
one, they would find another would they not?

Mr. LAFFERTY: But they would find it at a more competitive rate.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps we could group the next three proposals together:
the two proposals about formal proxy and the one about increasing the number
of times banks should be required to report to shareholders. We have seen these
proposals. Are there any questions relating to one or all of the three? This is

T
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consistent with a number of proposals along these lines by some of our other
Witnesses, including some of the academic ones. Do we have any questions on
these?

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I have one question. Do
you think, Mr. Lafferty, that the disclosure of all outside directorates held by
nominees would affect the election of a candidate as a bank director?

Mr. LAFFERTY: All I suggest, Mr. Chairman, is that the shareholder would be
more informed.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would it not be more
likely to pump for the fellow who has a whole lot of directorates?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It might be his choice, but this is up to the shareholder. Some
shareholders might think that the more directorates he had the better; others
might suggest that the more he had the less value it would be to them or to a
greater extent, he might compare one with another.

Mr. AppISoN: Mr. Chairman, could I ask one question. Do you feel thg-t an
employee of a government agency or a director of a crown corporation should be
a director of a Canadian chartered bank?

Mr. LarrerTY: No, I do not.

The CHAIRMAN: Do we have any questions on the proposal with reference to
section 76, about banks owning shares of corporate stocks or other entities. In
other words, would you forbid a bank even owning 10 per cent of an entity such
as Roy Nat?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes.

Mr. LAMBERT: Why ?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Because the function of a bank is to carry on the banking
business, and I think they should stick to their business.

Mr. LAMBERT: Is Roy Nat not part of the banking business, to come down to
4 specific example?

Mr. LarrFERTY: It is part of the banking business, to be incorporated in the
bank; it is not part of the banking business—

Mr. LAMBERT: I notice in your brief you object to the sale of flebenftures by
banks and you object to the proposal here that they shall enter into what you
Would call the medium length field of financing.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not think there is any restriction in the Bank Act against
Medium length financing by banks.

Mr. LAMBERT: Well this is where the access of funds arises. There is the
Question of liquidity and what have you, and ordinary prudent practice.

Mr. LarrerTY: I think if you look at some of the major banks in the S?tes
You will find that 70 per cent of their loans are term loans—term loans exceeding

Ve years and probably seven in some cases.

Mr. LAMBERT: That may be but I am not overly concerned about the
banking practices in the United States.

Mr. LAFFERTY: The use of this is an exception.
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Mr. LaAMBERT: In Canada it had not been the practice. In fact, it just was not
possible, and this is one of the things where you get yourselves in terrible
trouble. A lot of the present near-banks have got themselves in trouble. They
have loaned on long-term money that they had to get on short-term. Is it not a
prudent practice that if you are going to go in for demand deposits then you will
be lending on short-term and if you are going to lend at longer term then you
get money that is available to you under three, five or maybe a longer term than
that.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Generally you arrange a loan in relation to what your term
and deposits were. You can take deposits of funds for one year, two years or
three years of 30 days.

Mr. LAMBERT: It is conceivable that a bank in the present context could
actually still carry on its activities in a corporation like RoyNat, if it sees fit?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Is this not a judgment of the legislature? It is question of
whether if is desirable or undesirable.

Mr. LAMBERT: No. If it is within its powers contributing to the economic
development by furnishing financing to legitimate business interests, what is
wrong with that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: If it could do it within the provision of its Bank Act
legislation there is nothing wrong with it. If it does go outside that legislation to
do it then what is the purpose of the legislation.

Mr. LaMmBERT: Well whether it does it directly or through a subsidiary, what
is the difference?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, it is only if there is some reason for doing it through a
subsidiary.

Mr. LAMBERT: It serves the end of the consumer to have this facility, which
is a point which you emphasized time and time again.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It does not conform with the Bank Act. Is it not a translation
of the spirit of the legislation, the intended purpose of the legislation?

Mr. LaMBERT: No, it is a question of the interest rate and the term of the
lending and that iswall.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well there is no reason the banks should not pay 7 per cent
on deposits if they wished to do so.

Mr. LAMBERT: Except that it cannot lend any higher than that. Why would
you eliminate equity stocks from a bank’s investment portfolio?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Not from an investment portfolio; from an operating posi-
tion, yes, because I think they should stick to banking.

Mr. LAMBERT: We know that banks have investment portfolios, this is so.
Mr. LAFFERTY: True.

Mr. LaMBERT: But I think that your absolute prohibition here would elimi-
nate an investment portfolio of equity stocks.

Mr. LAFFERTY: You mean equity stocks in the portfolio itself?
Mr. LAMBERT: Yes.
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Mr, LAFFERTY: Yes, I am personally opposed to them.

Mr. Lamsggrr: Why?

i tem you will

Mr. LarrerTy: I think if you look at the German lzirrlll:;gﬁesdyi » thz s

75¢ a large cartelization of most of German 1n'dust1“y1 is R o e

You go back to the early history of national socia ;sm s);: R

Is is from g concentration of these equities and in ezfed VRS 456 the

three major banks in Germany. The vacuum that is i]role R e
lack of distribution amongst the population as a w

Industry,

but the banks
Mr. Lamserr: Al right, you have cited a Gernla{:nine}é?;lgé:,. Yor s &
have heen entitled for years now to own e}?;cltgvsi?ecnce o g thisdI} =

Qi by a2 CHaBSay HoVR AT i or the Canadian
Operaé:d o‘ctc}>1 e;‘hew (()ii"giiment of either the Canadian economy

anking field.
Mr, LAFFERTY: In banks in Germany—

Mr. LaMBERT: T am speaking of Canada.

i i has had the

in. Banking in Germany .

. : All right; let me explain. 5" i Thq?.sam

eﬁec}:\dih;“amkf::rfk jilnr ignﬁuence price structurgihlg 1:}rl§e i SN s

Principle coylg ly here. So friends of a bank wi e S
equityp Ofccgnm?c?r? )s,tocks‘could make an influence on p

Market without any disclosure,
Mr, LamBerT: But, has it happened? N
Mr. LarrerTY: T do not have access to records o

Mr. Lamsgry: What are we getting at? TR e
Mr. Larrerry: 1 explained the principle, Mr. Lambert.
" i s here or men of
Mr. Lamserr: Are you giving us series of Aunt Sally.
“ A ire
Mr. Larrerry: 1t is the principle of the golden wire.

ise without eny evi-
Mr. Lang y want to rais s %4
. : —bogeymen that you ma A i R M_
Lot ?rI Irj:eaflE};rl;yu i gpfoposing certalln S:rdflf f)fazl)]roof for those changes is
L""‘ﬂel"ty that if t changes, then the
) you wan
you.

. ou— ;
Mr. LarrerTy: If you read the brief maybe yo i S ot
Mr. Lamprrr: T read the brief but wide kstateme
®Vidence as to the Fligity ol fhe posiion gon ta * ake is only on the reasoning
Mr. LarrerTy: No; the validity of the position I take
Which js submitted. You may reject it.
Mr, LAMBERT: All right.

a
i o the fact that you are

i mbert is referring to

The CHAIRMAN: T think Mr. Lambe S

ﬁnandal analyst and you do work for a hundred insti

institutions; we serve a
Mr. Larrerry: We do not work for a hundred institu
hung,. ed institutions,
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The CHAIRMAN: What is the difference?
Mr. LAFFERTY: One would suggest that we were an employee.

The CHAIRMAN: I see. I gather you have access to a very wide range of
factual material; I would have thought you would have been in a position to
materially assist the committee by bringing this factual material before us.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Mr. Chairman, I do not know what your exposure is to
financial markets or the financial community but a great deal of what takes place
in the financial community is by word of mouth. Most contracts and transactions
are by word of mouth, by telephone conversations or by personal discussions
with two or three people. These are normally considered of a personal and
confidential nature. If I happen to be aware that something took place I have no
right to implicate somebody else. I am also acting in a fiduciary capacity. I know
what the consequence of what we decide to do will be and I also probably know
the motives. The purpose behind this brief is to try and prevent some of the
shenanigans that take place from taking place. But I cannot go and indict those
people, bring them on the witness stand and relate this to a conversation which
took place a year ago.

The CHAIRMAN: You have parliamentary immunity by being before this
committee.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: What I am driving at, sir, is that you have facts which you
feel if you give them out of context might be used against you. If they really are
facts, this might be a wonderful opportunity to strike a blow for improvement of
the situation.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is not practical.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any further facts to give us?
Mr. LAFFERTY: On what?

The CHAIRMAN: To support some or all of these statements.

Mr. LAFFERTY: These are made by reasoning of the whole theme of the
philosophy behind the brief. Now if you take the actual proposal out of this
context, then they are out of relationship of what the whole intent of the brief
was. But this is your choice. It is not my function to impose my views on you but
to try and explain to the extent I can.

Mr. CHAIRMAN: No, you are performing a useful function.
Mr. LAFFERTY: More than this I cannot do.

The CHAIRMAN: This may be a matter of semantics. Perhaps I interpret
words differently than you do, but a lot of things in your brief are not in the
form of suggestions, probabilities or possibilities but flat statements, and I would
have thought that you would have been in a position to back these things up.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Let us start off first with this. You have an interlocking set of
factors which were filed as a list in one of the hearings you had. My view is that
for a hearing of this nature and for the problem with which you are faced a
proper relationship should be made of the various institutions, not just a list of
directors and which are which, but how they come, how they relate and what it
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means in the colony as a whole. But there seems to be no evidence that this kind
of preparatory work has been prepared for the committee, This is the function of
those who are responsible for preparing the basic pattern of the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: I think you should be aware that our committee structure
has not evolved as yet to the stage of the American system and we must operate
to the best of our ability within the context of—

Mr. LAFFERTY: But you cannot ask me to accept the deficiency.
The CHAIRMAN: But why not sir?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Because it introduces implications in which I am not going to
beqome involved. I am a private citizen; I cannot start indicting, accusing people
or introducing evidence which does not belong to me.

The CHAIRMAN: In other words, you can indict the system—
Mr. LAFFERTY: All I am involved with is the system.

_ The CHAIRMAN: But you are not prepared to give evidence to support your
Indictment.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No. I am prepared to give the reasoning behind the princi-
ples, yes, and they are in here. But I am not prepared to provide individual
incidents, the personalities involved and what took place, and relate them.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have knowledge of such incidents?

Mr. LAFFERTY: If you are exposed to a financial community for ten or fifteen
years you have a pretty extensive knowledge.

The CHAIRMAN: Personal knowledge?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh sure I do; I am bound to.

The CHAIRMAN: And you are not going to tell us about them?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is not mine to tell, and I could not prove it anyway.

The CHAIRMAN: You could not prove it?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No. All T could relate was what took place. I tell you most
financial transactions in the financial community are done by word of mouth.
hey are not written into agreements or contracts.

The CHAIRMAN: Do we have any further questions on the proposal regarding
clause 76, which is with respect to the limitations on a bank owning shares of
other corporations. If not, I would like the committee to pose any questions they
have on Mr. Lafferty’s proposal regarding interest rate ceiling.

_ Mr. CLERMONT: According to your brief, Mr. Lafferty, you are against a rate
Ceiling?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes.

Mr. CLERMONT: Even in the situation we are in these days with a tight
Mmoney situation, you are still against a ceiling?

then those which have merit

Mr. LAFFERTY: Sure. With er competition
e p that have less than

for borrowing will buy or borrow at certain rates and those

that win pay a higher rate.
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Mr. CLERMONT: What do you mean by proper competition, an eight, nine or
ten per cent rate?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Is your question, what rate would result if you had proper
competition?

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I would say you have reasonable competition in the United
States at the present time and in a large number of European countries. The

rates will adjust or level to what the market demands or what the market is
willing to pay for.

Mr. CLERMONT: Are you aware of any bank commercial borrowing rates in
the United States?

Mr. LAFFERTY: They vary all the way through the States. I do not think you
can arrive at a specific figure along those lines, Mr. Clermont.

Mr. CLERMONT: Have you any figures, say, regarding New York State?

Mr. LAFFERTY: What the borrowing rate is?

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It varies from one bank to another but, as you know, there is
a prime rate published.

Mr. CLERMONT: If different banks have different rates where is the competi-
tion?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It does not exist here at the present time.

Mr. CLERMONT: I mean in the United States?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh yes, I think there is a range of different rates.

Mr. Linp: Mr. Chairman, at the bottom of page 29 in the opening statement
you ask that the interest rates to be freed. Then you say:

It is the responsibility of Government and legislation to see that those
markets are properly regulated, free from fear and intimidation, and
equally accessible to all participants without regard to the creed or class
to participate»if they should so wish.

Is not our present banking system, where we have a controlled interest rate,
accomplishing what you ask for in that paragraph?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not think so.

Mr. Linp: Well how is it not? Where are the difficulties? Can you give us an
example? This is what I am concerned about.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It reads:

It is the responsibility of Government and legislation to see that those
markets are properly regulated, free from fear and intimidation, and
equally accessible to all participants without regard to the creed or class
to participate if they should so wish.

It seems clear to me. Is it not clear to you?

Mr. Linp: Well, no; I have never known banks to create any fear or
intimidation in people.
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Mr. LAFFERTY: I have suggested and my own experience is that they do
eXer'cise an influence both favourable and unfavourable in the financial com-
Munity, depending on what their interest, pursuits and motives are.

Mr. Linp: Do you mean they are going around scaring people, intimidating
them or what?

Mr. LarFerTY: I would suggest that this is an indirect result of a set of
Conditions, yes.

The CHATRMAN: Some customers may feel that way once in a while, perhaps
Wrongly, sometimes rightly.

. Mr. LAFFERTY: If you would like me to pursue that a little further I will
bring you some evidence,

Mr. Linp: I would like to hear the evidence.

Mr. LAFFERTY: All right. In my original notes and summary I presented to
You an idea or the thought that the conditions that led into the stock gxchanges
Were a result of this over-all dominant position of interest. We published two
years ago a brief on The Correct Role of the Stock Exchange in a Free Enterpmfse

Onomy in which we outlined the principles under which the s_tock gxchanges in
Canada should be operating. Because this challenged the dominant interests we
Were charged by the stock exchanges for having published such a pamphlet. We
Were tried by a Kangaroo Court; prosecuted by the leading coy.nsel, a dlrgctor of
On? of the leading major banks, and we were found unanimously guilty for
actm_g in a manner unbecoming to a member of the stock exchange bec-au_se we
Pu}?hCly disclosed that the stock exchange was operating badly. If that is not
Intimidation and fear then I do not know what is.

The CHAIRMAN: What penalty was imposed?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I would be glad to make copies available of this .particular
Pamphlet, It ig called “The Correct Role of the Stock Exchange in a Free

Dterprise Economy.”
bers_The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps you could distribute copies separately to the mem-
Mr. LAFFERTY: If you want the evidence there it is.
Mr. Linp: What about the general public; do they indimidate them?
Mr. LarFerTY: It goes down to those who act for the general public.
The CHARMAN: Mr. Lind, do you have any further questions?

Mr. Linp: It is the government’s responsibility to see that the f:oizrls'ujr;?‘a tlg
not. €xploited by cartels and agreements of collusion. If you free the }11n erest o
Which acts as a control, then you expect the government to add other controls.

OW, what controls do you suggest.
Mr. LarrerTY: You take away the interest rates but you also prevent
ollusion ang intimidation.
If you allow free enterprise, proper anti-combines and anti-trust legislation

‘Ca_kes Place, then the natural demand and supply will adjust‘ in its own field
Without any intervention by the government. You do not require a government
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regulation then. But if you do not have those in play then you have some
exploited at the expense of others.

The CHAIRMAN: You are also suggesting that there is room for strengthening
our anti-combines legislation.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes. I think we have already suggested and discussed this.
An hon. MEMBER: In what respect would you strengthen this?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I understand at the present time it is completely ineffective.
We already have the evidence of the combine of George Weston, the Argus
Corporation and Canadian Breweries who were taken to trial by the govern-
ment. It was defeated in the court and therefore it did not stand up. The
anti-trust and anti-combine legislation in the United States opens the frame-
work of the economy, which allow for new ideas, growth of the small corpora-
tions and the vitality which affects a lot of the United States economy, which we
do not have.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Do you think the anti-
trust action against the Standard Oil company really has had the effect of
separating that octopus into separate tentacles?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh, yes, I think so to a large extent. I would say Standard Oil
of Indiana was a very effective, self-contained unit operating on its own merits
and its own abilities. I would say Standard Oil of New Jersey and of California
had similar individual identities.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, finally to conclude this reference to page 30 of Mr.
Lafferty’s brief, there are three points. Are there any questions on these three
points? There is the suggestion that the Act should clearly define interest, which
is something that we have raised ourselves here on numerous occasions; there is
also a suggestion made that the Bank of Canada should take over the clearing
operation, and finally that membership of any officer or director in any associa-
tion providing the facilities for collusion should be prohibited. Are there any
questions on any of these three points?

Mr. CAMERON (Iyanaimo-Cowichan—The Islands): I think, perhaps the last
one sets forth a very admirable objective. Are you going to prohibit membership
in clubs of various sorts to officers and directors of banks. Are you going to place
them into “monkish” cells.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No; I think clubs are in the area of each individual’s right to
socially habitate.

The CHAIRMAN: You say “facilities”. What do you mean by “facilities”?

Mr. LArFrFerRTY: I think the Bankers’ Association is a facility created by
parliament. I do not think that should be so.

If I may, I would like to bring up this particular point. There are some
figures submitted by the Bankers’ Association on the invested index of bank
shares and it shows an annual growth of two per cent. They take the figures from
1959 to 1964, and I think they are misrepresentative. If you take the figures from
1954 to 1964, the average growth rate was nine per cent and not two per cent as
depicted. They also reflect in their brief the benefits invested and not derived in
those bank shares in that particular period. I think that should be more correctly
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stated for the ten year period involved rather than a selected period of a few
years, suiting the evidence being presented.

_ The CrarMAN: You refer to facilities for collusion. Are you referring to
dining facilities?
Mr. LaFFERTY: No; the Canadian Bankers’ Association which is a facility
created by legislation.

The CHAIRMAN: You refer to a membership in an association providing the
facilities for collusion.

Mr. LarrFerTY: It does provide facilities. It provides the framework and the
roof under which it can take place.

The CuaRMAN: I think that someone could read that suggestion of yours
and think of a club with dining facilities.

Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, number 2 states that the Bank of Canada
should take over the operation of clearing cheques for all of the banks. When th.e
Governor of the Bank of Canada was questioned on this, if T reca_ll correctly, it
seems to me that he did not have the facilities and he did not see his way clear to
operate such a clearing house because to do this he would have to open offices
throughout Canada.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Mr. Clermont, is this an impossibility.

Mr. CLERMONT: No, it is not an impossibility but there is always the question
of cost. By No. 2 do you mean that it is not possible for any institution to have
the facility of a clearing house.

Mr. LAFFERTY: In my own view it gives these hands t00 much power. This
should be in the hands of a neutral source or a neutral forum.

_Mr. CameroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would you include in this
all institutions which grant checking privileges whether they are officially banks
Or not?

Mr. LarFerTY: Yes. I think it provides a convenience and an entrance to
them which protects their own business without transgressing into the affairs of

€ir own development.

_ The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on these three final sugges-
tm}’ls in Mr. Lafferty’s original brief? If not, we should turn to his sqbsequent
brief because he makes a number of very interesting suggestions and points.

May I make a suggestion to the Committee? We have a meeting scheduled
for this evening and our third witness today, Mr. Howes, _has a br;ef which 1s
Mmore limited in size or length than Mr. Lafferty’s. Perhaps it would be e Yo
fa1.r way to deal with Mr. Lafferty’s further submission if _We took a little t.1me
this evening since we are going to sit anyway. At that time we can consider
them and not try to rush over them in a few minutes. If that is agreeable to the
Committee perhaps we might recess now and resume this evening SO that we
could have more time for further consideration of the addendum.

I declare this meeting recessed until 8.00 p.m.
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EVENING SITTING

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I think we are in a position to resume our
meeting. When we recessed for supper we were about to see if the Committee
had any questions on the proposals made by Mr. Lafferty in his further memo-
randum of September 6, 1966. There are a number of specific proposals or views
which begin on page 3 of the memorandum. In the first one Mr. Lafferty
criticizes the proposal in the new bill that banks be permitted to form executive
committees at the board level to act for directors, and he gives his reasons. Are
there any questions or comments on this point? If not, we shall pass on to
paragraph 2 on page 4. Mr. Lafferty makes a number of proposals to the effect
that the bank reporting, with regard to the items mentioned, be consistent with
the new Canada Corporations Act. I think I have summarized that appropriately.
Those are the first two, and the third one is also a suggestion that insider
transactions be disclosed in a manner consistent with the new Canada Corpo-
rations Act and the new Ontario securities legislation. I think I have also
summarized that appropriately. Are there any questions or comments?

Mr. LAMBERT: I have one brief question. With regard to the salaries of
officers, how far down the line would you go, Mr. Lafferty, in your recommenda-
tion? The executives extend rather far down the line, to regional assistant
managers, and so forth.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Are they officers of the bank under the new structural
organizations? I do not think so.

Mr. LAMBERT: Well, do you mean to say—

Mr. LAFFERTY: The officers of the bank would be the corporate officers, or
the bank officers, officially designated.

Mr. LAMBERT: Just within the directorship?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Who are officers of the bank.

Mr. LAMBERT: I see. That is a clarification.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, I think this is normal corporate practice.

Mr. LAMBERT: All'right. :

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this section 2?

In the third paragraph on page 5 Mr. Lafferty criticizes the proposal that the
chartered banks be allowed to issue debentures. Are there any questions on this
suggestion?

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Chairman, I should
like to have further elaboration from Mr. Lafferty on that point.

Mr. LAFFeErRTY: Certainly. If one goes back a little further to the earlier
evidence one can see the tremendous dominance banks have in the financial
community. This means that they could place those securities, whether or not
they were merited on the basis of valuation of the assets, because of their
dominant or influential position in the distribution of securities. The second
question is whether it is desirable. Canadian banks already have a major part
of Canadian savings. Should they be further expanded at the disadvantage of
others who would like to compete in this market on a basis of merit rather than
on a basis of power to influence and distribute the securities?
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Mr. More (Regina City): Is it not a fact that the Canadian savings which the
banks hold are diminishing year by year with the competition they have from
near banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is contended in the brief and I think their assets have
decreased as the others have expanded. They maintain this is because they have
certain disadvantages. Others would maintain it is because the near banks
brovide a service which the consumer accepts more readily than that service
which they provide and therefore one is serving the consumer to a greater extent
than the other and he expands accordingly.

Mr. CLERMONT: Are the American banks allowed to sell debentures?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, they are. I am not sure that it prevails in all states. It
certainly prevails in the state of New York and in the state of California.

Mr. CLERMONT: You are not sure if it is all states. Is there a national
banking act in the United States?

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is both federal legislation and state legislation. It
would depend under which you are.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes, but is there a national banking act?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, federal legislation.

The CHAIRMAN: There is no single statute. I think that is what you mean.

Mr. CLERMONT: What I mean is, is there any bank in the state which holds a
national charter?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes; some hold a national charter and some hold a state
charter, Mr. Clermont. It varies. It has advantages and disadvantages.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Mr. GILBERT: Are you in favour of the banks going into mortgages, because
this is a method of the banks—

Mr, LAFFERTY: Yes. I see no objections, if they want to employ their funds
in this direction.

Mr. GILBERT: But is this not a method of getting funds for mortgages?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is a method of getting funds for mortgages. Again, you
Come into the position that they, because of their influence in the market, are
able to sell debentures and they can then consolidate the funds; whereas if the
depositor is unsatisfied he may move out. In this case, the debenture buyer can
only try and dispose of the debentures he has acquired in the market-place. I see
Nno objection why there should be a restriction on the manner in which a bank
uses its deposits.

The CHAIRMAN: What was your point, Mr. More?

Mr. Mogre: Nobody forces anybody to buy bank debentures. They do it
Willingly.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, but if you have this pervasive influence I think you do
get an influence where people are persuaded to buy securities they would not
Otherwise be persuaded to buy in their own judgment.
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The CHAIRMAN: Well, is this comment of yours consistent with your support
of the concept of the action of the market-place instead of government regula-
tion?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes. I would like to pursue that a little further because you
asked for evidence. This is a statement of a thing called the “Jockey Club”. I do
not know whether you are aware of it. We should also look at its capitalization.
These securities were sold to the public. There was no justification at all. We can
look at Argus in the same light. These were sold not on the basis of the merit of
security. These were sold on the influence of the distributors who persuaded
people to buy them.

The CHAIRMAN: You mean that the public was not using their own judg-
ment?

Mr. LAFFERTY: You have a position here where the securities are distributed
before the full disclosures are made or available and it is an emotional process of
distribution. They are made hard to get with the intent of trying to excite the
buyer into buying without a real knowledge of that which he is buying, because
there is no prospectus.

The CHAIRMAN: What has this got to do with debentures?
Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, it was a question, which one of the gentlemen here

raised, whether the buyer could exercise a free choice or not. I was merely
explaining that this was not so.

Mr. MoRe: He has a free choice when he buys them, has he not?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Does he have reasonable information from which to make a
reasonable judgment? From my viewpoint of the distribution of securities in
Canada, he does not because the prospectus is often available after he has to
make a decision whether or not he should purchase them.

The CHAIRMAN: Would this be the case with bank debentures?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It would depend I guess whether they would be subject to
the provincial securities commissions or not. I assume they would, whether the
securities commissions insisted that the prospectus be properly prepared with
full disclosure before anybody was approached on the sale of these securities.
This would depend on that very much. In the United States you cannot do it
until the prospectus has been prepared and has been delivered to the buyer or

prospective buyer.

Mr. Linp: In the case of this “Jockey Club”, is this not one of the stocks in
which a fictitious, order to buy came on to the market from a bank in Nassau to
the New York Stock Exchange on a Friday afternoon before Atlantic Acceptance

crashed?
Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not know if the “Jockey Club” was in that group or not,
I forget.

Mr. Linp: I think it was.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It may have been.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you finished, Mr. Lind.

Mr. Linp: I thought Mr. Lafferty could give us some information.

o
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Mr. LarFreRTY: No, but if one wants to go under the pervasive influence of
thg dominant interests in the market you need to look at the board of directors of
this and relate it to the Investment Dealers’ Association and you will find there is
quite a conflict of interest in this.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Mr. Lafferty
are these not good investments?

The CHAIRMAN: Which investments are you referring to?

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The securities Mr. Lafferty referred to.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, there are certain ratios and principles which one should
apply to—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Are they good investments or are they not?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not think you can really reduce investing to that
simplicity of terms. You could, in your terms place a value that may be—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The ordinary investor does not know one side of
the balance sheet from another.

Mr. LAFFERTY: He has to learn.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Well, I know but he does not know.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Because the opportunity to learn is not there very often.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): But he has got to depend on somebody else. He

has got to depend on the character of the concern and the people behind it. The
ordinary investor does not know what he is buying.

The CHAIRMAN: Can you answer, Mr. Lafferty?

Mr. LAFFERTY: He will be exploited.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Well, the first two investments I made I lost them.
Imade up my mind after that I would have to look into them.

The CHAIRMAN: You learned your lesson well, I understand.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Yes, well. The ordinary investor does not know
What he is buying and there is no use to say all this because he does not know
and he does not learn.

Mr. LAFFERTY: He will learn, Mr. McLean.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): After he has lost it all and then he does not need
any lesson after that.

Mr. LAFFERTY: If the facilities were there for him to leqrn, he would_ learn. I
Contend that the financial pages and the coverage we have in the financial press
18 not sufficient to properly inform him.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, if the banks were forced by law to meet
Teasonable standards, standards satisfactory to yourself with respelcfc to prospec-
'FUSes and length of debentures, would you withdraw your opposition to banks
1ssuing debentures?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I think you still contravene the original point. "I‘hey
already have a major proportion of the savings and they would use a dominant
Position to distribute, if they were allowed to distribute debentures without any
dii’ﬁculty, whether they had learned or not. :

25468—6
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The CHAIRMAN: But you still do not think this is inconsistent with your
point about free play in the market-place, with the purchaser if he wants to buy
a debenture from a bank having the opportunity to do so.

Mr. LAFFERTY: He is probably building an image of the structure of the bank
and its influence and its prestige, and you have a large number of what might be
termed captive accounts and the trust companies are aware that they have
sufficient influence that these things could be distributed.

The CHAIRMAN: I was going to suggest to the Committee that it was not fair
to ask Mr. Lafferty to give his opinion on whether the two firms he referred to
were good investments. After all, he makes his living selling this advice and I do
not know if we should use our position to get this type of guidance.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): He brought these firms up. I did not.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I brought them up as an example of financing, not as an
example of investments made.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): You brought the firms up. I think they are fair
investments.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, we have your advice free, Mr. McLean.

Mr. LAFrFERTY: I note what you say, sir, about free advice.

The CHAIRMAN: Sometimes it is very good. It depends a lot on the source. If
it was Dr. McLean’s advice there may be some who would take very serious
cognizance of it, even though free.

Mr. GILBERT: Mr. Lafferty, it the trend were to have the near banks and
other institutions come under the umbrella of the Bank Act you would then find
that the near banks would have the power to issue debentures. They now have
it; that is the way they obtain money for financing and investing. You would find
that the banks would not have it and yet the trust companies would.

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is correct.

Mr. GILBERT: Would that be fair?

Mr. LAFFERTY# No, I am inclined to agree with you. It would not be
equitable.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Yes, I would like to ask Mr. Lafferty why are the
banks issuing debentures? Is it not because we have a shortage of money? Is it
not because the central bank is hauling in the credit of the country? Is that not
it? Is that not the reason we have a shortage of money?

Mr. LAFrFeERTY: No. There is no question as to why the banks are issuing
debentures because in their viewpoint they could acquire a larger position in
their assets.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): They cannot expand credit at the present time so
they are going after any money that is available.

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is right. But it has to be at the expense of something
else.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): If they could expand credit they would not be
going after this money, would they?
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Mr. LAFFERTY: No. You cannot just continue to expand credit to satisfy the
demand in the marketplace for credit without running into a lot of problems.

Mr. McLEeAN (Charlotte): It is not the fact of the marketplace. We lfla\{e tt.xe
same conditions all over the world, not only in Canada. In Great Britain, in
Germany, and in the United States, they have the same condition.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, but Mr. McLean—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The Federal Reserve Bank is restricting credit in
the United States and they cannot find the chairman at the present time. They
tell me he is down on some southern island and they cannot find it. .

Mr. LAFFERTY: But you appreciate that we have lost our freedom to make
our own decisions in terms of monetary policy in Canada because we are
dependent on the capital market in he United States. .

_Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): We have lost freedom here in Canada because
United States have lost their freedom, too.

Mr. LarrerTY: No. We did not have to lose it at the same time.

Mr. McLEeAN (Charlotte): They have lost their freedom.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, we did not have to lose it at the same time.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): They have lost it and they are trying to impose
that loss of freedom on Canada.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, they are not imposing it. We have put ourselves under
°bli.gation where we have to borrow or finance from them because our home
capital markets are not sufficiently organized.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): The United States owes $30 billion 1n Europtl;
Which they cannot hide. That is the reason they have a balance of paymen
Problem.

Mr. LArrFerTY: It is not entirely in Europe. It is largely in the Middle East
and in Latin America.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): It is in Europe. They have $30
Eur(ype_

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well,—

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): They have put $70 billion out.

Mr. LAarreRTY: I do not think so.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, getting back to debentures—

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): I know it. e
: re
_ The CuAIRMAN: Are there any further questions or comments related m
directly to Mr. Lafferty’s views on banks issuing depenture§? If not, I Sl;gge;t t::
Move on to paragraph 4 where he makes some mterestmg conf1men ?o (o) L=
I(.r:leﬂ'iod under Bill No. C-222 for the incorporation or formation of new ban
anada.

Mr. CLERMONT: What do you mean on page 6? This ii a gugﬁﬁent that
should be reserved to the market-place regarding new groups 1or ba g.- 2
L ring the
Mr. LAFFERTY: It seems to me, this is to enable those who are sSponso
Creation of the new banks to have the respect and the support and the confidence
25468—6}
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of the market-place. They will be waiting to find the funds or buy the shares and
make deposits in that, and if they do not have the confidence it is just too bad.

Mr. CLERMONT: Under what guidance will they operate?
Mr. LAFFERTY: Under what?

Mr. CLERMONT: Under which guide will they operate?

Mr. LAFFERTY: They will operate under the Bank Act.

Mr. CLERMONT: According to you, they should not come to parliament for a
charter.

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is correct.

Mr. CLERMONT: But as you know the banks are not the only financial
institutions which have to come before parliament for charters.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am aware of that. I do not think it should be necessary.

Mr. CLERMONT: Why? Is it because you think they have to use political
influence?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think they do.

Mr. CLERMONT: That is your own judgment.

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is my judgment.

Mr. CLERMONT: What have you to back it up? Is it the same argument that
you had on other questions?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I have read the transcripts of the evidence of those who have
applied for charters in the Senate.

Mr. CLERMONT: Parliament approved two new charters last year and I do
not think any members were approached to sell their support.

Mr. LAFFERTY: The manner in which they had to achieve this would not
encourage anybody else to try it.
The CHAIRMAN: What do you mean by that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Tﬁe long extended process, red tape and expense and cost to
those who were sponsoring it.

Mr. LarLaMME: I have a supplementary question. Do you know that only
one member of the House of Commons can block the passing of a bank charter?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I was not aware of that.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you aware of the limited time available for any kind of
private business in the House of Commons?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I have seen it. On Wednesdays, or something, is it not?

The CHAIRMAN: It is a little more frequent than that. Mr. Clermont, have
you any further questions?

Mr. CLERMONT: No, that is enough.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Perhaps I may just qualify it by saying how it is done in the
United States. A man does not have to go to congress in order to form or create a
bank.

Mr. Linp: Nor to the state legislature?

e
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Mr. LAFFERTY: I think not.

Mr. CLERMONT: I am moving to the next paragraph because according t.dit
American banking is an ideal system and I would like to have a'few explanations
from you.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not know if we are finished—

Mr. CLERMONT: No, no, I am going to wait. __

The CHATRMAN: Yes. You refer to the market-place and suggest that the
acceptance of a financial institution should be judgment reserved to the market-
Place. I should point out to you, sir, that the judgment of the marlket-place

f-irccepted Prudential Finance, Atlantic Acceptance and British Mortgage and
rust. : ¢

Mr. LAFFERTY: If there had been adequate information for the market-place
to judge from these conditions would not have occured. The proper legislation
Would have prevented it. :

The CHAIRMAN: I might also point out that these three firms were incor-
borated by administrative letters patent procedure rather than by a legislative
assembly.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, I do not think that is the governing factor. I think the
governing factor is that the information and the proper disclosure were not
available. ;

The CHAIRMAN: I just wanted to point out to you that the system of
administrative assent to issuing of letters patent by an administrative body is not
Necessarily a panacea. 7Y

) Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh, no it is not. I agree, but I think in the earlier proposed
legislation this qualification was not in. It was put in as an adjustment.

The CHAIRMAN: What qualification? ;
Mr. LAFFERTY: Of going to the legislature. It went to the Treasury Board,
did it not? .
3 Mr. CameroON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): In the former bill it was
mcorporated by act of the Treasury Board, I think. :
Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes.
The CHATRMAN: I just wanted to point out that—

Mr. LAFFERTY: It was a fairly simple and straight regulation. I-f they met the
re8}llations then they could go into business. Whether they survived, that was
eir problem.

The CHAIRMAN: Would it not also be a problem for the depositors and the—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Certainly, the public at large. This is the essence of the
Market. They make their judgments, not some legislator.

The CHAIRMAN: You do not feel that the state should protect the small
depositors, and so on.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Frankly, Mr. Chairman, I do not think the state is qualified. .

The CHAIRMAN: In other words, you feel that we are not spending our.time
Properly in attempting to set up a system which would protect the deposits of
People who—
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Mr. LAFFERTY: Mr. Chairman, you have no basic research data here. You
have no evidence put together—

The CHAIRMAN: I am not talking about this Committee.

Mr. LAFFERTY: You asked me whether I think you are qualified or whether
the state is qualified and I do not.

The CHAIRMAN: I am not talking about this Committee as such. I am talking
about the state.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, the state as a legislative function and this is part of its
legislative function.

The CHAIRMAN: In other words, you are saying to us that we should not
have new legislation providing for people like the Inspector General of Banking
and—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Certainly, you should.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, you just said we should not be doing this.

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I did not.

The CHAIRMAN: It sounded that way to me.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanairmo-Cowichan-The Islands): May I ask you this ques-
tion, Mr. Lafferty. You have some very strong views on the ways in which banks
should be organized.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Not organized but governed; on the manner in which they
should be governed by legislation.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Governed by legislation,
yes.

Mr. LAFFERTY: The organization is an internal matter of management.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes, that is what I meant
by legislative organization. Now you are suggesting—I gather that you seized the
opportunity to come before this Committee because you felt your views on it
were valuable, and I think they have been. You would have had no such
opportunity had th& Treasury Board had the power to issue a licence; it would
have just been done.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I did not presuppose or presume that my views would be as
much as valuable to the Committee that I was a dissenting opinion and therefore
I felt the dessenter should express his views, otherwise he couud not justify his
own position when he criticized the activities of the marketplace.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): The point I want to make
is this. I think you are too modest; I think your views have been very valuable
and very useful to us, but you would have had no opportunity whatever to
express your views had the provision in the previous bill before the house been
passed as legislation.

Mr. LAFFERTY: As to making a judgment whether the banks should—

. Mr. CameRrON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Of presenting your views
to anybody at all.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I would have, surely under previous legislation.
Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I beg your pardon?
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The CHAIRMAN: You are saying that this should be done by a farm labourer
or a factory worker?

Mr. LAFFERTY: He is probably going to be advised. He may go to his lawyer,
or he may go to his accountant, but his accountant or his lawyer cannot advise
him unless they have the recent background.

The CHAIRMAN: Do most farm labourers have lawyers and accountants?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I assume they are guided in their financial matters by
someone, or else they depend on themselves.

The CHAIRMAN: I would think that it is a rather expensive lesson to face the
risk of complete ruin.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, I think it would become knowledge within the com=
munity when a bank had published its financial position whether the position of
that bank was good or not. The leaders in the community would identify it. At
the present the leaders of the communities cannot because there is insufficient
information available to do so.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Mr. Chairman, do you not really think that if someone in
the Treasury Board had the right to give a charter to a new bank there
would be a greater danger of favours, graces, political and financial influence
among a small group than having banks organized by means of a private bill
passed by parliament ?

Mr. LAFFERTY: This could be, but I should hope not.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, on this—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Surely, when we go to the Secretary of State we want to
incorporate a company. We do not have any problems at all as long as we meet
the basic requirements. When you go to Treasury Board and you meet the basic
requirements you should be authorized.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Any new bank will receive deposits and carry on business?

Mr. LAFFERTY: So long as it has the basic subscription of capital.

Mr. LarLaMME: Do you not think it is safer for the public to have it
organized as we do here?

Mr. LAFrERTY: I do not think it is any safer, no. I do not know exactly, but I
do not think so.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The United States has this deposit insurance and
there must be some reason for it.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Certainly there is.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I read in the papers where the daughter of the
president, or something, goes off with a couple of million and the bank fails. How
are the depositors going to know about that? I have read about at least three
instances during the last year. Now, how is the depositor going to know about
this? How are they going to know; do they have to take this risk?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I think there is a perfectly legitimate case, as you
suggest, but my own view is that these are risks one takes in the market-
place oneself. When a man—

An hon. MEMBER: Are you putting these views forth seriously?
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Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Sometimes a man who cannot even speak the
English language—a foreigner-—comes in and puts his deposit there and he loses
it, and you say that he is responsible?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, he made a business judgment, did he not?

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): He does not know.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not know how you can ever state—I beg your pardon?

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): He cannot read a balance sheet.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Has he ignorance of the law?

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): He cannot read nor write.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well then our education process is a bit backward.

An hon. MEMBER: You should start on that first.

Mr. LAFFERTY: In the United States they have 14,000 individual.banks ‘and
many of these are in small communities where there is comparatively little
knowledge; there is a protection that holds the structure together and prevents

any scare-running or scare-run taking place on a bank, there is a knowledge that
they are governed by an insurance depository system.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Sure, and they get that guarantee because they do
not have a guarantee when they go into a small bank to make deposits. I think
they are guaranteed up to $10,000, are they not? If they are not guaranteed they
go in and they have confidence and that is what we have got in our Canadian
banks—we have confidence.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on paragraph 4? If not, we
will move on to paragraph 5; Mr. Clermont has already indicated he has some
questions.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Lafferty says in paragraph 5 on
pPage 6, that:

To our knowledge most of the Western nations permit the operation
of foreign banks,—

Do you include in that the United States?
Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes.

{ Mr. CLERMONT: You are aware, for instance, that in the state of New York—
if the information I have before me is correct—to open a branch, you must have
a certain percentage of U.S. citizens as directors.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not know, Mr. Clermont, if that is a qualification you
said it is; it probably is. I am not in a position to say whether or not it is a
qualification.

Mr. CLERMONT: On what are you basing the statement that most of the
western world permits the operation of foreign banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Well, you can go to Paris, you can go to Switzerland, you can
go to the U.K., you can go to the United States, the state of New York, and these
foreign branches and agencies are permitted.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes, but if you open an agency in New York state you are
not allowed to receive deposits from any resident of the state of New York.
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Mr. LAFFERTY: It is my understanding that you may also have a branch in
the state of New York.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes, but with certain qualifications.
Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, but you may have to have U.S. directors.
Mr. CLERMONT: And for the capital—

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is no reason why you should not make the same
qualifications here if it is so thought desirable. I do not know what the merit of it
is but I think it was more a nationalistic basis of—

Mr. CLERMONT: But again, according to the information I have before me, I
think there is only one group that has obtained a national charter in the United
States and they are not operating it. They may obtain a charter or a licence from
individual states—not many; I think at the most eight or ten. I think over 40
states in the United States do not recognize or allow non-resident people to open
a bank.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think there are non-resident banks or branches of banks in
the United States. I think we have stated that before.

Mr. CLERMONT: Yes, I agree, but not in every state.
Mr. LAFFERTY: No.

Mr. CLERMONT: Some of the states do not even recognize non-resident
banking. In your brief you seem to be against the new bill.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am against the exclusion of non-resident banks in the
country.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Laflamme?
Mr. CLERMONT: That is all right, yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Laflamme.

Mr. LarLAMME: Do you not think there is a great difference between foreign
banks owned by U.S. people and foreign banks owned by other people, say, from
Switzerland and other places?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No. I think if the French wish to come into Montreal and
Toronto and run an efficient bank and serve the consumer they should be able to
do so. If the U.S. came in and could equally, or more competitively, serve the
consumer they should be afforded the opportunity to do so.

Mr. LArLAMME: Yes, but there is a g;eat difference between those tyvo
countries. We are very close to the United States and they are so rich that they
could swallow us.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is not a question of swallowing, it is a question of being
able to compete on the ground.

Mr. LAFLAMME: How can we compete when we are the poorest?
Mr. LAFFERTY: I beg your pardon?
Mr. LAFLAMME: How can we compete with the Americans?

Mr. LAFFERTY: You compete not in terms of wealth but in terms of serving
the consumer. If you can serve the consumer more efficiently you will obtain
more business whether—
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Mr. LAFLAMME: Do you really think that foreign capital will come into
Canada to serve Canadian consumers?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Do not forget all the enterprises that were built with foreign
capital—surely it does. This is the only basis on which they earn a profit.

Mr. LaArLAMME: Now, banking—

Mr. LAFFERTY: If a foreign bank wants to come into the country and serve
the community it is up to them, and if they can make a profit at it, then this is
effective.

Mr. LAFLAMME: And their main purpose will be to serve the consumer?

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is the only basis on which they can make reasonable
earnings out of it, is it not? How else can they? They cannot _tantalize the
consumer. If they provide a service and he is willing to pay for it, either becau:se
it is a lesser cost than elsewhere or it is a service that was not available to him
before and it is convenient and it is his choice to use it then why not? Why
restrict the freedom of the consumer to make this choice?

Mr. LAFLAMME: Let us say, for example, that there are-three_ foreigt} banlj:s
in Canada owned by Americans, and the American subsidiaries doing pusmne§s in
Canada decide to do business with their own banks. Do you not think this is
8oing to affect our economy?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I do not think so.
Mr. LAFLAMME: Such decisions would be made in Washington?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think they are already, because we are qependent on
borrowing in the U.S. capital markets and our home market deposit is governed
by this condition.

Mr. LAFLAMME: If they are already do you not think it is time to throw a
curve?

Mr. LAFFERTY: But is this the way to do it?I think the way to dot it is to
make our banks self-sufficient so they can compete more effectively here so that
foreigners coming in here cannot compete on our own home ground.

: Mr. LAFLAMME: You said earlier in the afternoon that the banks are very
influential in that field. Do you not think the Canadian government should have
control of the banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No.

Mr. LarLAMME: No.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Lafferty, the main
burden of much of your brief has been your complaint, which I am—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Contention, if I may.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I beg your pardon?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Contention.

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Very well, then. With
Tegard to the contention you made which I rather regretted you were pot able to
Ocument, that the banks practise a discrimination in favour of certain custom-
ers, do you not think that in a situation such as we have in Canada where a very
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large proportion of our resource and manufacturing industry is in the hands of
American capital that American banks here would attract to them in various
ways much of the business of those allegedly Canadian companies which are
actually subsidiaries of American companies?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, they would, Mr. Cameron, but they are also able to do
this without setting up banks here because all the major banks in New York
have correspondents who come up here and visit with their companies and both
solicit in periods of time when funds are available and solicit other conveniences
and services they can provide. This takes place anyway, unless you are going to
put a barrier against foreigners and decide that you are not going to allow any
foreigners in here, but you are providing a banking facility for them to do it. I do
not see where you have very much difference other than perhaps you are
providing an additional convenience again to the consumer. You have some U.S.
owned companies here who might find that the Canadian service was at a lower
cost, more efficient and more convenient to them. I do not think the U.S.
company is going to be swayed by nationalism. The U.S. company here is going
to be swayed by what is its convenience.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): It might be swayed by the
Rockefeller interests of New York, though.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Who will exercise pressure, there is no question about that.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Yes, a very great influ-
ence.

Mr. LAFFERTY: They exercise large pressure. I do not know that this is
specific to the Rockefeller interests, but certain U.S. interests do. There is no
question about that. And so do the Canadians.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): The Rockefeller inter-
ests—

Mr. LAFFERTY: And so do Canadians.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): —are concerned with a
particular bank.

Mr. LAFFERTY: And the Canadians do when they are in New York or
elsewhere.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan~The Islands): Yes, but not to the same
degree. This is one mouse; one elephant.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, I should like to ask a question
here. You say the American banks can do business now just the same as they did
before, but they cannot on account of the interest charges. At the present time if
we borrow in New York we have to account for the interest we pay to the banks
in New York.

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am sorry, I do not follow it, Dr. McLean.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): Well, I do not follow it either, but I could not
borrow any longer in New York.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Let us say, Dr. McLean, I feel it is coming. My qualification
is, if the funds were available.
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Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): The funds are available but it is a different
Proposition now because of the recent guidelines and all that sort of stuff they
bave brought in. You have to account to the income tax people in Canada for the
Interest you pay to the banks in New York, and this was not the situation before,
S0 they are not on the same basis as they were 15 years ago.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, as Mr. Clermont pointed out, when you say
Lhat to our knowledge most of the western banks permit the operation of foreign
anks—
Mr. LAFFERTY: Most of the western nations, I think.
The CHAIRMAN: Yes, yes. You are surely not suggesting to us that most of

the western nations permit unrestricted operations of foreign banks within their
boundaries?

Mr. LarreErTY: I do not know of any. There are local restrictions, I suppose. I
do not know what the United Kingdom restrictions are on a non-resident bank. I
do not know what the Swiss are, I think they are fairly free. I think in France
hey are governed by certain regulations because it is a pretty regulated banking
and money market area.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Clermont, I think, pointed out to you that in approxi-
Mately 45 of the 50 American states non-resident banking is completely banned.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, but in the main—

Mr. CLERMONT: Let me correct that. I perhaps should not say banned, but
they are ignored because they have a list and there are only eight states in the
nited States who have either agency branches, representation offices, state
charteded subsidiaries and branches of state chartered subsidaries.
Mr. LAFFERTY: There is very little point in putting a bank in Omaha, or
SO0mething, and trying to develop business in the area.

Mr. CLErMoONT: The “how” is not in that at all.

Mr. LarrerTy: No. I say there would be very little point or incentive for a
forelgn bank to go and establish itself in Omaha.

The CHAIRMAN: The people in Omaha might feel that they were sufficiently
stablished in the United States to—

Mr. CLErMONT: I do not see Las Vegas here.

The CHAIRMAN: As far as the United States is concerned it would hardly
Seem like a few limited local regulations.
+ Mr. LarrerTy: I think this is an area where the committee should either,
hrough the Department of Finance or the Bank of Canada, try and obtain this
-OCumentation of what the restrictions are so members can assess it. I do not say
IS up to amateur witnesses like ourselves, but thi§ is an area in which we do
7ot have either need or call for complete documentation.

The CHAIRMAN: Once again you have made quite a specific statement, “to
Ur knowledge most of the western—". Oh, I see, it is in so far as your

Rowledge extends?

Mr. LarrFerTY: Correct.
The CraRMAN: Is that what you mean?
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Mr. LAFFERTY: To our knowledge. I think that is reasonable, is it not, as a
qualification?

Mr. Linp: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Lafferty keeps speaking of the discrimination
of the banks. What do you mean by discrimination? Are they discriminating
between customers or are they discriminating between—

¢ Mr. LAFFERTY: It is discussed fairly extensively in the basic text of the
original brief.

Mr. Linp: I know.

Mr. LAFFERTY: The various bases of reasoning are given there. You can have
discrimination in all sorts of different ways; business discrimination, discrimina-
tion in accommodation, discrimination in conveniences and discrimination in
rates.

Mr. Linp: Do you not think it is a good part of the judgment of bankers to
judge credit risks and allow different amounts of credit?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Let me put it this way. You ask for evidence of discrimina-
tion. Perhaps you would like to subpoena—I know you have the authority—the
president of one of the major banks. We were cut off business from that bank by
his direct instructions, and you can bring the branch manager who conveyed the
instructions, because we published an article in 1964 which suggested that credit
conditions in Canada were becoming loose. Now, Mr. Gibson, who is a knowl-

"edgeable banker and has already given you a transcript of evidence, has

confirmed that credit conditions in 1964 were becoming loose. But because we
stated this in a public report which was going to people who were professional in
the field, we were identifying these conditions to them so they could avoid
situations like Atlantic Acceptance, and everything of that nature, the big stick
was waved over us and economic intimidation was imposed on us because we
had reflected on this condition. Now, if you do not call that prejudice I do not
know what you call it. I call it intimidation. I would like to subpoena the
president of that bank and the branch manager concerned and take the oath
of the witness and examine this with evidence. I have no qualms about it at all.

Mr. Linp: But you have an axe to grind, have you not?
Mr. LAFFERTY: I have no axe to grind. =

Mr. Linp: But you are bringing up an examination—
Mr. LAFFERTY: You asked me for evidence.

Mr. Linp: I am asking you for evidence of discrimination other than your
own.

Mr. LAFFERTY: What type of discrimination?
Mr. Linp: Well, I do not know. You speak of discrimination.

Mr. LAFFERTY: There is the whole context and the whole discussion of
discrimination. You have discrimination going for that underwriting issue of Bell
Telephone. It is all these selected dealers who are provided for in the distribution
of those securities. This is not a competitive bid.

Mr. Linp: Well, is the Bell Telephone—

p——
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The CHAIRMAN: If we called the president and branch manager of this
barticular bank before us, as you suggest, would you also be willing to give us
complete disclosure of your own financial condition at that time?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Or, sure. Any accommodation we have with a bank is fully
secured. They have the security.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): In this instance you speak
of with Bell Telephone, was this—

Mr. Linp: Mr. Chairman, can we have the president and manager of that
bank summonsed?

The CHAIRMAN: Up until now most of the bankers have been quite willing to
come here. In fact, some of them have been attending even when they did not
have to be here. I think the best thing to do, if Mr. Lafferty perhaps would
brovide me with the names of the individuals in question would be to refer this
to the steering committee and decide whether we want to pursue it further.

Mr. Linp: This discrimination which Mr. Lafferty mentions, Mr. Chair-
man, has rather given us a picture of bankers as being an iniquitous lot of people
who dominate and plague and terrorize the average citizen. Do you seriously
suggest, Mr, Lafferty, and I take this from what you said previously, that a bank
combine or monopoly, or whatever you call it, was responsible for your prosecu-
tion by the Montreal Stock Exchange just because a lawyer who acts for a bank
happened to act for the stock exchange?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I have no evidence.
Mr. Linp: That is what you said this afternoon.

Mr. LAFrERTY: No, I merely stated what took place. I have no evidence as to
Whether it was sponsored or not. All I said was that he was a senior director of
One of the major banks. ;

The views that I hold are not held by me alone. If you were to extend
Yourselves into the financial community at my age group you would find many
Who have the same views, but they are not in a position to express them without
haVing economic retaliation taken against them. I say that without equivocation
and I am fairly well exposed, as I have already said before, to the financial
Community.

Mr. Linp: Mr. Lafferty, you also mentioned in your brief that you do not
Seriously suggest that it is the influence of the banking committee that has

Prohibited membership of a certain race on the stock exchanges in Toronto and
Montreal?

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps we should deal with that issue separately. Right
now we are—

Mr. Linp: We were talking about discrimination and influence.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, perhaps it is an area that, as Chairman, I thought
Would be related in some way to the question of foreign banks. Perhaps we can
get to that part of the brief separately. We are almost finished with the adden-

Um,

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): May I ask Mr. Laﬁ‘er-ty a

Question? Again on this question of Bell Telephone of which he spoke and which
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he described as a case of discrimination, was that discrimination on the part of
the bank or on the part of the Bell Telephone Company?

Mr. LAFFERTY: A combination of the two. Discrimination on the part of the
Bell Telephone Company in that they only selected one with whom to make the
arrangements without checking competitive rates, and on the group who re-
ceived the issue they only selected some dealers to participate with them in the
distribution and not others. This goes into provincial Ontario Hydro issues and
all sorts of things.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Lafferty, what should they have done? What
should the Bell Telephone Company have done?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Normally they would need money in the capital market; say
the amount is $30 million or $40 million, whatever it may be, it becomes known
in the financial community. They invite syndicates to bid and syndicates form
themselves together as to what they will bid. The Bell Telephone then takes the
lowest bid and the syndicate is permitted to buy in that issue, and then there is
the matter of distributing it.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): It was a pretty big syndicate, was it not, that took
over the Bell issue?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It does not need to be for the size of that issue.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Maybe there was no room for two syndicates.
Mr. LAFFERTY: This competitive bidding, if you take—

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): If you have not got two syndicates how can you
have competitive bidding?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Oh, you have three or four.

Mr. MoRrE (Regina City): Is it not a fact, Mr. Lafferty, that some business
people find that dealing with a corporation of their choice serves them better
than dealing on a bid basis, and do not some municipal governments and others
practice this because they have found that the service they get and the resulting
relationship makes it worth while to do this?

Mr. LAFFERTY: It is the same principle, where you let a construction contract

on a bid basis or where you give it to your particular favourite contractor, The
same principle is involved whether the public interest is protected or not.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on foreign banks? If not, I
suggest we move on to paragraph 6. Any questions or comments on the proposal

in paragraph 6 on page 77

Mr. CLERMONT: Mr. Chairman, according to this brief, Mr. Lafferty would
like the Canadian government or some agency to give an explanation to the
public for the merger of the Canadian Bank of Commerce with the Imperial
Bank of Canada. This is at the bottom of page 7.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps Mr. Fulton, or someone, might enlighten me, at
least. Were there questions asked in the House about this when it was an-
nounced?

Mr. LAMBERT: A statement was made by the Minister of Finance of the day.
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1 Mr, CLERMONT: The reason for my question is that Mr. Lafferty earlier in
th}S brief claims that a group should not go to parliament to obtain a charter. Is
this right?

i Mr. LAFFERTY: I expressed the view that to my way of thinking it was not a
desirable approach.

Mr. CLERMONT: Do you not think, Mr. Lafferty, if the law had been such that
to effect a merger they would have been obliged to go to parliament that the
bublic would have been better informed?

_ Mr. LarrerTY: No, I think there should be anti-trust and anti-combines
legislation which would have established it was detrimental to the public interest
to merge the two banks. If such legislation had existed that would have been
adequate,

Mr. LAMBERT: But on the other hand, Mr. Chairman, is it not a fact that the

legislation as it now stands, and as it stood at the time, requires that any merger
of this kind can only take place with the approval of the Minister of Finance?

Mr. FuLToN: This is Treasury Board, approved by the cabinet.
The CHAIRMAN: You would say in advance that the judgment of the court, if

We had laws dealing with this type of merger in our complex of anti-trust
1eglsl'ation, would automatically have been against it?

Mr. LarrFerTY: If it deprived or impaired the competitive development of
the market place the judgment would have been against it.

Mr. FuLToN: You know that we took two merger cases to court, do you not,
Mr, Lafferty, and lost both of them. These were the first two merger cases that

ave been taken to court in Canada.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Mr. Fulton, my whole context this afternoon an'd this e:vening
has peen that our anti-trust and anti-combines legislation is insufficient to
Permit the public assistance.

. Mr. Furton: Well, the courts held that there was not sufﬁcient. ipterference
With competition in those two cases. There was still effective competition.

Mr. CameroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Mr. Lafferty, you speak
about strengthening this section 138. Would you consider 1t.a prima facie case of
collusion if it appeared that two or more banks were giving the same rate of
Interest on deposits and charging the same interest rates on loans?

Mr. LarFerTY: Not at one particular period. It could be a normal adjust-
™Ment in the market place. The market place would normally adjust. If they
Changed their prices together at the same time or if they acted togethertto
achieve a certain condition, yes, but not if they happened to have the same rates
at the same time, because this is a natural phenomenon and it is bound to take
blace at some stage.

Mr. CameroN( Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Is it inconc.elvable that
€ach bank might reach the same conclusion as to the logical rate' of interest, sa);,
fven on deposits or to charge on loans? Is it a practical thl‘ng .to_ syggest.
PeI'SOIla.lly I think clause 138 is a piece of nonsence. I do not think it will hav.e
any effect, I said so at the time it came tp and I do not see how you can make it

25468—7
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effective unless you are going to put all banks into proper monastics cells and not
allow them to communicate with each other, which means that you are bound to
find that the same kinds of institutions operating in the same field at any
particular time are going to come up with the same answer.

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is not always true, Mr. Cameron, because if you take the
near-bank field of the trust companies you will find for periods of weeks trust
companies are offering different rates on deposit; some 4 per cent some 41 per
cent and some 4% per cent, and also offering different conveniences with those
deposits.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I am not a lawyer but I
would certainly hate to try and prosecute the banks. Fortunately, I am sure they
would get off!

Mr. LAFFERTY: One bank which sought more funds might go out and invest
in the marketplace, as they do in the short term money market. They bid
against each other at very different rates and take funds on term deposit for 30,
45 or 60 days and the highest bidder normally takes the funds.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Do you think it is a bad thing for the banks to have an
association?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, I think it is a bad thing to have an association to provide
the framework on which they will conduct their businesses. I see that the
Inspector General has referred to the Canadian Bankers Association as an
educational organization. I have no evidence to the contrary but I think from a
general consensus of the financial community that it is not. It is a much more
organized unit.

Mr. LAFLAMME: Let us say, for instance; in Montreal that one bank decides
to pay, let us say, 6 per cent interest on deposits and the other banks say no, we
will not, then they must attract deposits?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I think it is highly undesirable. They have general managers
in the Canadian Bankers Association, they are not an educational institution,
they have better things to do than run an educational institution.

Mr. More (Regina City): Would you recommend that it be abolished?
Mr. LAFFERTY: I would. »

The CHAIRMAN: It is true that when the Inspector General of Banks said it
was an educational institution—and while the record may not show this—he
seemed to have a fixed smile on his face but, at the same time, it is my
understanding, and I could be wrong, that they do, in fact, offer courses to banks’

staffs and have people who—

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is fine. Their personnel managers get together and run
the institution with this sort of staff, but then it certainly does not require a
general managers’ policy to operate it. .

The CHAIRMAN: If there are no further questions on Mr. Lafferty’s proposals
regarding clause 138, before we deal—

Mr. Mogre (Regina City): Mr. Chairman, just before you move on, Mr.
Lafferty makes this statement in his brief:



e

January 10, 1967 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS 2291

The banks have literally acted as an avenue through which certain
private interests have exploited millions of dollars of the Canadian pub-
lic’s money.

The CHAIRMAN: Where is that Mr. More? ;

Mr. More (Regina City): Page 7, the second paragraph. It is an assertion.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Would you like to study this document, the history of this
COmpany, the Argus Corporation, the interlocking relationship they had on
financial institutions when they put it together? The equity capital of the
_Shareholders appears at the bottom. Let me just read this equity capital for you,
1t is very interesting.

Mr. Furton: Would you first relate it to the banks?

An hon. MEMBER: Yes, that is what I would like.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Their major directors were on different banks and the means
by which the original financial distribution of securities was made was through
Compromise.

Mr. FurToN: Can you prove that?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I certainly cannot.

Mr. Furron: Well then, go ahead. 96 1
Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): I thought it was the breweries.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It was found that—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): That was E. P. Taylor, was it not?

Mr. LAFrERTY: The common capitalization was $5,411,000. The total assets, if
¥ou take the marketable scale, were $202 million plus another $10 million. He
Would put up a comparatively small investment, which was probably loaned by
ﬂ}e banks against the equity, and leave it up for the capitalization of several

ifferent preferred stock capitalizations, several secured notes, and in this way
You have a pyramid structure. '

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Does the Argus Corporation actually have control
of any company?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes. They have effective control of Dominion Stores.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): No, they actually have control?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Dominion Stores.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Did they ever have 51 per cent of the shares of
any company ?

Mr. LAFFERTY: They do not need it. They have effective control, which is
Sufficient. Canadian Breweries, Dominion Stores, Domtar, Hollinger, Massey-
€rguson, Standard Radio and B.C. Forest Products.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): They do not have actual control?
Mr. LarrerTY: They have effective control. They own effective control.
Mr. CaMmERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): E. P. Taylor’s man always

arrives when B.C. Forest Products is in trouble.
2546873
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The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, in your supplementary brief you have several
appendices which, I think it is quite fair for me to say, are testimonials with
respect to the views advanced in your brief. Two of them are signed by lawyers,
one in western Canada and one in Montreal.

Mr. MoRre (Regina City): That lets you out.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, that is right, but I am always happy to receive
publications. Mr. Lafferty has increased my general knowledte. I mention that
these testimonials are signed by lawyers because I found it rather interesting
that this was the case in view of the fact, Mr. Lafferty, on page 4 of your brief
you say:

It is a well known fact that a practicing lawyer has neither the time,
nor in most cases the knowledge or experience, to effectively judge and
direct a nation-wide branch banking system that must necessarily relate
to the international monetary and banking affairs of the world.

I am wondering, in view of this comment in your brief, whether you have called
on people whom you do not regard as particularly knowledgeable in this field?

Mr. LAFFERTY: No, I do not think so, Mr. Chairman. I think that the
preparation of this type of brief by a small group of our nature is an uncommon
thing to do in the Canadian financial community and you obviously antagonize
all sorts of these larger interests. There are many others who are perhaps on the
same level of operations who considered it was rather a critical approach to take.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps I did not express myself as clearly as I had
intended.

Mr. LAFFERTY: One of the suggestions was that lawyers are not qualified to
operate banks. The other was the suggestion that lawyers recognize the collusion
and intimidation which takes place in the overall structure as a whole.

The CHAIRMAN: I got the impression that you were suggesting that practic-
ing lawyers do not have the necessary knowledge or experience so that they
could—

Mr. LAFFERTY: Not in the banking business.
The CHAIRMAN: Then how could they pz;operly assess your views?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I am not expressing my views on the operation of the
individual banks. I am expressing my views on the effect of the dominant
interests and the collusion in the over-all market economy as a whole which
comes into this.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): A lawyer might have
additional expertise, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN: That is right.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Mr. Chairman, we have gone into the monetary
affairs of the world once or twice. Every time I go to ask something about the
monetary affairs of the world you shut me off.

The CHAIRMAN: No, I just wanted you to hold that aspect off until we had a
few moments for a general discussion, because I think our practice has been to
deal with the specific topics raised by the witness in order to be courteous




January 10,1967 FINANCE, TRADE AND ECONOMIC AFFAIRS 2293

enough to give our major attention to the views he wants to discuss with us. I
think at this point Mr. More, indicated he wanted to ask something about a
Particular paragraph.

: Mr. More (Regina City): I would like to ask Mr. Lafferty if he was serious
In suggesting that the bank cartel, as he calls it, has the power and has used
this power so that people of certain racial background have been denied mem-
t)ership in the Montreal and Toronto stock exchanges, which is a point he seems
0 make.

The CHAIRMAN: On what page is that?
Mr. LArrERTY: I do not think it relates to the stock exchanges.

. Mr. More (Regina City): But you mention the membership. There is one
In Toronto and one in Montreal, and that some applicant was blackballed in
Montreal. What does this have to do with the banks? It seems to me that you
relate it here as evidence of discrimination in the power of the banks.

An hon. MEMBER: What page is that?
The CHAIRMAN: It is the last paragraph on page 24.
Mr. More (Regina City): Yes, page 24.

Mr. LAFFERTY: It reads:

It is for this same reasoning that the Jews in Canada have been
largely excluded by direct restrictive practices from entering the financial
community.

The CHAIRMAN: What is your question again, Mr. More?

Mr. More (Regina City): My question is why is this put in a brief having

‘o do with banking? He talked about the cartel the power and the control.

Oes he seriously suggest that they exercise this control over the Montreal and
Toronto stock exchanges to this effect?

Mr. LAFFERTY: You do not have a racial discrimination, perhaps, as a
Competitive restriction within the financial community environment as a whole.
Again 1 cannot, without a subpoena or by the evidence of witnesses, trace this
through and establish where it originates. It is a set of conditions in Canada in
our financial markets that we do not have the Jewish participation that we have

In the New York market, the London market, the French market or the Swiss
Mmarket,

Mr. More (Regina City): You blame this on the influence of the Canadian
chartered banks?

Mr. LAFFERTY: I have related it as a surmise to the over-all cohesiveness or
Collusion of the dominant interests. If my information is correct, there is—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Is not the head of our whole banking system of
the Jewish persuasion?

Mr. LAFFERTY: That, I think, is a Crown Corporation.

Mr. CamerON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I wonder if Mr. Lafferty

does know. The fact that people of the ethnic origin of Dr. McLean and myself
80t there first in Canada is a matter which has interested me for a long time,
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and we appear to have usurped the position in Canada that has been occupied
by Jewish people in other countries. It is a very notable fact. I do not know
myself; I have looked at various lists of bank directors and I have not come
across a recognizable Jewish name. :

Mr. LAFLAMME: What about Mr. Bronfman, a director of the Bank of
Montreal?

An hon. MEMBER: Yes, Mr. Bronfman and Mr. Phillips.
Mr. FuLToN: Lazarus Phillips of Montreal.

Mr. LAFFERTY: They are comparatively new. I think Mr. Lazarus Phillips
appeared in 1956 and Mr. Bronfman shortly afterwards.

‘ Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): But they certainly do not
play the role in the financial institutions of Canada that they do, for instance, in
the United States. I do not know what causes this except, as I say, the people
whom I described to Mr. Paton of the Toronto-Dominion who have an ethnic
proclivity for getting there first were there before the Jewish people were in
Canada. It is quite significant that they do not play an important role. I think
you are to be commended for—

Mr. LAFFERTY: They are a highly competitive people and when you have a
restricted atmosphere and they cannot operate, then I think you can come to a
logical conclusion. -

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, is there not presently at least one Jewish
member on the Montreal Stock Exchange?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes, subsequently to this brief.

Mr. FurTon: Are Lazarus Freres members of the Montreal Stock Exchange?
An hon. MEMBER: It was Lazar Freres. :
Mr. LAFFERTY: Nb, an international banking house.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, I recall reading that in Montreal two in-

dividuals of the Jewish faith applied for positions with a certain firm—
Mr. LAFFERTY: It was our firm.

The CHAIRMAN: It was your firm? They” brought charges against your firm
under the Quebec Fair Employment Practices Aet?

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is correct.

The CHAIRMAN: On the grounds that they were not hired because of dis-
crimination?

Mr. LArFrERTY: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN_: That is your firm?

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is correct.

The CHAIRMAN: This case is still before the courts?

Mr. LAFFERTY: Yes. May I amplify this for a minute. The matter is still
before the courts. These procedures become quite complex. I was not directly
involved in the incident at the time, one of the partners in our firm was and he

e
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related to the two applicants that to his knowledge they would not be eligible as
traders on the Montreal Stock Exchange since there had been no Jewish traders.
To our knowledge there has never been a Jewish trader on the Montreal Stock
Exchange.

The CHAIRMAN: You just said there is a member firm.

Mr. LAFFERTY: As a member firm; it is different. A trader appears on the
floor who trades for the ownership of the member firm. In this case one of the
Principals of this new firm is a Jewish partner, Mr. Shapiro, but he does not
trade on the floor, just as I do not trade on the floor for our firm. But you need
a trader on the floor who will execute the' transactions on the floor of the
exchange itself. We were seeking a trader. :

i The CHAIRMAN: This matter is still before the courts and they have not
8lven their decision?

Mr. LAFFERTY: That is correct.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it also correct that one reason why a decision may not
have been given up to now is that one of the defences which was raised was
that the Quebec law was ultra vires of the Province of Quebec.

Mr. LAFFERTY: This is correct. _
The CHAIRMAN: This is one of the defences raised on your behalf?

Mr, LAFFERTY: Yes, it was not at our suggestion. The matter was taken out
of our hands by our lawyers and referred to another firm, which happened to be
a Jewish firm. This firm had handled a previous case and they felt that in the
Previous case they had adopted this position, therefore they had to be consistent
and adopt it with ours.

The CHaRMAN: You do not give instructions to your lawyers?

Mr. LAFFERTY: We are not knowledgeable enough on the legal aspect of this
Matter. They asked us if we were in agreement with following it—I was not in
town at the time—and it seemed a sensible course. They asked me by telephone
and I said I would check with our lawyers in the other firm and see if they agree
With this. They agreed with it, so I said, “Fine, go right ahead”.

They were in a difficult position. They either had to take our case and put it
on the basis of the other one which they had sought, or base the defence on this
Previous case, on this other supposition.

The CHAIRMAN: There is no question at the moment that charge are
gf?@ir})g against you that you did not hire these people because of their ethnic

181n?

.Mr. LAFFERTY: Frankly, I am not quite sure what the position is. There are
Various arguments which have to be presented by counsel for both parties.
These have been deferred at different times by the prosecution. The last date I
had wag December 16, yet as far as I can ascertain, and I meant to write before 1
left, our lawyers have not found out.

The CHAIRMAN: Let me get this straight. The charges were laid against your

firm, the matter was brought into court and a final decision has not yet been
Tendered, [nags
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Mr. LAFFERTY: It has been brought into court in the sense that it has been
filed in court.

Mr. LAMBERT: Why is this subject being—

The CHAIRMAN: That is why, as you may know, I am deliberately not
asking—

Mr. LAMBERT: Why pursue it?

The CHAIRMAN: I thought in the light of this paragraph and the questions
that have been asked that it might be a useful addition to the record.

Mr. LAFFERTY: Mr. Chairman, I might say—

The CHAIRMAN: My questions only related to what is a matter of public
record.

Mr. LAFFERTY: At the particular time this occurred we had two Jewish
members on the staff.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions of our witness at this time?
I would like to thank you, Mr. Lafferty, for—

Mr. CLERMONT: I think Dr. McLean would like to ask a question on—

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Well, if we want to go into international affairs.
Of course, we do not want to hear it because it is at the bottom of everything.

An hon. MEMBER: Gold reserves?
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Certainly it is.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lafferty, we want to thank you for giving us a point of
view which has been most stimulating and I think it will assist us in assessing
the views put forward by the banking community.

Mr. Howes, would you like to step forward?

Gentlemen, our next witness is Mr. Terry Howes, who has submitted a brief
to us and asked for an opportunity to appear. He tells me that he could best be
described as a salesman or as an entrepreneur generale. These are his words. I
think to save time, as we have had his brief for some days, perhaps we might
move directly into questioning. It will be noted that he has made specific
recommendations through paragraphs numbefed 1 to 17 and has been kind
enough to append a number of very interesting articles. I think, therefore, we
should proceed with our questioning roughly along the same order that he has
made his recommendations to us.

I would ask those who wish to question Mr. Howes to so signify.

Mr. FuLton: Mr. Chairman, are you going to ask Mr. Howes to identify
himself?

The CHAIRMAN: It is my practice, Mr. Fulton, before the beginning of the
committee meeting to ask the witness for some general information, which I
present to the Committee, to assist us in situating the views of the witness in the
general complex of our considerations. Mr. Howes said that he is best described
as a salesman, and then he added the phrase “entrepreneur general”. I must say
that that is the limit of the information I have to present to you, which is as a
result of a very brief conversation with him between the time we excused our

—_—
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previous witness and the time I presented him. If other members of the Com-
mittee wish to have more information, I am afraid I will have to invite them to
question the witness directly.

Mr. FurToN: I wonder if Mr. Howes would care to identify himself further
as to his business associations so that I would know his background.

Mr. Terry Howgs: Mr. Fulton, may I say that I make a living, as well as I
can, as an entrepreneur. Surely it would not have any bearing on my presenta-
tion to this Committee. Let me put it this way: I am not associated in a financial
community, as these other gentlemen were who preceded me I do not claim to
be as knowledgeable as they are of money markets and all these complicated
things.

Mr. FuLTON: Are you a member or an officer or a shareholder in an
organization called the O.S.C.A., the Ontario Sporting Clubs Alliance?

Mr. Howes: Yes, Mr. Fulton. Go ahead.
Mr. FuLTON: Are you?

Mr. HowEs: Mr. Fulton, this is just said to smear me. You know that, do you
not?

Mr. FurToN: Mr. Howes, I am asking you a question.

Mr. Howes: Carry on. The answer is yes. Gentlemen, it is going to be very
interesting to hear this. This was just said to smear me and it has no bearing
whatsoever on my suggestions about the banking community. You know that,
Mr. Fulton. Carry on.

Mr. FuLTON: Are you associated in any way with Sovereign Publishing
Company?

Mr. Howes: Yes, that is correct.

Mr. FurLton: Did you publish something under the heading of “Air Force
Diet?”

Mr. Howes: Yes, we did indeed.

Mr. FurtoN: Have those organization been the subject of a United States
Federal Post Office Department fraud order?

Mr. Howes: Right.
Mr. FuLToN: Denying you the use of the mails?
Mr. Howes: Right.
Mr. FuLToN: This was as recently as 1965 and 19667
Mr. Howes: That is correct.
Mr. FuLToN: Were you the advertiser, or associated with the advertiser,
of an advertisement headed: “640 Acres of Wildlife—$20.”
Mr. HowEs: The same.
Mr. FuLTon: It reads:
For $20 a year plus $6 taxes you can lease a 640 acre wildlife
domain near the Canadian border. Untamed paradises.
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Mr. Howes: To save a lot of talk I will just give the whole thing to you.
carry on; Mr. Fulton.

Mr. FurTon: Well, give us the whole thing, then.

Mr. Howes: Mr. Fulton, some years ago I decided that the field of share-
holders’ rights was the one field which was keeping this country from doing as
well as it should. Now, I made a considerable study of it and I determined that the
banks were the worst offenders respecting shareholders’ rights. Now, two years
ago the Porter Report came out and it said that as far as these learned gentlemen
were concerned no body of shareholders which they could determine was really
interested in knowing or cared about the financial affairs of the banks of this
country. So, I felt for myself and by myself that I did not think this was the case.
I decided that I would try, in a very democratic way, to solicit votes in one of our
banks. If T said that they took less than kindly to this, that would be one of the
understatements of the century. I have had no peace from that day to this,
including from your own good self. But anyway, here I am.

Mr. FurLTton: Have you and I had any correspondence?

Mr. Howes: No, we have not sir. Why should how I make a living be
germane to this meeting? Why do you ask that? May I say further that this
so-called fraud order that the U.S. Post office has against us would put the Court
of the Star Chamber to shame. First of all, we were accused by unnamed
accusers, a hearing was held in camera when we could not defend ourselves and
we have subsequently been denied the right of appeal. Now, this happened in the
United States, not in Canada. I am a Canadian citizen and I am proud to say it. If
anyone has anything against me and feels that I have done something wrong,
bring it before the Canadian courts, not where I cannot defend myself. Maybe we
can continue with what we are here for tonight, now that this matter has been
brought up. Is there anything else you would like to know?

I am Canadian born and raised and proud to say it and the father of seven
children. I feel there is a real injustice in our banking system. Go ahead.

Mr. FuLTtoN: Were you the subject of an article in Maclean’s magazine of
March 20, 1965?

Mr. Howes: Indeed I was.

Mr. Furton: Did you sue them for libel? i

Mr. Howes: Did I sue them for libel? Did they say something libelous?
Mr. FuLTon: I am asking whether you sued them for libel?

Mr. Howes: The answer is no. Carry on.

Mr. FurTonN: I think the article speaks for itself. There is just one other
question. Are you associated with a group known as the Great Northern Pulp
and Paper Group?

Mr. Howes: Yes, I am.
Mr. Furton: That is all, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Howes: Does this have to go on, Mr. Gray? Really, does it?

The CHAIRMAN: I think at least to some reasonable extent it is useful to
know the background of the witness so that we can assess his views in the light
of his experience in the business community—
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Mr. Howes: The story is that I used to live a nice, peaceful life until I felt
that I should try and see if perhaps the fiction was in fact the fact. I decided that
I would solicit a few votes, in a very democratic way, from the shareholders
of this bank. Since then, as I say, I have had no peace at all. However let us
carry on. We are finished with this now, I hope gentlemen. You have heard
about all the dirty linen they can find and this the worst they can find out
about me. Go ahead.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): I do not understand about soliciting proxies.

Mr. Howegs: This is the way the fiction works. Let us go away back in
history. Years and years ago when limited companies were first formed they
were collections of partners who were truly democratic people. They would be
sitting like we are sitting here tonight and they would truly have to report to
their partners. Then they came to be shareholders and they still would have to
report, but gradually shares became more and more widely held until where
today, most assuredly in the banks, as Mr. Lafferty said,—I do not agree with
everything Mr. Lafferty said but I certainly do here—it is just a complete and
absolute mockery. If you dare say one smgle word you will have no peace at all.
They do have terrible powers.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): It does not come from the shareholders. Who does
this “no peace” come from?
Mr. HowEs: It comes from the management of this particular bank. Or, in

this case, from their public relations outfit, whom I am sure are represented here
tonight.

The CuAIRMAN: Why would they be against you?

Mr. Howes: Mr. Gray, I have asked myself this many, many times because I
did this in what I thought was a very democratic fashion, I really did, and with
no axes to grind against these people. The only answer I can find for you, sir, is
that I feel that—and this is what all of us here should be concerned about—they
have such fantastic power and there are virtually no checks on balances over
them, virtually none. It is like a government running itself without holding an
election. That is just how they work.

The CHAIRMAN: What did you try to do that they did not like?

Mr. Howes: I simply came down here to room so-and-so in the Parliament
Buildings, or sent my girl down to do it, and got a list of the shareholders and I
Wwrote them a letter and said, “We feel, in line with the recommendations of the
Porter Commission, that considerable changes should be made in the Bank Act”.
Now, further to that we said that the management of this bank has made some
God-awful goofs and we feel that they should be at least chastised for it.

The CHAIRMAN: When did you send this letter out?

Mr. Howes: About a year ago. The meeting was the second Tuesday in
December so it was a year ago December.

The CHAIRMAN: I see. When were these fraud orders made?
Mr. Howes: Slightly prior to that.
The CHAIRMAN: But prior?
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Mr. Howes: Put it this way: It was between when I sent out the letter and
when the meeting was held.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): What did they do to you?
Mr. HowEs: Who is “they”, sir?

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): The people whom you have this against? I do not
understand this—

Mr. Howes: Mr. McLean, I do not have anything against anybody.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): You gathered up some proxies, and you say that
since then you have had no peace.

Mr. Howes: What is that again, sir?

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): You said that since you have gathered up some
proxies you have had no peace.

Mr. Howes: Yes, that is right.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): Who is disturbing your peace?

The CHAIRMAN: Are you suggesting that some banking interest is trying to
do something against you because you hold these proxies?

Mr. Howes: Yes. This bank retains a firm called Public Relations Services,
Limited. They have done their best to tell the press, including these gentlemen
here, you can rest assured, and including our good friend and colleague, Mr.
Fulton—

Mr. Furton: Do they retain MacLean’s Magazine, too?

Mr. Howes: Did Maclean’s say something bad about me?

Mr. FurToN: It is up to you to judge. Did you not sue them for libel?
Mr. Howes: It is up to you to produce it.

Mr. FuLTon: You have asked me to:

Terrance Howes and John Heaven, two Toronto men in their mid-
thirties, don’t much resemble the conventional images of buccaneers,
except for a certain raffish derision in their eyes when confronting gov-
ernment officials or solid businessmen. Yét in their four-year partnership,
they have separated the public from more money than many men ever
see, most of it by the sale or rent of Canadian land which they neither
own nor want to own.

These are not my statements, and I ask if you sued Maclean’s Magazine for
libel when those statements appeared.
This relates to O.F.D.A.

Mr. Howes: Gentlemen, all right; I am a thief; a crook; a no-goodnik from
the word “go”. Now, if we have finished with that, can we discuss my proposals?

Mr. FuLTon: I suggest that we do, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Howes: Thanks very much.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we are in a position to do that, but it is always useful
to find the basis which leads a person to make certain proposals; although in
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fairness to the witness I think we should be prepared to consider his proposals on
their own merit.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Yes; but I would like to know why the proposals
are made.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, that is right.

Mr. HowEes: Because they need to be made, Mr. McLean. Is that a good
reason? I think I can convince anybody with an open mind, which I am quite
sure you gentlemen have, that they need very much to be made, indeed, and we
have once every ten years to do it.

The CHAIRMAN: All right. Let us look at paragraph 1. Are there any
questions or comments on the views put forward there?

Mr. LAMBERT: To get down to paragraph 1 on page 5, in what precise respect
would you indicate that the annual statements made by the banks should be
changed so that, in your own words, they would become more meaningful?

Mr. Howes: Certainly I am not knowledgeable on bank statements. Very
few people in the world are. What I did was to write to this gentleman in New
York, who is acknowledged—and I think he probably is—to be one of the
experts in the world, and he very kindly sent me along what he thought were the
ideal bank statements. I certainly am not knowledgeable on them. I am quite
frank here. How many of us are? He is.

Mr. LAMBERT: I notice you have included Mr. Keat’s article in the Bankers’
Monthly. Presumably you have attended an annual meeting of a bank, I take it?

Mr. Howes: Yes.

Mr. LAMBERT: And you have put forward some of these proposals, or asked
Questions with regard to them.

As a shareholder in a bank, if you are asking the management to make their
annual statements more meaningful-—and here I have some sympathy; I think,
generally, in this modern day some of the statements could be amplified and I do
not think the banks would object greatly to that—surely you had some idea of
Wwhat you wanted, without merely cribbing something that someone else has
Wwritten and advancing it as your own proposal.

Mr. Howes: If you borrow money at wholesale and loan it at retail it need
not be all that complicated in the books.

Mr. LAMBERT: But you made the statement initially, if I may paraphrase
Your words, that the banks had—“mistreated” is the wrong word—but had not
Properly treated their shareholders in withholding information from them, and
So forth.

Mr. Howes: Yes, definitely.
Mr. LAMBERT: Essentially those are your words, or the meaning of them.
Mr. Howes: More or less; but they are fine words.

Mr. LAMBERT: That is generally your meaning. Now, surely you must have a
Teason, because you say if you make a study you come to this conclusion. You
have made this study yourself, presumably, and have made the conclusion. Now,
Wwill you enlighten us on what—
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. Mr. Howes: Would you feel that a bank’s shareholders should know, for
example, of a $2 million loss which, although compared to the bank’s capital is
not all that money, is in fact a substantial amount of funds? Should they know of
this loss? Should it not be brought to their attention at their shareholders’
meeting? Suppose you had put up the funds for me to go into business—God
forbid that we should see the day! Years go by and things have gone well. In the
meantime, there has been a very substantial loss one year. Do you not think that
I should tell you about it, as my boss? Would you not think so? Well, this
particular bank had a $2 million loss one year and it was the most stupid thing
you ever heard of.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Which year was that?

Mr. Howes: It was two years ago. They put a $2 million mortgage on a herd
of cows, but they did not ever bother to go and l